





Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Socioeconomic and Sociocultural Factors Associated with Parenting Choice and Fertility Experience Among Lesbian and Nonlesbian Women

Annette Silvia Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Epidemiology Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Annette M. Silvia

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jennifer Oliphant, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Katie Callahan-Myrick, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. James Rohrer, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Socioeconomic and Sociocultural Factors Associated with Parenting Choice and Fertility

Experience Among Lesbian and Nonlesbian Women

by

Annette M. Silvia

MSc, Hibernia College, 2009

BS, Trinity College of Vermont, 1985

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health, Epidemiology

Walden University

June 2020

Abstract

Minorities including lesbians may face disparities that contribute to minority stress, which leads to adverse health outcomes. The purpose of this social epidemiology study was to examine the association between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians. The theoretical foundation was minority stress, and the design was quantitative with a convenience sample of women aged 18 years and older. Data on demographics, perceived stress, fertility quality of life, and lesbian identity disclosure were collected via online survey. Among the 314 respondents, 102 self-selected as lesbian (49% parents), and 212 self-selected as nonlesbian (73.1% parents). More than 50% of participants had experience with some type of assisted reproduction (ART). Using the test for association, regardless of parental status or perceived stress, lesbians were more than twice as likely as nonlesbians (18.5% to 8.3%, respectively) to lack fertility treatment coverage; this difference was statistically significant, p < .05. Most participants (62.5%) fell in the moderate stress category. There were no statistically significant differences between groups in Fertility Quality of Life scores. Lesbians with children had a greater degree of outness (p < .001) compared to lesbians without children. Using logistic regression, insured status (p = .010) and perceived stress (p = .035) were associated with parenting status. Findings from the current study contribute to understanding minority stress of lesbians related to parenting and ART. Shifting social constructs to improve inclusivity may minimize minority stress and support public health. Assuring reproductive access and favorable social conditions may promote positive change for lesbians considering parenthood.

Socioeconomic and Sociocultural Factors Associated with Parenting Choice and Fertility

Experience Among Lesbian and Nonlesbian Women

by

Annette M. Silvia

MSc, Hibernia College, 2009

BS, Trinity College of Vermont, 1985

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health, Epidemiology

Walden University

June 2020

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my three sons, who were unknowingly pioneers.

Acknowledgments

I am immensely grateful to my committee chair Dr. Jennifer Oliphant for her constant encouragement and belief in me. I thank Dr. Kate Callahan-Myrick, my Committee Member, for her upbeat and positive support in times of doubt, and my University Research Reviewer, Dr. James Rohrer. Your guidance and feedback were invaluable, and I honestly could not have persevered without you having my back.

I extend heartfelt thanks to my friends and extended family who have offered patience and understanding along the way and seem to still be interested in my work after all these years! I would like to thank my two older sons for cheering me on, feeling proud, and making my heart smile, always. I am full of gratitude for my wife believing in and supporting me all along the way. You all played a vital part in this long strange trip and made achieving my goal possible.

A whole lot happened along this journey, including significant life transitions, birth, and death. Never give up and always believe.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions7
Theoretical and Conceptual Framework8
Nature of the Study9
Definition of Terms11
Assumptions12
Scope, Limitations, and Delimitations13
Limitations and Delimitations
Significance14
Summary15
Chapter 2: Literature Review17
Introduction17
Literature Search Strategy20
Criteria for Inclusion
Exclusion Criteria
Theoretical Framework

Parenting Decision: Lesbians Considering Parenthood	26
Choosing Parenthood	28
Health Care and Reproduction: Lesbian (Heteronormative and Homonegative)	
Experiences of Access and Barriers	30
Knowledge About Fertility and Infertility	32
Documenting Infertility	33
Legal Matters	35
The Alternative Insemination Experience	37
Fertility Quality of Life	41
Homophobia: Internal and External	41
Support Network	43
A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment	45
Literature Related to the Changing Nature of Family	45
Literature on Internet Surveys of the LGBT Population	46
Summary and Conclusions	47
Chapter 3: Research Method	49
Introduction	49
Research Design and Rationale	49
Research Questions and Hypotheses	50
How the Research Design Supports the Research Questions	51
Methodology	52
Population	52

Sampling and Sampling Procedures	. 53
Sample Size and Power Estimates	. 53
Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	. 55
Instrumentation and Operationalization	. 55
Study Variables	56
Dependent Variables	. 57
Independent Variables	. 57
Covariates	. 59
Data Analysis Plan	. 60
Threats to Validity	61
Ethical Procedures	. 61
Implications for Social Change	62
Summary	63
Chapter 4: Results	64
Introduction	64
Data Collection	64
Handling of Missing Values	. 65
Results	65
Descriptive Summary Statistics of Demographic Characteristics	. 65
Research Question 1: Insured Status, Perceived Stress, and Parenting Choice	. 76
Research Question 2: Fertility Quality of Life	. 79
Research Question 3: Degree of Outness Among Lesbians	. 82

Summary	83
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	85
Introduction	85
Summary of the Findings	85
Insured Status, Perceived Stress, and Parenting Choice	
Fertility Quality of Life	
Degree of Outness Among Lesbians	
Interpretation of the Findings	87
Study Findings and Minority Stress Theory	
Limitations of the Study	91
Recruitment Limitations	
Limitations Related to the Survey Questions	
Limitations Based on Timing and Social Climate	
Recommendations	95
Implications for Positive Social Change	97
Conclusion	99
References	102
Appendix A: Demographics, Insured Status, and Parenting Decision	150
Appendix B: Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-14)	154
Appendix C: Fertility Quality of Life (FertiQoL International) Questionnaire	155
Appendix D: A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment (ALIDA)	158

List of Tables

Table 1 Variables, Scales of Measurement, Variable Type, and Collection Resource 60
Table 2 Summary of Location
Table 3 Summary by Region
Table 4 Summary by Age (Year)
Table 5 Summary of Education Level 68
Table 6 Summary of Employment Status 68
Table 7 Summary of Income Level 69
Table 8 Summary of Demographic Characteristics: Race
Table 9 Summary of Parental Status
Table 10 Summary of ART Experience
Table 11 Summary of Health Insurance Status
Table 12 Summary of Self-Rated Health
Table 13 Summary of Quality of Life
Table 14 Cross-Tabulation for Parental Status, ART Experience, and Most Identify With
Table 15 Cross-Tabulation for Collapsed Insured Status and Most Identify With
Table 16 Cross-Tabulation for Perceived Stress Score and Most Identify With
Table 17 Cross-Tabulation for Parental Status, Most Identify With, Insured Status, and
Perceived Stress
Table 18 Logistic Regression Model: Predictive Relationship Between Insured Status,
Perceived Stress, Most Identify With, and Parental Status

Table 19 Logistic Regression Model: Predictive Relationship Between Insured Status,

Pe	erceived Stress, Most Identify With, Region, Income, and Parental Status	79
Table 20	Independent Samples T Test for Mean FertiQoL Total Score	80
Table 21	Independent Samples T Test for Mean FertiQoL Core Score	81
Table 22	Independent Samples T Test for Mean FertiQoL Treatment Score	81
Table 23	Descriptive Statistics for Mean ALIDA-II Score by Parental Status	82
Table 24	Independent Samples T Test for Mean ALIDA-II Score by Parental Status	83

List of Figures

Figure 1. Income distri	bution by subgroup	
-------------------------	--------------------	--

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Women who identify as lesbian may experience stigma and stress, which can have an adverse impact on health (Alencar Albuquerque et al., 2016; Denton, Rostosky, & Danner, 2014; Eliason, 2014; Meyer, 2015). Before the Defense of Marriage Act was overturned in 2015, women in same-sex relationships often lacked access to equal benefits such as health insurance (Perone, 2015). Lack of insurance coverage is a barrier that can contribute to minority stress and lead to health disparities for the population denied. Such barriers contribute to differences in health care access, including reproductive options, and by extension, to minority stress (Flenar, Tucker, & Williams, 2017; Müller, 2017).

Heteronormative thinking and homonegative behaviors may also contribute to minority stress. For example, health care settings still use intake forms with the traditional language of male/husband/father and female/wife/mother (Blanchfield & Patterson, 2015; Bolderston & Ralph, 2016; Levitt, Puckett, Ippolito, & Horne, 2012; Lindley, Walsemann, & Carter, 2013). In a gynecological setting, questions of sexual activity and contraceptive use are symbolic of unconscious (heteronormative) bias and can be awkward for lesbians (Barefoot, Warren, & Smalley, 2017; Foglia & Fredriksen-Goldsen, 2014). However, practitioners should not assume that a woman is straight, heterosexually married, or has traditional sexual intercourse or that lesbians do not want to have children (Polis & Zabin, 2012). This may cause lesbians who are considering or seeking reproductive assistance to experience added stigma and stress as a minority (Bogart, Revenson, Whitfield, & France, 2014; Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Svanberg, 2014; Borneskog, Skoog Svanberg, Lampic, & Sydsjö, 2012; Dahl, Fylkesnes, Sørlie, & Malterud, 2013; Munson & Cook, 2016; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015).

Public health includes the development of the social machinery that will ensure to every individual in the community a standard of living adequate for the maintenance of health (Schneider & Schneider, 2016). The current research supports this facet of public health: to ensure quality and equal accessibility of reproductive services for lesbians. Social epidemiology is used to explore the connection between social factors and health experiences and outcomes (Honjo, 2004; von dem Knesebeck, 2015), which was used in this study to address the lack of literature on whether factors exist that contribute to or create minority stress and influence the parenting decisions of lesbians. Examining the parenting choice, reproductive intentions, and fertility experiences of lesbians supports positive social change for this population within reproductive health by providing knowledge that is useful for health care policy makers and insurers to decrease heteronormative practices and improve parity. Health educators and providers like obstetricians and practitioners providing assisted reproductive technology (ART) services can benefit from detailed information about the impact of heterosexism and factors that contribute to minority stress for this population. Ultimately, this will lead to changes that improve the patient/ART experience regardless of sexual orientation.

Further, members of the health care system and policy makers can contribute to positive social change by eliminating heteronormative policies and practices. Doing so can reduce minority stress that affects lesbians in health care by improving access to ART options and improving the lesbian reproductive health experience. Long-term benefits

may include the elimination of disparities, evidenced by increased ART success rates for lesbians and increased satisfaction with the reproductive health care experience. This is aligned with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Public Health Action Plan for the Detection, Prevention, and Management of Infertility (CDC, 2014). Changes in policy and practice can support and promote healthy relationships for lesbians and their families. In the interest of public health, reducing the burden and disparities that contribute to minority stress would help ensure equal access and reduced burden and lead to improved reproductive options for lesbians.

This chapter includes background information for context, the problem statement and study purpose, the research questions and hypotheses, the applicable theoretical framework, the nature of the study, definitions used, assumptions, the study's scope, limitations, and anticipated significance.

Background

The lack of literature suggests that lesbians are not routinely studied as a population of women in reproductive health (Eyler, Pang, & Clark, 2014; Marvel et al., 2016; Utamsingh, Richman, Martin, Lattanner, & Chaikind, 2016). Further, discussion of sexual orientation is secondary to traditional care and only followed from self-disclosure rather than being part of the holistic approach to care (Macapagal, Bhatia, & Greene, 2016; Munson & Cook, 2016). But lesbians may face unique needs in reproductive health (Kissin, Boulet, Jamieson, & Assisted Reproductive Technology Surveillance Research Team, 2016; Munson & Cook, 2016). There are factors like insured status, access to a supportive provider, and heteronormative policies and practices that create barriers and contribute to minority stress for lesbians (Dean, Victor, & Guidry-Grimes, 2016; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Quinn et al., 2015). The current study was conducted to quantitatively explore factors that may contribute to minority stress in the context of parenting choice and reproductive intentions of lesbians to better assess the impact of this dynamic. For comparison, I included a cohort of nonlesbian women.

A review of the selected literature supports the use of minority stress as a theoretical framework for this study. The purpose was to assess whether heteronormative or homonegative practices and experiences contribute to minority stress and are associated with parenting decisions or reproductive intentions of lesbians (Balsam, Beadnell, & Molina, 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson, & Halcomb, 2013; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Knight, Shoveller, Oliffe, Gilbert, & Goldenberg, 2013; Marques, Nogueira, & de Oliveira, 2015; Röndahl, Bruhner, & Lindhe, 2009; Utamsingh et al., 2016). The relationship between fertility intentions and behavior has been understudied, particularly for this population (Chetcuti et al., 2013; Schoen, Astone, Kim, Nathanson, & Fields, 1999). There is surveillance for ART (Sunderam et al., 2013) and public health records that track live births. However, there are no data specific to ART utilization or birthing outcomes among lesbians creating a public health void (Tarín, García-Pérez, & Cano, 2015). In the current study, I explored this research gap to identify areas for change that may improve public health policy and practice by ensuring equal access to quality reproductive health services for lesbians.

Reducing minority stress experienced through heteronormative/homonegative attitudes and barriers to ART access for lesbians can improve the reproductive options and treatment experience for this population. There is a lack of assurance for lesbians in ART quality and accessibility as well as a disparity in the social condition for lesbians, making this a matter of public health (Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Marvel et al., 2016; S. K. Mishra, 2014; D. Mishra, Akman, & Mishra, 2014). A positive social change outcome of this study includes data to support reproductive intentions for lesbians considering or choosing parenthood.

Problem Statement

The inability to have children is more than a quality of life (QoL) issue because the experience of infertility can have economic, social, psychological, and physical effects. Infertility may be related to a range of factors that are of interest to public health (Warner et al., 2015). The American Society for Reproductive Medicine and the World Health Organization have defined infertility as a disease of the reproductive system (as cited in CDC, 2014). Data from the National Survey for Family Growth estimated that approximately 6% of reproductive-aged women in the United States were infertile. Another 12% reportedly experienced difficulty conceiving or carrying a pregnancy to term (Chandra, Copen, & Stephen, 2013). Further, fertility medications and interventions in assisted reproduction may lead to increased risks of adverse health outcomes for women and potentially for infants born as a result of ART procedures.

Beyond medical considerations of fertility treatment, the decision to become a mother is a deeply personal one for all women, whether by giving birth, co-parenting, or adoption (Riskind, Patterson, & Nosek, 2013). But the choice to parent, particularly for lesbians, may be affected by social capital and subject to public opinion (Hatzenbuehler, Phelan, & Link, 2013; Kim & Fredriksen-Goldsen, 2016; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015). Lesbians do not always have financial or legal benefits like traditional couples (Butterfield & Padavic, 2014; Hull, 2016; Park, Kazyak, & Slauson-Blevins, 2016; L. Smith, 2013). Insurance coverage, access to providers, and benefits of social support networks may be varied (De Wert et al., 2014; S. Goldberg, 2015; S. K. Mishra, 2014; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015; H. Y. Wu et al., 2016).

Disparities in access to quality care, which may contribute to minority stress and lead to differences in outcomes, are a public health concern (Davies, Rumbold, & Moore, 2017; Marvel et al., 2016; Warner et al., 2015). But the association of minority stress and reproductive intentions of lesbians has been understudied (Blondeel et al., 2016; Carrotte et al., 2016), though lesbians may face socioeconomic and sociocultural disparities such as differences in insurance coverage, health provider access, or social support. In the current study, I examined which factors (i.e., insured status and perception of stress), if any, were associated with the decision to become a parent or with fertility treatment experience (see Warner, Jamieson, & Barfield, 2015).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative social epidemiological study was to determine which, if any, socioeconomic and sociocultural factors are associated with parenting decisions while controlling for sexual orientation. The independent variables included insured status and perceived stress (using the perceived stress scale [PSS]). The dependent variable was parental status. For those who have considered or sought fertility/infertility treatment, I compared ART experience between lesbians and nonlesbians (Carpinello, Jacob, Nulsen, & Benadiva, 2016; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Marvel et al., 2016; Tarín et al., 2015). I also explored the degree of outness among lesbians with and without children. Additional information collected included age, race/ethnicity, education level, employment status, income level, and location (state).

Research Questions

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What is the predictive relationship between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant difference in the predictive relationship.

 H_a 1: There is a statistically significant difference in the predictive relationship.

RQ2: For women who have experienced ART, what is the difference in Fertility Quality of Life total, core, and treatment scores between lesbians and nonlesbians?

 H_0 2: There is not a statistically significant difference in the Fertility Quality of Life total, core, and treatment scores among lesbians and nonlesbians.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant difference in the Fertility Quality of Life total, core, and treatment scores among lesbians and nonlesbians.

RQ3: What is the difference in the degree of outness as measured by the A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment-II between lesbians with and without children?

 H_0 3: There is not a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness as measured by the A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment-II among lesbians with and without children.

 H_a 3: There is not a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness as measured by the A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment-II among lesbians with and without children.

Theoretical and Conceptual Framework

The theoretical framework for this study is minority stress (Meyer, 2015). Lesbians who are considering or seeking reproductive assistance may experience structural (policy-related) or community-level stigma that contributes to minority stress (Puckett, Horne, Herbitter, Maroney, & Levitt, 2017; Schwartz & Baral, 2015). These experiences can create barriers to health-seeking behaviors, which may adversely affect outcomes (Denton et al., 2014). Stressors and discriminatory barriers, whether real or perceived, may impact health and behaviors and outcomes for lesbians (Tracy, Lydecker, & Ireland, 2010; Tracy, Schluterman, & Greenberg, 2013). Researchers have examined minority stress in the context of mental health and substance misuse among lesbians (Flenar et al., 2017; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Lee, Gamarel, Bryant, Zaller, & Operario, 2016; McPhail & Bombak, 2015; Simoni, Smith, Oost, Lehavot, & Fredriksen-Goldsen, 2017). However, in this population, the effects of stigma and stress on reproductive choices and experiences have not been examined. Lesbians should have equal access to treatment options and opportunities for favorable outcomes in becoming parents, making this a matter of public health (Stall et al., 2016; Tornello, Johnson, & O'Connor, 2013).

The decision to become a mother is personal and may go beyond QoL (Bergstrom-Lynch, 2015; Riskind et al., 2013). In general, women with an intention to parent often attempt to do so (Ajzen & Klobas, 2013). For lesbians who experience disparities, there may be factors beyond the desire to be a parent that influence their intentions and actions (or inaction; Bergstrom-Lynch, 2015; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Warner et al., 2015). The stressors in choosing parenthood may be imbalanced for this population and the path to ART may be perceived as insurmountable (Lo, Chan, & Chan, 2016). I aimed to assess whether there is a difference between lesbian and nonlesbian women in this regard.

The minority stress model can be used to understand the impact of stigma and stress experienced by lesbians on their parenting choices and consideration for seeking ART (Collins, 2017; Hodson, Meads, & Bewley, 2017). When a minority experiences external factors that influence personal care decisions, this creates a disparity that others in the general population do not have to consider (Robinson, Galloway, Bewley, & Meads, 2017). Thus, minority stress is applicable as the framework to address the research questions and hypotheses for this study.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was nonexperimental and quantitative. Convenience sampling was used along with an online survey for data collection. The design provided quantitative data to describe the population and parameters assessed. Qualitative studies have used interviews with lesbian couples about their experiences in becoming parents (Chapman, Wardrop, Zappia, Watkins, & Shields, 2012; Luther, 2016; Wall, 2011; Wyverkens et al., 2014). But these studies had small sample sizes, so the ability to generalize findings is limited (Rostosky, Riggle, Rothblum, & Balsam, 2016). In contrast, the current study design encompassed a broad sample of women, including lesbians and nonlesbians. Data analysis was used to explore associations among the variables while controlling for sexual orientation.

The selected independent variables are among those commonly used when examining health disparities (Shavers, 2007). The independent variables included insured status and perceived stress. The hypothesis was that the independent variables would help explain or predict the dependent variable (outcome). The dependent variable is similar to one used when reporting about heterosexual women who seek ART (Kotelchuck et al., 2014; Lundsberg et al., 2014). The dependent variable of interest in the study was parenting choice (parental status). The Fertility Quality of Life (FertiQoL) scale, which includes total, core, and treatment subscales, was administered to participants who had experience with seeking or undergoing fertility treatment (Boivin, Takefman, & Braverman, 2011). Using the improved A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment (ALIDA-II; van Dam, 2008, 2015), I explored the degree of outness as an indicator of minority stress among lesbians with and without children. I also collected additional demographic, socioeconomic, and sociocultural information.

I collected primary data using an online survey with convenience sampling; I anticipated that snowball recruitment would occur. The study was delivered using a reputable web-based survey administrator (SurveyMonkey). Responses were collected anonymously and stored until I extracted them for analysis. The data set was analyzed using the version of IBM Statistical Package or the Social Sciences (SPSS) software available at the time (Version 25) through Walden University. The PSS, FertiQoL, and the ALIDA-II were scored based on their respective published instructions.

Definition of Terms

A Lesbian Identification Disclosure Assessment (ALIDA): The ALIDA uses a Likert scale with seven questions to measure the degree of outness or disclosure, social support, and depression (van Dam, 2008, 2015). The version used in the study with permission from the author was the ALIDA-II, which includes questions for parents.

Assisted reproductive technology (ART): For this work, the term ART is used as a generalized term when referring to assistance with fertility, infertility, or assisted reproduction.

Fertility Quality of Life (FertiQoL) scale: The FertiQoL is a validated tool to reliably measure the impact of fertility and ART on QoL (Boivin et al., 2011). The core module includes Emotional, Mind/Body, Relational, and Social subscales. Environment and Tolerability are treatment module subscales.

LGBT: This abbreviation refers to someone who is part of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender community.

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS): The PSS is a widely used measure to examine nonspecific self-reported stress (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983). The 14-item PSS is considered psychometrically valid. The PSS has been used to explore the etiology of disease as an outcome measure of experienced levels of stress.

Self-rated health (SRH): Self-rating of health is a measure frequently used in epidemiological research (Eriksson, Undén, & Elofsson, 2001). Two questions from the

FertiQoL were not part of the total score: an overall evaluation of physical health and one related to QoL.

Sociocultural status: In the current study, sociocultural status included age, race/ethnicity, SRH, QoL, and PSS level.

Socioeconomic status: For this study, socioeconomic status included self-reporting of insured status, education level, employment status, and income level.

Assumptions

The study was designed based on certain assumptions, for example, that all lesbians and women in general have given thought to parenthood. Whether the women were aware, certain factors play a role in this decision. Not being a parent may be a deliberate choice or, by default, a lack of effort to pursue parenthood. I explored the association between select factors and the parenting decision or reproductive intentions of lesbians compared with nonlesbians. It is essential to understand these factors to enable changes in policies and practices that can improve public health for this population. Structural stigma is a factor in minority stress (Puckett et al., 2017), which could be eliminated through implementing nondiscrimination policies.

There was also an assumption in the current study that access to ART was restrictive for reasons not described elsewhere and that this contributes to a health disparity for lesbians who may consider parenting. Health disparities and equal access are a matter of public health, regardless of the population size that may be affected. With this study, I sought to explore if a disparity exists for lesbians and to identify possible contributing factors to enable changes in policy (access) and practice (experience).

Scope, Limitations, and Delimitations

In this study, I assessed whether insurance status, perceived stress, and selfidentification were associated with parental status. I explored ART experience among lesbians and nonlesbians, and I also examined the degree of outness among lesbians with and without children. The FertiQoL Treatment subscale was considered reflective of ART-related stress among those with reproductive/ART experience. This approach was selected because minority stress theory assumes that a problem or disparities presently exist for lesbians considering parenthood or those seeking assisted reproduction.

The limitation of eligible participants (lesbians) and chosen variables may have been biased and threatened internal validity. Broadening the variables may be a potential topic for subsequent research. Threats to external validity may include tools utilized for data collection, selected based on availability, and recruitment method, which could affect the generalizability of findings.

Limitations and Delimitations

One potential limitation of the study was the ability to recruit an adequate sample size within a reasonable period. In this instance, recruitment was not a factor. Others have described inherent limitations to internal or external validity as they relate to the survey method, population under study, and accuracy of retrospective self-reporting (Carrotte et al., 2016; Herman, 2014; McAuliffe, DiFranceisco, & Reed, 2007). Based on this experience, I realized that survey questions needed to be as deliberate as possible.

An additional potential limitation was if only a small, localized sample responded, which would limit the generalizability of the findings (Crouch et al., 2014; Moorhead et

al., 2013). The goal was to promote and actively seek generalized distribution of the invitation to lesbians and nonlesbians. Broad sampling would enable evaluation of the most diverse set of factors that may be influential to the research questions. However, the generalizability may be limited based on the sample, which was not as broad as intended.

Another limitation resulted from a delimitation of the study—utilizing only two categories for respondents: lesbian and nonlesbian. Feedback indicated that this was a challenge for some participants. There was also bias potential in recruiting women who self-select as lesbian and a risk of not engaging those who dislike a particular label or prefer an alternative term (Herman, 2014).

Significance

This study is among the first to quantitatively assess whether factors of insured status and perceived stress differ among lesbians compared with nonlesbian women. The study findings advance knowledge on factors that play a role in the decision-making and intentions of lesbians when considering parenting or assisted reproduction. Qualitative studies exist for this population, as do data on ART and traditional birth statistics, regardless of sexual orientation. Still, a gap remains when it comes to studying lesbians with and without children.

One potential marker of public health change could be the expansion of existing data collection resources to be inclusive of lesbians (Wolff, Wells, Ventura-DiPersia, Renson, & Grov, 2017). Learnings from this study may inform which types of changes are needed in nondiscrimination policies and practices to enhance inclusivity, reduce minority stress, and eliminate the disparity. Doing so can improve human and social

conditions for lesbians considering parenting. Changes from the public health perspective would be evidence of positive social change by reducing or eliminating barriers that lesbians face in seeking ART to create their families. Changes that assure quality and accessibility of health services, including ART, for an underserved population make this a matter of public health.

Summary

Disparities that contribute to minority stress may adversely affect outcomes, making this a matter of public health, but there is a shortage of literature on this topic. In the current study, I explored the predictive relationship between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status, controlling for self-identification. I compared the difference in ART experience among lesbians and nonlesbians using FertiQoL. I also examined the difference in the degree of outness among lesbians with and without children using the ALIDA-II.

In this chapter, I introduced the study with some background, described the problem statement and study purpose, and provided the research questions and hypotheses, the theoretical framework, the nature of the study, definitions used, assumptions, the study's scope, limitations, and significance of the study. In Chapter 2, I provide a review of the literature to support the study. Topics focus on aspects that may contribute to minority stress and disparities for lesbians, including access (and barriers) to health care (and ART), general knowledge about fertility, the process for documenting infertility, legal matters and considerations that are unique to same-sex families, studies on the alternative insemination experience, evidence around internal and external

homophobia, the importance of a support network for lesbians and their families, and literature related to the changing nature of family. The review of the literature provided a framework for identifying factors that contribute to minority stress along with a glimpse into the lesbian experiences that create disparate impacts when it comes to considering or experiencing ART. The lack of literature similar to the current examination was evident.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

There is an assumption that women who want children can have them and that those who do not have children do so by choice (Polis & Zabin, 2012). However, the ability to have children represents more than a QoL issue (Davies et al., 2017; Marvel et al., 2016; Warner et al., 2015). Individuals and couples who face fertility challenges may experience adverse social, economic, psychological, and physical effects (Warner et al., 2015). The National Survey of Family Growth reported that 12% of reproductive-aged women had experienced difficulty conceiving or carrying a pregnancy to term during their lifetime (Chandra et al., 2013; Warner et al., 2015). Further, nonstandard family units, including single women, unmarried heterosexual couples, and lesbian and gay couples, have benefited from fertility programs (Alencar Albuquerque et al., 2016; De Wert et al., 2014; Petersen, 2002). But there may be disparities in insurance coverage, access to services, and treatment options for same-sex partners, making this a matter of public health (Park et al., 2016).

Within U.S. society, there has been a shift in the ethical debate about the definition of family. Results from the National Survey of Family Growth (2002 and 2006–2010) estimated that 1.3% of nearly 16,000 women aged 20–44 years were lesbian. Of these, roughly 23% were parents versus 68% of heterosexual women and 56% of bisexual women (Brewster, Tillman, & Jokinen-Gordon, 2014). Research has repeatedly shown that children raised in alternative families fare as well as those from traditional families (Bos, van Gelderen, & Gartrell, 2015; Fedewa, Black, & Ahn, 2015; Richards,

Rothblum, Beauchaine, & Balsam, 2016). However, this population continues to face additional burdens when seeking health care (De Wert et al., 2014; S. K. Mishra, 2014; Pennings, 2015), and lesbians potentially face a lack of equal opportunity for childbearing (Tasker & Patterson, 2007). The additional emotional and mental health consequences lesbians experience make this a matter of public health (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Pratesi, 2012; Thomas, Quinn, Butler, Fryer, & Garza, 2011).

As a minority, women who identify as lesbians experience stigma and stress, which has an inverse association with aspects of health (Robinson et al., 2017; Simoni et al., 2017). Looking across health indicators by sexual orientation, lesbians have reported increased health risks (Baams, Grossman, & Russell, 2015; Estrich, Gratzer, & Hotton, 2014; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Emlet et al., 2013; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim, Barkan, Muraco, & Hoy-Ellis, 2013; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Lindley et al., 2013; Shindel et al., 2012). Behaviors like smoking, excessive drinking, and being overweight/obesity appeared to contribute to poorer health among lesbians (Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013; Simoni et al., 2017). Research has also shown that lesbians have a higher risk of cardiovascular disease and disability and higher rates of poor mental health (Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim, Barkan, Balsam, & Mincer, 2010). However, the assumption that lesbian health is women's health does not consider the unique health risks and health care needs of lesbians (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2015; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson, & Halcomb, 2013). Thus, an intersectional approach can be used to understand multidimensional populations that have a mix of

social identities, which may include gender, race/ethnicity, and sexual orientation (Colpitts & Gahagan, 2016; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Logie & Rwigema, 2014).

An intersectional approach to research is needed to characterize the impact of minority stress experienced by lesbians and members of the gay community (Max, Stark, Sung, & Offen, 2016), especially regarding parenting and fertility. Choosing to become a mother through birthing, surrogacy, co-parenting, or adoption is deeply personal for all women (Riskind et al., 2013). The decision to attempt in vitro fertilization (IVF) or utilize ART does not guarantee pregnancy, and not all pregnancies result in live births (Dar et al., 2015; Dembinska, 2012; Eyler et al., 2014). The process can be lengthy, expensive, and stressful on the individual as well as the couple's relationship, regardless of sexuality (Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Svanberg, 2014; Borneskog et al., 2012). Though lesbian mothers may share some of the norms of daily life with other moms, they are marginalized due to their nonheterosexual identity (Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013). Lesbians who are considering or seeking reproductive assistance may be at increased risk for experiences of stigma and stress (Schwartz & Baral, 2015).

More research is needed to familiarize health care professionals with the unique concerns and challenges of lesbian family planning (Lo et al., 2016). The choice to become a parent may be affected by social capital and subject to public opinion, particularly for lesbians (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015). One of the most critical questions for this and future studies is to identify which factors shape the parenting decision-making of lesbians (Mezey, 2013). This study was intended to explore how minority stressors and discriminatory barriers, whether real or perceived,

were associated with the health and behavior of lesbians compared with nonlesbians in the context of considering parenting and among those with experience seeking assisted reproduction (see Fredriksen-Goldsen et al., 2010). There is no literature on the consequences of minority stress and added burdens for this sexual minority (Schwartz & Baral, 2015). This research is necessary to improve public health (equal access to reproductive choices) and reduce minority stress (Averitt Taylor, 2014).

This chapter provides a comprehensive review of current literature related to lesbian health disparities and the health care experience as well as aspects women may consider in making decisions about parenthood. This assimilated review provides a basis for the study. Publications supporting the use of minority stress as a theoretical framework to assess whether sociocultural status, socioeconomic status, heteronormative or homonegative experiences are contributing factors were included (Balsam et al., 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013; Head & Noar, 2014; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Knight et al., 2013; Marques et al., 2015; Röndahl et al., 2009; Utamsingh et al., 2016). Also included was literature that supports the successful use of Internet-based surveys in this population.

Literature Search Strategy

I selected peer-reviewed journal articles for creating this literature review and included alternative publications from agencies considered to be field experts (e.g., CDC). Search sources included Google Scholar, PubMed, LGBT Life, MaryAnn Liebert Publishers, CINAHL, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, MEDLINE, SocINDEX, and the CDC. Utilizing these sources, I was able to identify and access documents via the Walden University Library, academic, government, or other institutional websites.

I utilized keyword searches to identify articles relevant to the current study. These included but were not limited to *epidemiology, heteronormative/homonegative, lesbian, health, healthcare access, provider attitudes, quantitative, survey, repro*/reproduction, fertility, infertility, same-sex/sexual orientation/ID, lesbian parent/mother, non-biological parent, insurance/insured status, cost of fertility,* and *ethics.* My search also included keyword phrase combinations. As an example, a PubMed term searching yielded the following (number of relevant articles):

- CDC_fertility (two)
- Epi_Lesbi_Health_Repro (87)
- Heteronormative_Homonegative (22)
- Lesbian_Health_Disparit* (10)
- Lesbian_Quant_Parent (six)
- Lesbian_Relationship (three)
- Lesbian_Repro* (87)
- Lesbian_Survey_*fertil* (eight)
- Reproduct*_Lesbian_Attitudes (25)
- Sex ID_Survey (two)
- Stress_Lesbian_Health (four)

Criteria for Inclusion

A source or literature article was included based on consideration of the following:

- The source was contemporaneous and published within the time frame of 2013 to present. Older publications were incorporated based on the lack of more current articles confirmed by adjusting the search date window (expanded and narrowed, e.g., 2014, 2012, 2010, unlimited).
- 2. The literature source was peer reviewed or published by a reliable agency with expertise in the topic area.
- 3. The literature source was considered relevant to the research topic, population of interest, research method, or research questions.
- 4. The literature source was in English.

Exclusion Criteria

The following exclusion criteria helped to ensure the literature review was

accurate and reflective of the topic:

- 1. The source failed to meet any of the inclusion criteria.
- 2. The literature source was redundant with other references included in the review.
- 3. The publication failed to represent or align with the planned research parameters.
- 4. In general, the literature source lacked quality.
Theoretical Framework

One reason to utilize theory in research is so evidence-based learning can be used in a systematic approach to decision-making and to improve policy (French et al., 2012; Montano & Kasprzyk, 2015). This rationale supports fertility-related research in general and when considering those who are part of a sexual minority such as members of the LGBT community (N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Lo et al., 2016). Despite the use of theories, there is still a gap in translation of evidence from clinical research into routine practice by health care professionals (French et al., 2012; Head & Noar, 2014). Previous studies have described the conversion of fertility intention to behavior but not for the lesbian population (Bachrach & Morgan, 2013; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Lo et al., 2016).

For this study, the theory that contributed to the conceptual framework was minority stress (Montano & Kasprzyk, 2015). Minority stress has been well studied among sexual minorities, including lesbians. Minority stress has been used to study health-related behaviors such as cervical cancer screening, tobacco use, alcohol or drug addiction/education, condom use, and intention to exercise (Baams et al., 2015; Head & Noar, 2014; Tracy et al., 2013). Researchers have also applied minority stress in examining practitioner attitudes and behaviors, which may be a factor in the lesbian health care experience (Lo et al., 2016; Simoni et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2011). However, minority stress has not been evaluated among lesbians deciding to become parents or to seek assisted reproduction (Homma, Saewyc, & Zumbo, 2016; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Lee et al., 2016). There is no evidence of quantitative research to examine fertility intentions or actions/outcomes focused on lesbians (Ajzen & Klobas, 2013; Head & Noar, 2014; Mencarini et al., 2015). In the present study, I explored sociocultural and socioeconomic factors like perceived stress and insured status as indicators of minority stress for the predictive relationship with parenting status among lesbian and nonlesbian women.

Minority stress theory suggests that population subsets, such as lesbians, may have a disproportionate risk for mental and physical health conditions due to their minority status (Baams et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Lick, Durso, & Johnson, 2013; Meyer, 2015). For example, literature has described lesbians as having an increased risk for certain conditions (Lindley et al., 2013; Malterud et al., 2009; Rostosky et al., 2016; Schwartz & Baral, 2015). Additionally, lesbians may lack access to insurance/health care coverage as a result of discrimination policies (Balsam et al., 2013; Rostosky et al., 2016). Heteronormative and homonegative behavior within the health care setting are also part of the structural stigma that contributes to minority stress (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013; Knight et al., 2013; Law, Mathai, Veinot, Webster, & Mylopoulos, 2015; Marques et al., 2015; Röndahl et al., 2009; Tarasoff, Epstein, Green, Anderson, & Ross, 2014; Utamsingh et al., 2016). Lesbians are likely to experience minority stress when seeking ART (Balsam et al., 2013; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; S. K. Mishra, 2014). Experiences can affect selfefficacy, perceived susceptibility to bias, discrimination, judgment, and possible differences in quality of care or availability of treatment options (Eyler et al., 2014; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Lo et al., 2016; Logie & Rwigema, 2014; Ross et al., 2014).

The PSS was introduced by Cohen et al. in 1983 as a psychometrically valid instrument to measure perceived stress. Before the PSS, there was a lack of objective and subjective measures to meaningfully gather information about the relationship between stress and disease pathology. The perception of stress may increase disease risk and influence physical disease pathogenesis by contributing to feelings of anxiety and depression (Cohen & Janicki-Deverts, 2012). Stress impacts QoL, health intentions, and behaviors, which supports the use of the PSS as a measure in the current study. Three versions of the PSS are in use (PSS-4, PSS-10, and PSS-14) and have been translated and validated across a range of population subsets (Cohen, Janicki-Deverts, & Miller, 2007; Cohen & Janicki-Deverts, 2012; Cohen et al., 1983). Though the initial study used phone interviews (Cohen et al., 1988), most of the subsequent works have utilized an Internet survey (Nielsen et al., 2016). The PSS-14 was used (with permission) to assess perceived stress among lesbians and nonlesbians.

Environmental stigma and discriminatory policies and practices have a direct effect on the psychological response to stress (Baams et al., 2015; Puckett et al., 2017). Experiences like these lead to excessive health risks, which are a matter of public health (Bogart et al., 2014; Quinn et al., 2015; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015). In challenging previous cultural norms within the health care experience, particularly in the realm of assisted reproduction, lesbians are contributing to breaking boundaries with new approaches to medical practice emerging (Corbett, Frecker, Shapiro, & Yudin, 2013; Eyler et al., 2014). Additional research, like the information learned from this study, will provide the evidence needed for bringing about positive social change for lesbians considering parenthood and seeking assisted reproduction.

Parenting Decision: Lesbians Considering Parenthood

Identity theory and symbolic interaction can shape the meaning of parenthood for individuals, couples, and society (Gates, 2015). Choosing childlessness has slowly grown to be acceptable (Gobbi, 2013; Polis & Zabin, 2012). The heteronormative assumption has been that anyone who wants a child should and can have one, and those who do not have a child should want to (Daniluk & Koert, 2013; Daniluk, Koert, & Cheung, 2012; Lo et al., 2016). But this attitude diminishes the experience of fertility and reproductive options like IVF or ART (Eggert, Engeli, Patternote, & Tremblay, 2015; Polis & Zabin, 2012).

Reproductive health practitioners may overlook the unique needs of lesbians as a sexual minority (Blanchfield & Patterson, 2015; S. M. Johnson, 2012; Schwartz & Baral, 2015). Lesbians may experience stigma and stress, which can adversely impact health and marginalize lesbians and their families (Power et al., 2010; Shields et al., 2012). The desire to parent drives women, including lesbians, to seek reproductive assistance. However, more research is needed to assess the unique reproductive needs of lesbians (Baiocco & Laghi, 2013; Blondeel et al., 2016; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; Munson & Cook, 2016).

A variety of factors are associated with the decision of any woman, including those at the margin, to have children or remain child-free (Henehan, Rothblum, Solomon, & Balsam, 2007; Polis & Zabin, 2012; Schwartz & Baral, 2015; Wall, 2013). For lesbians, personal issues may include internalized heterosexism or homophobia and feelings about the need to come out or self-identify as a lesbian in the process (Chapman et al., 2012; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015). Also, there are potential risks (personal, professional, societal) to be considered (Puckett et al., 2017). Access to a network of support, intimate relationship status, and work-related issues may factor in along with race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and gender/sexual orientation (Costa & Bidell, 2016; Grafsky & Steelman, 2015).

According to a publication by Perrin, Siegel, and the Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child Family Health of the American Academy of Pediatrics (2013), existing lesbian mothers reported concerns about whether the community would acknowledge their relationship. Others found that this experience may vary depending on where the same-sex parented family lives (Biblarz & Savci, 2010; Gates, 2015; Grafsky & Steelman, 2015). The concern about being received as a family within a community may influence the choices and experiences of women seeking reproductive assistance (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013; Yager, Brennan, Steele, Epstein, & Ross, 2010).

Lesbians were unrecognized as legally married before 2015. They lacked on par legal recognition, which may have prevented same-sex partners from accessing benefits like health insurance and fertility coverage (Buchmueller & Carpenter, 2010; Buffie, 2011; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Gutiérrez & Suárez Becerra, 2012; Rostosky et al., 2016). The cost of medically assisted reproduction is high and can be a source of stress (Kissin et al., 2016; A. K. Wu, Odisho, Washington, Katz, & Smith, 2014; Wykes, 2012; Yager et al., 2010). The disparity in access to insurance or fertility coverage unique to lesbians compared with nonlesbian counterparts may compound the experience of minority stress (Blanchfield & Patterson, 2015; Kissin et al., 2016; Macapagal et al., 2016; Murphy, 2015; Schwartz & Baral, 2015; Sunderam et al., 2015).

In addition to the potential financial burden, the experience of the clinic environment and interactions with staff may have an adverse association with the stress or comfort level of lesbians in this process (Carrotte et al., 2016; Colpitts & Gahagan, 2016; Corbett et al., 2013; Dean et al., 2016; Fish & Williamson, 2016; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013; Heyes, Dean, & Goldberg, 2016; Heyes & Thachuk, 2015; Knight et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2016; Macapagal et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2015; McManus, Hunter, & Renn, 2006; Quinn et al., 2015; Röndahl et al., 2009; Ross et al., 2014; Utamsingh et al., 2016). It is still common practice to assume heterosexuality, as is evident on intake forms. Also, asking lesbian couples "who is the mother?" adds evidence that societal norms have not yet shifted (Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson, & Halcomb, 2013). There are research gaps in exploring the association between health/reproductive care and the LGBT family experience within society (Chapman et al., 2012).

Choosing Parenthood

There is a range of considerations for lesbians considering parenthood (Hull, 2016; Polis & Zabin, 2012; Ravelingien et al., 2015; Rostosky et al., 2016; Wojnar, 2007; A. Wu, Elliott, Katz, & Smith, 2013; A. K. Wu et al., 2014; Yager et al., 2010). Aside from who will carry and how they will become parents, lesbians likely think about the

support system available throughout the process (Reed, Miller, Valenti, & Timm, 2011; Vanfraussen, Ponjaert-Kristoffersen, & Brewaeys, 2003; Wall, 2013). While many questions are familiar to all potential parents, some are faced uniquely by lesbians as a sexual minority. Considerations include and are not limited to the following: Is the couple legally married, or able to be? Do they have adequate health insurance? Is fertility coverage a benefit under the plan, and if so, what are the coverage limits (Hamilton & McManus, 2012)? Does the policy provide coverage for same-sex partners? Does it cover fertility for same-sex couples? Is there a nearby fertility clinic or supportive practice? Should they consider cross-border reproductive care (Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 2013b)? What is the impact on work time? Is there parental leave for one or both parents? How will QoL be affected through the process? Is the community where they live likely to be supportive? Will there be other parents and children for their family to relate to? Will the schools support the family as a whole and the child as an individual (A. Goldberg, Moyer, Black, & Henry, 2015; Perrin et al., 2013; Rostosky et al., 2016; Vanfraussen et al., 2003; Vonk, 2004; Wall, 2011)?

Among considerations in the decision-making process for lesbian couples is who will conceive and bear the child/children (Bos, 2013; Costa & Bidell, 2016; Somers et al., 2017). Theoretically, each partner could give birth, and in a relatively small percentage of couples, this has been the case, often with the older woman giving birth first (Baetens, Camus, & Devroey, 2003; Somers et al., 2017). A desire to experience pregnancy and childbirth and to have a genetic connection have been reported as reasons why lesbians pursue ART over adoption (A. Goldberg & Allen, 2012; A. Goldberg & Scheib, 2015;

Peel, 2010; Pennings, 2015; Somers et al., 2017). Age and employment status reportedly factor into deciding who will attempt pregnancy (Bos, van Balen, van den Boom, & Sandfort, 2004). Lesbians have unique considerations that their heterosexual counterparts likely do not face.

Bos (2013) compared lesbian mothers who did get pregnant with those who did not. The former group spent more time thinking about why they wanted to become mothers, expressed the feeling that they needed to "give up almost everything" to get pregnant, and more frequently equated parenthood with life fulfillment. This evidence suggests that the hurdles are high and only those most determined will succeed, which contradicts the idea of equal access within the framework of public health (Campbell, 2013; Germanos, Deacon, & Mooney-Somers, 2015; Kissin et al., 2016; Massetti, Ragan, Thomas, & Ryerson, 2015).

Health Care and Reproduction: Lesbian (Heteronormative and Homonegative) Experiences of Access and Barriers

Farrow (2015) defined heteronormativity as "the mundane production of heterosexuality as the normal, natural, taken for granted sexuality" (p. 26), further describing how this leads to exclusion and marginalization of those who are nonheterosexual. Heteronormativity plays out in every aspect of society, including the health care experience. Health risks and health outcomes are known to be affected by sexual minority health experience, including access to health care (N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016). Members of the LGBT community lack access to health care and disclosure of sexual orientation can adversely impact the health care experience (Carrotte et al., 2016; Eliason, 2014; Farrow, 2015; Germanos et al., 2015; Homma et al., 2016; Law et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Macapagal et al., 2016; Quinn et al., 2015; van Dam, 2014). Reasons for lack of access may include poverty, gender-specific care, insurance ineligibility (marriage inequality), or fear of disclosure, all potentially leading to derogatory experiences or refusal of care by providers. Researchers have studied the experience of stigma as a barrier at an individual level, but a gap remains in assessing the association of societal conditions (policies and practices) on health outcomes for stigmatized groups (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Massetti et al., 2015).

A publication from the Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (2013b) noted that there is no evidence to support restricted access to ART and that all programs should treat requests equally regardless of marital status or sexual orientation. Objection to homosexuality or single parenthood on moral grounds is not an acceptable reason for limiting access to reproduction (Alencar Albuquerque et al., 2016; Baiocco & Laghi, 2013; Cannold & Gillam, 2002; De Wert et al., 2014; Mathieu, 2013). There is no confirmation of these equal access theories. In fact, Durso and Meyer (2013) examined the predictors and patterns of sexual orientation disclosure to health care providers among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults and found that bisexual men and women had higher rates of nondisclosure than lesbians or gay men (Durso & Meyer, 2013). The present study gathered some data on if and how equal access is a challenge based on the lesbian experience.

Knowledge About Fertility and Infertility

Most adults have a basic understanding of human reproduction (Daniluk & Koert, 2013; Daniluk et al., 2012; Kerr, Ding, & Thompson, 2013; Lundsberg et al., 2014; H. Y. Wu et al., 2016). Yet, a 2013 cross-sectional study of 1,000 women aged 18–40 years found that one-third were unaware that sexually transmitted infections, obesity, and irregular menses could impact fertility, and around 40% were unclear about the ovulatory cycle (Lundsberg et al., 2014). In publications by Daniluk et al. (2012) and Daniluk and Koert (2013), the authors reported that a fertility and ART knowledge gap exists among adult men and women who were childless. Awareness of the fertility life-span and the costs and limitations of ART treatment is essential to making informed childbearing decisions (Daniluk & Koert, 2013; Daniluk et al., 2012; S. K. Mishra, 2014; A. Wu et al., 2013). According to Daniluk and Koert (2013), the potential psychosocial and health consequences of delaying childbearing present an urgent need for targeted public education to enhance fertility and ART awareness (Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 2013b; Wall, 2013).

S. Nordqvist et al. (2014) reported that sexual orientation did not seem to affect fertility treatment outcomes using donor sperm. The researchers noted, however, that lesbians had increased health risks, including smoking and obesity, likely to impact fertility success (Blondeel et al., 2016; Bränström, Hatzenbuehler, Pachankis, & Link, 2016; Estrich et al., 2014; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013; N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016; McPhail & Bombak, 2015). Both lesbians and heterosexual women may experience these health risks, but an examination of the association with parenting decision and reproductive choices is lacking.

Reproductive centers and individual practitioners may still deny treatment to lesbians (Dean et al., 2016; Dembinska, 2012; Eyler et al., 2014; K. M. Johnson, 2012; Záchia et al., 2011). Whether this reflects a gap in the medical school curriculum or is a matter of inadequate practitioner training does not matter since the potential for adverse impact is the same (De Wert et al., 2014; Marques et al., 2015; Nordstrand, Nordstrand, Nortvedt, & Magelssen, 2014; Parameshwaran, Cockbain, Hillyard, & Price, 2016; Stott, 2013). Factors like this have led to same-sex couples seeking reproductive assistance abroad, adding to the disparity and burden (Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 2013b; Inhorn & Patrizio, 2015). Denial of equal opportunity creates a double standard, which is unacceptable under the tenets of public health (Bradt, Vandenbroeck, Lammertyn, & Bouverne-De Bie, 2015; Bränström et al., 2016; Campbell, 2013; Germanos et al., 2015; Kissin et al., 2016; Massetti et al., 2015; McPhail & Bombak, 2015; Sunderam et al., 2015).

Documenting Infertility

Heterosexual couples may seek IVF or ART after failed attempts at natural conception. The threshold is 6–12 months of unsuccessful attempts (Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 2013). Only then can a fertility workup be initiated to determine if there is a biological explanation (male or female; Seifer, Sharara, & Jain, 2013; Sejbaek, Hageman, Pinborg, Hougaard, & Schmidt, 2013; Stevenson & Sloane, 2017). For lesbians, this documentation requirement is not

applicable and represents an undue burden from the start, delaying more aggressive options. Age and reproductive health history are also factors to be considered (Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Svanberg, 2014; Borneskog et al., 2012; Charlton et al., 2011; Peel, 2010; Pivetti & Melotti, 2013; H. A. Smith et al., 2011; Sunderam et al., 2015; Tarín et al., 2015). Fertility treatment is expensive and invasive and can continue for many months or years, and the levels of associated stress can have an impact on outcomes (Stevenson & Sloane, 2017). Forcing a universal qualification and conservative stepwise approach for all women creates an undue burden on nonheterosexual women.

A meta-analysis by Robinson et al. (2017) found no statistically significant difference among lesbian, bisexual, or heterosexual women in conditions that could affect fertility (polycystic ovarian syndrome, endometriosis, and fibroids). The authors acknowledged that little is known about the reproductive health of lesbians and suggested that monitoring sexual orientation in research (with validated methods) could provide more evidence (see also H. A. Smith et al., 2011). The lack of research in the area of lesbian couples utilizing ART means that overall numbers and reproductive decisions are unknown (Carpinello et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2017). This study contributes to closing the research gap by providing quantifiable evidence that encourages structural changes in policy and practice to allow for future inclusion of lesbians in such data sets.

Some reproductive centers do not treat unmarried or same-sex couples (Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 2013a). If insured, qualification for benefits may require demonstration of infertility, even though lesbians do not fit the traditional model for pregnancy attempts (Buchmueller & Carpenter, 2010). The lack of updated policies and practice creates additional procedures and burdens for lesbians with increased out-of-pocket expenses and time (A. Wu et al., 2013; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). According to Carpinello et al. (2016), we need further studies to understand why, in their investigation, one-fifth of patients decided not to seek treatment. One of the research questions explored the association between factors measured and the decision not to pursue reproductive assistance.

Legal Matters

Marvel et al. (2016) described how the steps of ART are cumbersome and expensive. Lesbians are particularly vulnerable to legislative gaps and judicial decisions that do not account for their particular needs. Though same-sex marriage has gained equality in the United States and globally, this does not ensure equal parental rights to same-sex couples, particularly when crossing state or national boundaries (A. Goldberg & Allen, 2012). Despite a feeling of achieving a heartfelt goal in becoming pregnant, lesbian families are now faced with matters of legal uncertainty to guard against (Hull, 2016). Our systems are still obviously entrenched in traditional gendered mother and father terms, as evidenced by numerous intake forms (Brown, 2014). A shift to parent and parent would be simple, be more inclusive, and legitimize the mutual relationship of the non–birth mother (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013). Facing these obstacles, barriers, and challenges creates an undue burden on lesbians and other same-sex couples and their families (O'Neill, Hamer, & Dixon, 2012). A system that perpetuates this sort of disparity is contrary to public health. Minority stress experiences of lesbians extend beyond fertility treatment and becoming a parent (Marques et al., 2015). Farrow (2015) described how heteronormativity leads to social exclusion and marginalizes nonheterosexuals. Röndahl et al. (2009) also noted that heteronormative behavior persists in the realm of postnatal care. There is a need for updating the health care culture to better care for all lesbian patients (Farrow, 2015; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013; Marques et al., 2015; Utamsingh et al., 2016). Prenatal, postnatal, and parental provisions overall should be updated to reflect present-day families (Bogenschneider, 2014; A. Goldberg & Allen, 2012; A. Goldberg & Smith, 2014; Röndahl et al., 2009; Wells & Lang, 2016). Evidence from this study would support this necessary change.

Legal uncertainty can create imbalance and inequality in same-sex parent couples (Butterfield & Padavic, 2014; Patterson, 2017). Unfortunately, this becomes even more significant when a couple decides to dissolve their relationship (A. Goldberg et al., 2015). For many years, lesbians lacked legal recognition of their partnership, let alone their parental relationship (Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013). Despite the progress made to date recognizing same-sex marriage, there may not be the same assurance of recognition for a nonbiologic parental relationship (Crouch, McNair, Waters, & Power, 2013; Hull, 2016). Protection of the parent–child relationship is vital for same-sex families and should not vary or be at risk depending on where they live, move to, or travel (De Wert et al., 2014; S. Goldberg, 2015). Park et al. (2016) examined the impact of the law on the choice of method to become parents, the decision on where to live, and the experience of family recognition among gay, lesbian, and bisexual parents in California and Nebraska. They found that laws as well as the perception of legal barriers influenced parenting choices among those interviewed. Civil unions, marriage, and political and social policies impact same-sex relationships and influence couples' parenting and reproductive decisions (Buffie, 2011; S. Goldberg, 2015; Hull, 2016; Johnsen, 2015; Marina et al., 2010; Park et al., 2016; Patterson, 2017).

Exploring the relationship between sexual orientation and ART experiences among lesbians may inform a comprehensive understanding of the unique reproductive needs of this population (Black & Fields, 2014; Blanchfield & Patterson, 2015; Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Svanberg, 2014; Borneskog, Sydsjö, Lampic, Bladh, & Svanberg, 2013; Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Skoog Svanberg, 2014; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013; P. Nordqvist, 2011; Pratesi, 2012; Wyverkens et al., 2014). Extending beyond reproduction, lesbians may face minority stress in caring for their families. As a matter of public health, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act should ensure equal same-sex parental recognition, access to health information, and authority for decision-making (Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson, & Halcomb, 2013; Marques et al., 2015; Park et al., 2016; L. Smith, 2013). Once lesbians have successfully navigated the path to parenting, they then need to identify suitable health care relationships for their children with pediatric providers (Dahl et al., 2013; Kuvalanka, Leslie, & Radina, 2014; Shields et al., 2012).

The Alternative Insemination Experience

The term *artificial insemination* has been replaced with *alternative insemination* to describe the nontraditional, nonheterosexual methods of conception. This terminology

has been in use since the 1980s at clinics where lesbians were able to seek reproductive assistance (Chicago Women's Health Center, 2017; Henry, 1993; Mayer, 2014). In a review of the literature, Tarín et al. (2015) summarized the reported success rates of lesbians who underwent reproductive assistance via donor intrauterine insemination (IUI), IVF, and the freeze/thaw cycle of IVF. This work was novel in describing outcomes and exploring potential factors associated with infertility (H. A. Smith et al., 2011; Tarín et al., 2015). The fact that lesbians must follow the same stepwise interventional pathway to assisted reproduction, despite any evidence of being medically infertile, contributes to minority stress (Hodson et al., 2017). Some couples may desire a more aggressive approach to becoming pregnant, even though less invasive methods help manage cost and risk (Carpinello et al., 2016; Charlton et al., 2011; Dar et al., 2015; Eyler et al., 2014; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Lawrence, Rasinski, Yoon, & Curlin, 2010; Marvel et al., 2016; Mathieu, 2013; S. K. Mishra, 2014; Záchia et al., 2011). Insurance coverage often dictates what evidence is required to move to the next level of treatment. These outdated guidelines were meant to guide treatment of traditional heterosexual couples, but lesbians may benefit from a more progressive approach.

Beginning with methods that are least invasive, intracervical insemination (ICI) is the simplest and can be attempted at home using donated sperm (It's Conceivable, 2017). IUI (insertion of sperm closer to the Fallopian tube) may be the next level following ICI (Cantineau, Janssen, Cohlen, & Allersma, 2014). More aggressive methods may be considered only after multiple failed attempts (Chavkin, Molinaro, Roe, Sammel, & Dokras, 2012). With each reproductive cycle, there are numerous clinic visits for monitoring hormonal blood levels (Wiser et al., 2012). If using fertility medications, there is the burden of administration as well as cost (Pandey et al., 2014). With each failed attempt, another cycle must usually pass before trying again (Carpinello et al., 2016; Carroll & Palmer, 2001; Chavkin et al., 2012; Wiser et al., 2012; A. Wu et al., 2013; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). Age is a factor that may affect the likelihood of success, and each unsuccessful attempt adds to the time, cost, and stress (Black & Fields, 2014; Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, & Skoog Svanberg, 2014; Chapman et al., 2012; Corbett et al., 2013; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013; Hayman et al., 2015; Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson et al., 2013; Wojnar, 2007; A. Wu et al., 2013; A. K. Wu et al., 2014; Yager et al., 2010).

The timing of when to introduce hormonal treatments into the process also depends on age and assessment of the potential risks and benefits (Tjon-Kon-Fat et al., 2015). Stimulation for egg retrieval procedures may be required on more than one occasion, depending on yield (Yeshua, Lee, Witkin, & Copperman, 2015). Once eggs have been retrieved, IVF or intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) is used to introduce the sperm to the egg (Collins, 2017; De Brucker et al., 2014). Embryos are selected based on general appearance and health for delivery with the hope of successful implantation (De Brucker et al., 2014). Each advanced stage of treatment is an increase in burden (emotions, time, effort, expense; Collins, 2017; Shalev, 2016; Yeshua et al., 2015).

Couples who lack success in these attempts face more aggressive options and may choose to use an egg donor (known or unknown) or decide to stop trying (Craig et al., 2014; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016). Cost is a factor in this decision, along with time and emotional expense (Pennings, 2015; Pratesi, 2012; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). While many insurance carriers have provisions for treating infertility, the benefits vary greatly (Hamilton & McManus, 2012; Jouannet & Spira, 2014; Murphy, 2015). There are often caps on allowable expenses, and fertility medication costs are high and must be obtained from specialized pharmacies, thereby limiting the number of attempts (Craig et al., 2014; Hamilton & McManus, 2012; Kissin et al., 2016). In some cases, there is no coverage for the procedures at all if the woman is beyond a particular upper age limit (Hamilton & McManus, 2012). Insurance coverage may be even more limited for aggressive or higher risk treatment options, such as the use of donor eggs (whether cycled real-time for retrieval or from an egg bank), if they are covered at all. These insurance restrictions result in more significant out-of-pocket expenses (Blanchfield & Patterson, 2015; Hamilton & McManus, 2012; Kissin et al., 2016; Murphy, 2015; Sunderam et al., 2015; A. Wu et al., 2013; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). A lesbian couple underinsured or without coverage for ART could potentially invest as much as \$30,000–\$40,000 in a single attempt at achieving pregnancy (Carpinello et al., 2016; Craig et al., 2014). These high hurdles contribute to minority stress and represent potential disparity if same-sex couples are insured differently than their heterosexual counterparts.

In addition to the procedural elements, there are psychological components to be considered (Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Huppelschoten et al., 2013). The concept of sharing motherhood has been growing as more same-sex couples bear children (Marina et al., 2010; Zeiler & Malmquist, 2014). Even if the decision on biology was easy to make, there are emotional considerations related to the nonbiological parent in this process (Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Huppelschoten et al., 2013; Pratesi, 2012; Suter, Kellas, Webb, & Allen, 2016). For example, administering daily multiple injections to a partner can have a psychological toll. As Cherguit, Burns, Pettle, and Tasker (2013) noted, dealing with a highly hormonal partner through the ART experience can strain a relationship despite the shared goal. There can be feelings of helplessness and of being an outsider despite efforts at inclusion (McKelvey, 2014; White, 2015; Wojnar & Katzenmeyer, 2014). Same-sex couples are often somewhat alone in maneuvering the medical process, the insurance and financial elements, and the emotional aspects, with or without a network of support (Cherguit et al., 2013; Eggert et al., 2015; Kazyak, Park, McQuillan, & Greil, 2016; McKelvey, 2014; White, 2015; Wojnar & Katzenmeyer, 2014).

Fertility Quality of Life

The FertiQoL is a reliable measure of the impact of fertility and treatment on QoL. This tool has been used by men, women, professionals, companies, and researchers to understand the impact of fertility on QoL (Boivin et al., 2011). There are 36 items to assess core and treatment-related QoL as well as overall satisfaction with one's QoL and physical health. According to Boivin et al. (2011), use of this international survey in cross-cultural studies is permitted and encouraged.

Homophobia: Internal and External

Cochran and Mays (2016) described how disparity research must provide a basis for the elimination of disparities. According to Abdessamad, Yudin, Tarasoff, Radford, and Ross (2013), there is a lack of research into the factors that contribute to the exclusion of sexual minority patients from obstetric and gynecologic care. The reproductive health care environment operates in a heteronormative manner (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013). Corbett et al. (2013) reported subtle moral and ethical opposition to providing reproductive care to lesbians among clinics in Canada.

During routine and gynecological visits, women are asked about marital status, if they are sexually active, and what method of contraception they are using (Hayman, Wilkes, Jackson, & Halcomb, 2013). This framework does not invite discussion about general reproductive health, is outdated, and can create stress for lesbians, who may not feel comfortable disclosing their sexual orientation in this manner (Stott, 2013; Szymanski & Chung, 2001). Providers who do not invite open discussion may be the first health care system barrier to considering parenting (Knight et al., 2013; Marques et al., 2015; Utamsingh et al., 2016). A study reported by Croghan, Moone, and Olson (2015) asked LGBT baby boomers about the signals that indicated to them whether a practitioner was LGBT-welcoming. Respondents cited provider and staff behavior, use of inclusive language on forms, evidence of inclusiveness in signage (rainbow flag), and the presence of LGBT staff as positive indicators of a welcoming environment.

Identifying factors that contribute to population health inequalities presents a timely opportunity for positive social change (Adrien, Beaulieu, Leaune, Perron, & Dassa, 2013; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). The current research can help inform areas for change in the social and structural determinants of health for this minority population (Knight et al., 2013). This area is one of several public health opportunities to improve health equity noted by Massetti et al. (2015). Changes are needed to remove the structural stigma that contributes to minority stress through discriminatory policies and practices. Doing so will reflect modern society and promote public health.

Support Network

Research has shown that discriminatory policies and practices have a direct effect on the response to stress (Bogart et al., 2014). Baams et al. (2015) and Denton et al. (2014) applied the minority stress theory to examine stigma-related health disparities among lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. Lesbians should have equal access to health care and reproductive options as their nonlesbian counterparts. Parity would include access to supportive providers, comparable insurance coverage, and nondiscriminatory policies. A lack of these core elements contributes to the minority stress experience for lesbians (Marvel et al., 2016).

Regarding reproductive assistance, lesbians are likely to select an outwardly supportive clinic. Signs of welcoming may be readily identifiable via the Internet or upon initial encounter with the clinic (K. M. Johnson, 2012; H. Y. Wu et al., 2016). While impressions matter, heterosexual couples are not faced with the same challenge in identifying a clinic. Support for same-sex parents should not end with a successful pregnancy (Dahl et al., 2013; Shields et al., 2012; Suter et al., 2016; Wojnar & Katzenmeyer, 2014). This community may continue to face barriers to health care, including lactation support, where the heteronormative practice assumes families are composed of a male, a female, and a child or children (Farrow, 2015). Specialty care workers may not be prepared or understand how to support nontraditional families through this next phase, including pediatric care (Shields et al., 2012; Webster &

Telingator, 2016). These are some of the additional considerations that lesbians face even after achieving pregnancy that nonlesbian women do not have to consider.

Burdens of access, time, and cost, along with a lack of support, are often reason enough not to pursue this process (Inhorn & Patrizio, 2015; Kissin et al., 2016; Ombelet, 2014; Pratesi, 2012; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). Religion and strong beliefs against homosexuality may send subtle or overt messages that influence how some women choose to act (Lawrence et al., 2010; Pivetti & Melotti, 2013; Rostosky, Otis, Riggle, Kelly, & Brodnicki, 2008; Sowe, Brown, & Taylor, 2014). That is why this study aimed to identify the variables associated with the parenting decision of lesbians and the choice to pursue ART or other means to parenthood, while other lesbians opt out and choose not to parent or undergo ART (Baiocco & Laghi, 2013; Park et al., 2016; Power et al., 2010; Riskind et al., 2013).

Changes in policy and training may address some of the factors that contribute to minority stress and create disparities. The health care environment needs a cultural shift, including new standards for inclusive behaviors among health professionals (McManus et al., 2006; McNair, 2003; Perrin et al., 2013). The study contributes to understanding barriers to reproductive intentions of lesbians compared with nonlesbians (Blondeel et al., 2016; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Emlet et al., 2013; Macapagal et al., 2016; McDonald & Anderson, 2003; Simoni et al., 2017) and those that may create disparities in the path to parenthood through ART (Corbett et al., 2013; K. M. Johnson, 2012; Park et al., 2016; Schwartz & Baral, 2015; Stall et al., 2016; Wall, 2011).

A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment

The degree of outness is an essential measure in understanding potential healthrelated issues associated with disclosure of one's sexual orientation (van Dam, 2014, 2015). Self-disclosure may be related to the experience of minority stress. Homonegative experiences may adversely impact willingness to disclose. This study explored the association of these factors for lesbians in the context of considering parenting. Studies have used ALIDA-II in self-identified lesbians with and without children. As van Dam (2015) noted, disclosure, as well as nondisclosure of one's sexual identity, may have unwanted consequences. Lesbians face this added burden of choosing to disclose and possible consequences repeatedly. The health care setting is no exception and adds a degree of stress that nonlesbians do not face.

Literature Related to the Changing Nature of Family

The association between reproduction and traditional marriage between a man and a woman is the historical norm, often linked with religious beliefs (S. K. Mishra, 2014). Today the ART process is more widely accepted for heterosexual couples who require medical assistance to conceive (Leiblum, Palmer, & Spector, 1995; Sutter et al., 2008). Single women and lesbian couples still face challenges when seeking ART or alternative paths to parenting (De Wert et al., 2014; Eyler et al., 2014; Ross et al., 2014; Rozental & Malmquist, 2015). Assisted reproduction is considered a matter of ethics in defining family (Dembinska, 2012; Mathieu, 2013; S. K. Mishra, 2014; Záchia et al., 2011). Beyond the choice to parent, there is a more substantial need for understanding the unique sexual health needs and risks of lesbians, which are affected by the practitioner– patient relationship (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013; Marques et al., 2015; Röndahl et al., 2009; Utamsingh et al., 2016). This relationship can promote or adversely impact health if discussions are not open, encouraged, or supported (Stott, 2013).

There is a lack of research exploring the lesbian reproductive experience where one or both women seek ART (Schwartz & Baral, 2015). Most of the studies reported in the literature were qualitative or longitudinal (Fredriksen-Goldsen, Hoy-Ellis, Goldsen, Emlet, & Hooyman, 2014; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013). There is a lack of current literature that has quantitatively examined variables in the experience of lesbians considering parenthood or seeking ART (Power et al., 2010). S. M. Johnson (2012) described research on lesbian motherhood as having taken place in three waves. Initially, women had children in heterosexual relationships and later identified as a lesbian. The next wave saw lesbians having children in same-sex relationships. Studies in this wave evaluated children compared with their counterparts from heterosexual-parent families. The research evidence showed that children from lesbian-headed families were well adjusted and highly functioning. The current third wave is beginning to evaluate lesbianparented families with individualized emphasis and without heterosexist comparison. More studies are needed to teach us about the unique aspects of the lesbian family life cycle and the dynamics of these created families (Crouch et al., 2013; S. M. Johnson, 2012).

Literature on Internet Surveys of the LGBT Population

Recruitment is a potential limitation in any study, and with online surveys utilizing social media, results can vary. Several recently published articles supported the feasibility of using online surveys with this population. Ybarra, Mitchell, Palmer, and Reisner (2015) recruited more than 5,000 LGBT and non-LGBT youth participants in 5 months (2010–2011) to study support and victimization. In another study, Ybarra, Rosario, Saewyc, and Goodenow (2016) examined sexual behaviors by sexual identity among adolescent girls aged 13–18 years. Between 2010 and 2011, 2,823 girls participated in the online survey. Using the 2014 and 2015 Tobacco Products and Risk Perception (online) Surveys, which use weighted probability sampling, Nayak, Salazar, Kota, and Pechacek (2017) reported findings from 11,525 LGB and heterosexual participants. Lastly, the 2015 National School Climate Survey published by Kosciw, Greytak, Giga, Villenas, and Danischewski (2016) consisted of a total of 10,528 students between the ages of 13 and 21 years, a representative national sample of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ) youth who participated online. The publications provided offer support for recruiting an adequate and representative sample from this sexual minority to participate in an online survey.

Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, I provided a review of the literature related to perceived stress and health, choosing parenthood, lesbian experiences of access and barriers, knowledge about fertility, documenting infertility, legal matters same-sex couples/families face, the alternative insemination experience and the use of the FertiQoL, internal and external homophobia, the value of a support network, and ALIDA-II as a measure of the lesbian degree of outness. The review closed with literature published on the changing nature of family and societal shifts. These elements are associated with the research questions, particularly for lesbians.

Lesbians are a sexual minority and, as such, experience stigma and stress. Not all but many lesbians choose to become parents, while others may have the desire yet do not follow the path. There are no reports on the association between these influential factors and health in the context of lesbian reproduction. Legal and financial considerations, along with societal policies and practices, contribute to an increased burden for this population. As a result, lesbians experience disparities, making this a matter of public health.

Theories play a role in the foundation for research creating needed evidence for movements to act and bring about change. In public health, there is a reliance on data to demonstrate a gap, disparity, or need. In this review, I described the minority stress theory as it relates to the population of interest: lesbians in the context of parenthood and reproductive assistance. Minority stress is the conceptual framework used to explore the association between variables and the decisions lesbians make regarding parenthood and whether to seek assisted reproduction. I included nonlesbians in the current study for comparison. There is a lack of evidence with little research focused on the intersectionality of lesbians and the experience of assisted reproduction. These study findings may help to close this gap and provide evidence for needed social change. In the following chapter, Chapter 3, I describe the research design, rationale, sampling methodology, collection, and analysis of variables.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

Reproductive health and fertility are a matter of public health, yet a public health approach to infertility inclusive of lesbians is still lacking (Lemoine & Ravitsky, 2013). The purpose of this social epidemiological study was to explore the socioeconomic and sociocultural factors that are associated with parental status, controlling for sexual orientation (Carpinello et al., 2016; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Marvel et al., 2016; Tarín et al., 2015). I compared ART experience among lesbians and nonlesbians using FertiQoL scores. I also examined the difference in the degree of outness among lesbians with and without children. The research supports the tenets of public health, one of which is to ensure the quality and accessibility of health services (CDC, 2014). The knowledge of factors that create unique disparities and contribute to minority stress of lesbians can inform where changes are needed-that is, policy, practice, and so on. Ideally, such changes would ensure that lesbians have equal access, insurance or cost coverage, and fertility treatment options on par with their nonlesbian counterparts. This chapter includes the research design, rationale, and methodology for data collection. I also describe the sampling method, instrumentation, statistical analysis, and expected social change.

Research Design and Rationale

In this study I examined the association between sociocultural and socioeconomic variables and parental status, controlling for sexual orientation. I explored the ART experiences of lesbians and nonlesbians using the FertiQoL total score. I also examined the difference in the degree of outness among lesbians with and without children using

the ALIDA-II. Primary data were the source for this quantitative study collected via an online survey. Likert-type scaling is a widely used methodology for collecting survey response data (Munshi, 2014). These types of survey responses are easy to group, analyze, and summarize without requiring conversion. The survey directed questions of participants based on specific responses (Barua, 2013): FertiQoL for those with reproductive assistance/ART experience and ALIDA-II for lesbians.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

There were three research questions. The first was designed to explore the predictive relationship between the variables, including insured status, PSS, and parental status, controlling for self-identification. The purpose of the study was to investigate which factors may predispose, enable, or be lacking among lesbians when considering parenting/reproductive intentions (e.g., primarily insured status and perceived stress). As the data permitted, I explored additional aspects between the groups (i.e., SRH, QoL, age, education, employment status, income, etc.; Gordon et al., 2017).

The second research question helped explore whether there was a statistically significant difference in FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores between lesbians and nonlesbians with fertility/infertility/ART experience (based on those who responded to the FertiQoL questions). FertiQoL was used to assess the effect a health care setting (heteronormative/homonegative attitudes and beliefs of others, clinic environment, and staff interactions) might have on the ART experience of lesbians compared with nonlesbians (Friedman et al., 2014). The theory is that there are experiences that create increased (minority) stress and health disparities of quality and access for this population.

The final research question was used to assess whether there is a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness between lesbians with and without children using the ALIDA-II (for those who responded). The ALIDA-II includes five questions specifically for lesbian parents. Using the individual responses, I calculated the scores to compare means.

How the Research Design Supports the Research Questions

The research design was nonexperimental and involved convenience sampling. The design choice for convenience sampling is consistent with other studies that include the lesbian and gay population (Goldbach, Tanner-Smith, Bagwell, & Dunlap, 2014; Simoni et al., 2017). Social media is a commonly accepted method for promoting awareness and extending invitations to participate in surveys (Brodzinsky & Goldberg, 2016; Kuyper, Fernee, & Keuzenkamp, 2016), which allows individuals to self-identify as eligible and to contribute anonymously.

Standardized survey methods enable quantification to assess measures of association. Using logistic regression, I evaluated the association between the independent variables (insured status and perceived stress) and the dependent outcome variable (parental status). For RQ1, the intent was to identify if there is a predictive relationship between the variables queried with parental status. The predictive measure analysis supported the research question.

I also collected additional sociocultural and socioeconomic information, including age, race/ethnicity, education level, employment status, and income level. All participants were asked a question for SRH and to rate their QoL. Participants self-selected if they were lesbian or nonlesbian; those who identified as lesbian completed the ALIDA-II. Following the demographic-type questions, the next was, "Are you a parent (bio, co, step, adoptive, foster, etc.)?", which related to the dependent variable. The survey directed participants to the FertiQoL based on response to the question "Thinking about parenthood, fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction, which category best describes you/your experience? (a) I have no plan/desire to be a parent; (b) I have no experience with fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction; (c) I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction." Likert-type scales measured the variables of interest.

Additional time was not required for field testing, as there were no novel survey tools or modifications to existing measures. I expected that recruitment would be the most considerable time and resource constraint. The risk that distribution of the invitation would be inadequate could have led to a low number of lesbians willing to participate and a prolonged data collection period. But there was no way to ensure equal distribution among the subgroups (lesbians and nonlesbians with and without children).

Methodology

Population

The intended population was women aged 18 years and older, including those who self-identify as lesbian. Ideally, respondents would include a range of experiences, from never considered parenting to all the ways individuals become parents to children. Historically, it has been estimated that approximately 1 in 10 (or 10%) of the population is lesbian or gay (Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013), yet there is still a shifting segment of society with an antigay sentiment (Coffman, Coffman, & Ericson, 2016). Thus, the study included a nonlesbian comparison group, which allowed for formal statistical analyses to assess if the predictive relationships between the independent variables and the dependent variable (outcome) differed between lesbian and nonlesbian women.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The broad sample of women included a target population of those who selfidentified as a lesbian. Sampling was anonymous, and respondents had to confirm they were 18 or older to participate. The aim for this quantitative study was to recruit a minimum of 300 participants for the convenience web-based sample. The sampling method was to reduce bias, uphold validity, and enable potential generalizations from the sample to the extended lesbian population. Inclusion criteria included participants 18 years or older who were willing to provide informed consent and agreed to respond to a series of survey questions. Exclusion criteria included those who were unwilling to provide informed consent and those unable or unwilling to answer the survey questions.

Sample Size and Power Estimates

The study was a prospective study with primary data. Logistic regression was used to describe the data and assess the predictive relationship between the dependent variable and several independent variables (Statistics Solutions, 2018). G*power cannot be used to estimate a sample size for multinomial logistic regression, the method needed if the dependent variable has more than two outcomes. According to statistical resources in the literature, some general rules of thumb are applicable for sample size estimation (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2005; F. Hsieh, 1989; Knofczynski & Mundfrom, 2008). Suggestions range from 10 to 30 per category in the analysis (F. Hsieh, 1989). Others in the literature have suggested at least 50 or more than 100 items in the sample, with 200– 400 observations being even better (Statistics How To, 2018). Additionally, sometimes it is useful to use a transformation of the population. Because the normal distribution has desirable properties, transforming a random variable into a variable that is normally distributed by taking the natural log can be useful (Zaiontz, 2018). Using such models, the value of the categorical dependent variable can be predicted from the values of the independent variables. The sample size estimate incorporated these concepts.

Sample size estimation uses a significance level α , desired statistical power $1 - \beta$, and the population effect size expected (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). Using G*power 3.1 for logistic regression with an alpha of .05, power of .80, and odds ratio of 1.2 with lognormal distribution, the estimate was that 302 participants were needed. Alternatively, using the rule of thumb for minimum measures, I estimated the calculation for two independent variables with four categories each (2 × 4 = 8) and one dependent variable with four categories (8 + 4 = 12) times the minimum observations needed (12 × 10 = 120; 12 × 20 = 240; 12 × 30 = 360). I aimed to recruit 300 participants for this study based on these estimations. Initially, I thought I would use the ART parenting question with four (expected) categories as the dependent variable. In the end, I used parental status, a dependent variable with two categories, and in this case, the estimate would have been 100–300 participants. The sample size was adequate based on these estimates.

Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) provided approval (approval number 09-06-18-0410847) before study initiation. Recruitment was through targeted online venues using social media, e-mail blasts, and snowballing. The survey was also approved and available via the Walden University Participant Pool. Aside from an introduction and invitation to participate, informed consent was the first thing a potential participant saw. The informed consent described the research purpose, inclusion/exclusion criteria, and potential risks and benefits of participating. If the individual agreed, they acknowledged their consent and then proceeded to the survey. The survey administrator recorded and securely stored anonymously the participant's responses to the series of questions.

Instrumentation and Operationalization

Using the survey instrument I collected demographic details and queried social, cultural, economic, and other factors potentially associated with parenting and fertility/infertility and ART (Appendix A). Socioeconomic variables included insured status, education level, employment status, and income level, which were self-reported. Sociocultural factors included age, race/ethnicity, SRH), QoL (Questions A and B from the FertiQoL, not included in the total score), and perceived stress level (using the PSS-14; Cohen et al., 1983).

The FertiQoL instrument was for participants with fertility/infertility or ART experience. FertiQoL is a reliable measure of the impact of fertility problems and treatment on QoL. As Boivin et al. (2011) noted, future research is needed to establish the

use of FertiQoL in cross-cultural research and clinical work. While not a specific aim, this study supported this objective. For women who have experienced ART, I compared FertiQoL total, core (24 items), and treatment (10 items) scores between lesbians and nonlesbians. Several FertiQoL questions were reverse scored before I calculated the total, core, and treatment scores. To my knowledge, this is the first targeted lesbian assessment with the FertiQoL.

ALIDA-II was used to assess the degree of outness, support network, and heteronormative or homonegative experience for lesbians with and without children (Morrison & Morrison, 2003; van Dam, 2015). There were 24 questions, with 5 items directed toward those with children and all used to calculate the total score.

Study Variables

The study variables represent prespecified constructs to be measured (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The use of groups or labels is a way to quantify the measures under investigation, which can help explain the study parameters (Creswell, 2013). The outcome or variable of interest is considered the dependent variable (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The variable(s) that might help explain the change or difference in outcomes is the independent variable (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). A covariate is a variable that may influence the dependent variable; these potentially confounding effects can be evaluated in the statistical analysis using regression to assess how a covariate contributes to the variance (Field, 2013; Green & Salkind, 2010). Table 1 shows the variables for this study.

Dependent Variables

The dependent variable of interest for RQ1 was parental status (parenting choice). Parental status was a dichotomous categorical variable with two options: no (0) or yes (1). An alternative was to use ART experience as the dependent variable, but this was not selected based on potential limitations associated with this outcome. I tested the betweengroup differences of FertiQoL for RQ2 and ALIDA-II for RQ3.

Independent Variables

The independent variables for RQ1 were insured status and perceived stress. Insured status (categorical variable) was assessed based on five possible responses: (a) I do not have health insurance coverage; (b) I have health insurance, but fertility/infertility treatment is not covered (all costs are out of pocket); (c) I have health insurance, but there are limits for fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage (lifetime dollar limits, procedure restrictions, etc.); (d) I have health insurance and have maxed out (used up) all of my fertility/infertility coverage; and (e) I have health insurance but do not know about fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage. For this study, "insured status" was an indicator of socioeconomic status. Based on the number of responses and in order to meet the statistical assumptions for analysis, insured status was collapsed into three categories: no insurance or no fertility coverage, fertility limits or maxed out, and unknown fertility coverage. Perceived stress was measured using the PSS-14 (Appendix B; Cohen et al., 1983). Seven of the 14 items are worded negatively (including 1, 2, 3, 8, 11, 12, 14), and the remaining 7 are positive (4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13). Each item is rated using a 5-point Likert-type scale. After reversing the positive items' scores, all were summed to

determine the total score. Possible PSS-14 total scores range from 0 to 56, with a higher score indicating a greater level of perceived stress (Ezzati et al., 2014). I created three groups based on score range: low stress (0–18), moderate stress (19–37), and high stress (38–56). Since high stress had low cell counts, I combined those with moderate stress. I used low stress and moderate/high stress in the analysis for RQ1. I included income and region as potential socioeconomic and sociocultural factors in this study.

Reproductive health care/ART experience measured by FertiQoL. RQ2 explored how the FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores differed between lesbians and nonlesbians who have experienced ART. The FertiQoL is a validated tool to reliably measure the impact of fertility and ART on QoL (Appendix C; Boivin et al., 2011). This variable is nominal (ordinal) and uses a 5-point Likert-type scale. There are 24 questions related to fertility and an additional 10 items that pertain to treatment (ART). The core includes Emotional, Mind/Body, Relational, and Social subscales. The Environment and Tolerability subscales are part of the treatment (ART) module. Exploring the heterosexist/heteronormative experiences of women in the process of assisted reproduction was a parameter of interest in the current study. In a qualitative study, O'Neill, Hamer, and Dixon (2013) examined lesbians' perceptions of health care professionals in their transition to parenthood. In the current study, I thought that the treatment scale might help explore minority stress and heteronormative/homonegative experiences.

Degree of outness. For RQ3, ALIDA-II was used to assess the level of outness, with permission from the author (Appendix D). This survey uses a 6-point Likert scale
and consists of seven questions (with multiple parts) to measure the level of outness or disclosure, social support, and depression (van Dam, 2008, 2015). This tool is a representative measure of sociocultural factors, including questions specific to lesbian parents. I used ALIDA-II to explore differences in the degree of outness between lesbians with and without children.

Covariates

The survey included demographic and other sociocultural status and socioeconomic status information from all participants. Parameters included identification as lesbian or nonlesbian (categorical), age (ordinal), race/ethnicity (categorical), education level (ordinal), employment status (categorical), income level (ordinal), and state (categorical). SRH is a (categorical) measure that has been widely used and assessed for validity in a range of applications (Eriksson et al., 2001; Zajacova & Todd, 2015). Response to the "overall evaluation of physical health" and "satisfaction with quality of life" questions taken from the FertiQoL served to address this variable. The sociocultural status and socioeconomic status variables were summarized using descriptive statistics.

	Parameter(s) of interest	Survey method	Scale
Independent variables			
Insured status	Socioeconomic status	Survey	Categorical
Perceived stress	A measure of appraised stress (total score)	PSS-14	Ordinal/categorical
Dependent variable			
Parental status	Are you a parent	Survey	Categorical
	(bio, co, step, adoptive, foster, etc.)?		
Alternate dependent	I have no plan/desire to be a parent, I have no	Survey	Categorical
variable: ART	experience with fertility, infertility or any type		
experience	of assisted reproduction, or ART/parent by		
	other means I have experience with fertility,		
	infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction		
Note. ART = assisted rep	productive technology. PSS-14 = Perceived Stress	Scale–14.	

Variables, Scales of Measurement, Variable Type, and Collection Resource

Data Analysis Plan

To analyze the data, I used the most current version of SPSS software (Version 25). A benefit of using SPSS is that it allows for the recoding of variables, specifying how to handle missing data, and for data transformation as needed. SPSS is available to doctoral students at Walden University.

Public health researchers frequently use logistic regression for determining the correlation between risk factors and disease (F. Hsieh, 1989). In the current study, the independent variables (insured status and perceived stress) were the associated risk factors for the dependent variable, parental status. With a categorical dependent variable, logistic regression was the planned analysis. The interactions of interest were between the two independent variables (insured status and PSS) and the dependent variable (parent [yes, no]). For RQ1, I used chi-square to assess the relationship between insured status

and parental status and whether it differed among lesbians and nonlesbians. Next, I used chi-square to assess the relationship between PSS level and parental status.

For RQ2, I used the independent samples *t*-test to explore whether the mean FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores differed between lesbians and nonlesbians. Using the same method for RQ3, I assessed if the degree of outness differed between lesbians with and without children. Demographic information was summarized descriptively. Individual variables were summarized descriptively and reported using tables and figures as appropriate.

Threats to Validity

Threats to internal validity included bias in the selection of variables to consider as well as the ability to recruit adequate numbers across the groups (lesbians and nonlesbians with and without children). Since I posted the survey on social media and shared it by personal email with affiliated organizations, there was a potential bias for limited distribution. Threats to external validity may include the tools utilized for data collection and recruitment methods, which could affect the generalizability of findings. I selected the FertiQoL and ALIDA-II because they were available in the public domain and did not require additional validation. There is no evidence using FertiQoL explicitly with lesbians.

Ethical Procedures

As potential participants accessed the survey, they were required to provide informed consent to continue. The informed consent described the research study and survey process and included resources should a participant need help with considering parenthood, fertility, or experience any life crisis. Anonymity was assured. The Walden University IRB provided approval before study initiation. There were no ethical concerns regarding the recruitment process. Information about the study was available via various Internet communications platforms. Participation was voluntary and anonymous and required one-time completion of a series of survey questions online.

The data were collected and stored using a popular survey platform. The instructional text helped to customize the experience based on specific responses that subcategorized the participants. The data were validated and protected by TRUSTe and Norton (Quah & Röhm, 2013). I received the data in a form usable for analysis within SPSS, and there are no plans to share the data before publishing. There were no conflicts of interest with my professional work and no means to unduly influence individuals to participate.

Implications for Social Change

There is a lack of studies to understand factors that are associated with lesbian parenting decision-making (Baiocco & Laghi, 2013; Hayman et al., 2015). For lesbians who attempt ART, there is a lack of research to understand their experience (Greenfeld & Seli, 2016; Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb, & Jackson, 2013). In the field of social epidemiology, researchers often use survey methods to analyze the social determinants of health using a population-representative sample (Chandola, Kumari, & Marmot, 2014). The current study was the first of its kind to quantitatively explore the factors associated with parenting decisions of lesbians and their ART experience. One's reproductive choice should not be assumed or limited based on sexual orientation. Access to reproductive care should be the same for all women (Cherguit et al., 2013; Dahl et al., 2013). It is imperative to understand the factors influencing the choice of same-sex couples to pursue parenthood (Morin, Keefe, & Naftolin, 2014; Webb, Chonody, & Kavanagh, 2016). This knowledge has implications essential for educating policy makers to reduce or eliminate disparities as a matter of public health. Shifting social constructs to improve social inclusivity would minimize minority stress and enhance the ART experience of this population (Wolff et al., 2017). Assuring health care access and favorable social conditions would promote positive change for lesbians considering parenthood (Patterson, 2017; Pratesi, 2012; Stone & Weinberg, 2015; Verbiest et al., 2016).

Summary

This chapter described the research purpose, study design, rationale, population, sampling, and variables of interest in exploring factors that may be associated with the parenting decisions and ART experiences of lesbians and nonlesbians. This study may be the first of its kind. The aim was to identify factors that contribute to fertility-related health disparities for lesbians as a minority population, a matter that qualifies under the tenets of public health. The study findings have implications for positive social change by reducing minority stress and improving the lesbian reproductive experience. In Chapter 4, I present and describe the results from the statistical analyses.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to investigate which socioeconomic and sociocultural factors may be associated with parenting choice. The goal was to explore whether these factors predispose, enable, or are lacking among lesbians when considering parenting/reproductive intentions (e.g., primarily insured status and perceived stress; other factors like SRH, financial ability, and education could be explored). The main research question related to the predictive relationship between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians. There were two additional research questions based on population subsets: What is the difference in FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores between lesbians and nonlesbians? What is the difference in the degree of outness as measured by the ALIDA-II between lesbians with and without children? In this chapter, I present the research findings, including descriptive summaries and formal statistical analyses, to address each of the research questions.

Data Collection

I used an online survey for data collection. I created and uploaded the validated questionnaires to SurveyMonkey. Awareness and invitations were shared through social media (Facebook) and personal requests via e-mail to select groups (personal affiliations) and organizations, including the Walden University Participant Pool. Snowballing was encouraged. The survey opened on September 10, 2018 and closed on October 8, 2018, after slightly exceeding the target of N = 300 with 314 respondents.

Handling of Missing Values

There were no discrepancies in data collection, only the anticipated potential of missing responses. The software handled any missing value for each of the research questions. The first research question included all respondents—that is, lesbian and nonlesbian—regardless of parental status, fertility experience, insured status, or perceived stress level, and regardless of response completeness. When determining means or calculating the total scores, SPSS handled missing values for the PSS-14, the FertiQoL, and the ALIDA-II mathematically.

Results

Descriptive Summary Statistics of Demographic Characteristics

Tables 2–13 summarize the demographic characteristics for the participants. Approximately one-third of the total sample (N = 314) self-identified as a lesbian (n = 102).

Table 2 provides the distribution of participants across the United States. Because there was not an ex-U.S. response option, no response could indicate a missing value or that the participant resided outside of the United States. The highest percentage of participants were from Connecticut (27.4%) and Massachusetts (22%). These states reflect the geographical locations of my primary networks and associations.

Summary of Location

	n (%)
Ex-U.S. or missing	18 (5.7)
Arizona	2 (0.6)
California	8 (2.5)
Colorado	3 (1.0)
Connecticut	86 (27.4)
District of Columbia (DC)	1 (0.3)
Florida	14 (4.5)
Georgia	4 (1.3)
Illinois	6 (1.9)
Iowa	1 (0.3)
Kentucky	1 (0.3)
Maine	3 (1.0)
Maryland	6 (1.9)
Massachusetts	69 (22.0)
Michigan	4 (1.3)
Minnesota	3 (1.0)
Missouri	2 (0.6)
Nevada	1 (0.3)
New Hampshire	8 (2.5)
New Jersey	1 (0.3)
New Mexico	1 (0.3)
New York	8 (2.5)
North Carolina	15 (4.8)
Ohio	3 (1.0)
Pennsylvania	11 (3.5)
Rhode Island	12 (3.8)
South Carolina	2 (0.6)
Texas	3 (1.0)
Vermont	3 (1.0)
Virginia	3 (1.0)
Washington	5 (1.6)
Wisconsin	7 (2.2)

Table 3 shows distribution by regions including the Northeast, Southeast,

Midwest, Southwest, West, and Ex-US (or missing). The majority (64.3%) of all participants were from the Northeast. The chi-square test (region and most identify with) was not significant, $\chi^2(5) = 9.168$, p = .103.

Table 3

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
Northeast	66 (64.7)	136 (64.2)	202 (64.3)
Southeast	11 (10.8)	34 (16.0)	45 (14.3)
Midwest	6 (5.9)	20 (9.4)	26 (8.3)
Southwest/West ^a	8 (7.8)	15 (7.1)	23 (7.3)
Southwest	2 (2.0)	4 (1.9)	6 (1.9)
West	6 (5.9)	11 (5.2)	17 (5.4)
Ex-US	11 (10.8)	7 (3.3)	18 (5.7)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)
	a		

Summary by Region

a. Due to low cell counts, Southwest and West were combined for the logistic regression in RQ1.

The age distribution was similar between groups (Table 4), with a slightly higher percentage of lesbians than nonlesbians in the 21–29 and 50–59 groups and more 60 or older in the nonlesbian group.

Table 4

Summary by Age (Year)

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
21–29	11 (10.8)	10 (4.7)	21 (6.7)
30–39	22 (21.6)	68 (32.1)	90 (28.7)
40–49	28 (27.5)	59 (27.8)	87 (27.7)
50–59	36 (35.3)	59 (27.8)	95 (30.3)
60 or older	5 (4.9)	16 (7.5)	21 (6.7)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 5 shows the education level responses. Nearly half of all participants have a graduate degree, and the distribution was similar between the groups.

Table 5

Lesbian, n (%)	Nor

Summary of Education Level

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, n (%)
High school or equivalent	2 (2.0)	4 (1.9)	6 (1.9)
Some college but no degree	13 (12.7)	23 (10.8)	36 (11.5)
Associate's degree	8 (7.8)	17 (8.0)	25 (8.0)
Bachelor's degree	32 (31.4)	65 (30.7)	97 (30.9)
Graduate degree	47 (46.1)	103 (48.6)	150 (47.8)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 6 shows the employment status by subgroup. Approximately 70% of the

participants were employed full time (40 or more hours per week), with a higher

percentage of nonlesbians in the category "not employed and not looking for work."

Table 6

Summary of Employment Status

	Lesbian, n (%)]	Nonlesbian, n (%	b) Total, <i>n</i> (%)
Employed, working 40 or more hours per week	77 (75.5)	144 (67.9)	221 (70.4)
Employed, working 1–39 hours per week	20 (19.6)	41 (19.3)	61 (19.4)
Not employed, looking for work	0 (0)	5 (2.4)	5 (1.6)
Not employed, not looking for work	2 (2.0)	11 (5.2)	13 (4.1)
Retired	3 (2.9)	8 (3.8)	11 (3.5)
Disabled, not able to work	0 (0)	3 (1.4)	3 (1.0)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 7 shows the highest percentage of lesbians reported a household income in the \$125,000–\$149,999 range, whereas the highest percentage for nonlesbians was in the \$200,000 and up category. Figure 1 illustrates the distribution differences in household income.

Summary of Inc	come Level
----------------	------------

	Lesbian, n (%)]	Nonlesbian, n (%)Total, <i>n</i> (%)
\$0-\$9,999	1 (1.0)	1 (0.5)	2 (0.6)
\$10,000-\$24,999	1 (1.0)	4 (1.9)	5 (1.6)
\$25,000-\$49,999	15 (14.7)	15 (7.1)	30 (9.6)
\$50,000-\$74,999	8 (7.8)	28 (13.2)	36 (11.5)
\$75,000-\$99,999	9 (8.8)	31 (14.6)	40 (12.7)
Less than \$100,000 ^a	34 (34.7)	79 (39.5)	113 (37.9)
\$100,000-\$124,999	15 (14.7)	24 (11.3)	39 (12.5)
\$125,000-\$149,999	19 (18.6)	23 (10.8)	42 (13.4)
\$150,000-\$174,999	12 (11.8)	13 (6.1)	25 (8.0)
\$175,000-\$199,999	4 (3.9)	11 (5.2)	15 (4.8)
≥\$200,000	14 (13.7)	50 (23.6)	64 (20.4)
More than \$100,000 ^a	64 (65.3)	121 (60.5)	185 (62.1)
Total	98 (100)	200 (100)	298 (100)
m ·	. 1.0	· 1 ·	· · PO1

a. Two income categories were used for logistic regression in RQ1.



Figure 1. Income distribution by subgroup

More than 90% of the study participants were White (Table 8) and not Spanish,

Hispanic, or Latino (not shown).

Table 8

Summary of Demographic Characteristics: Race

]	Lesbian, <i>n</i> (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%	%) Total, <i>n</i> (%)
White	98 (96.1)	197 (92.9)	295 (93.9)
Black or African American	1 (1.0)	2 (0.9)	3 (1.0)
Asian	1 (1.0)	4 (1.9)	5 (1.6)
From multiple races	1 (1.0)	6 (2.8)	7 (2.2)
Some other race	0	1 (0.5)	1 (0.3)
Missing	1 (1.0)	2 (0.9)	3 (1.0)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 9 shows a crosstab summary of parental status by self-identification.

Overall, 65.3% of the participants were parents. For lesbians, the split was nearly even

(49% yes and 51% no), with more nonlesbian parents (73.1%) than nonparents. As noted

in Table 10, more than half of all participants reported having experience with fertility,

infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction (ART experience).

Table 9

Summary of Parental Status

Lesbian, n (%)Nonlesbian, n (%) Total, n (%)			
Yes	50 (49.0)	155 (73.1)	205 (65.3)
No	52 (51.0)	57 (26.9)	109 (34.7)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Summary of ART Experience

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
I have no plan/desire to be a parent	22 (21.6)	30 (14.2)	52 (16.6)
I have no experience with fertility, infertility, or any	25 (24.5)	76 (35.8)	101 (32.2)
type of assisted reproduction			
I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type	55 (53.9)	106 (50.0)	161 (51.3)
of assisted reproduction			
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 11 displays the results for health insurance status. Nearly 52% of all

participants had health insurance but did not know about fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage. The most notable difference was in the category of "I have health insurance, but fertility/infertility treatment is not covered (all costs are out of pocket)," with more than twice the percentage of lesbians than nonlesbians in this category. For the RQ1 logistic regression analysis, insurance status was collapsed into three categories.

Table 11

Summary of Health Insurance Status

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
I do not have health insurance coverage ^a	1 (1.0)	6 (2.8)	7 (2.2)
I have health insurance, but fertility/infertility	19 (18.6)	18 (8.5)	37 (11.8)
treatment is not covered (all costs are out of pocket) ^a			
I have health insurance, but there are limits for	33 (32.4)	63 (29.7)	96 (30.6)
fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage (lifetime			
dollar limits, procedure restrictions, etc.) ^b			
I have health insurance and have maxed out (used	5 (4.9)	6 (2.8)	11 (3.5)
up) all of my fertility/infertility coverage ^b			
I have health insurance but do not know about	44 (43.1)	119 (56.1)	163 (51.9)
fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage ^c			
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

a, No insurance or no fertility coverage. b. Fertility limits or maxed out. c. Unknown fertility coverage

There were two general questions related to SRH (Table 12) and QoL (Table 13) from the FertiQoL (not used in that analysis). The distribution was similar between the groups with overall SRH as *good* or *very good* and QoL as *satisfied* or *very satisfied*.

Table 12

Summary of Se	lf-Rated Health
---------------	-----------------

	Lesbian, n (%)	Nonlesbian, n (%)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
Very poor	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.3)
Poor	1 (1.0)	3 (1.4)	4 (1.3)
Neither good nor poor	7 (6.9)	21 (10.0)	28 (8.9)
Good	61 (59.8)	120 (56.9)	181 (57.8)
Very good	33 (32.4)	66 (31.3)	99 (31.6)
Missing	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.3)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

Table 13

Summary of Quality of Life

	Lesbian, n (%)]	Nonlesbian, n (%	%) Total, <i>n</i> (%)
Very dissatisfied	0 (0)	3 (1.4)	3 (1.0)
Dissatisfied	1 (1.0)	5 (2.4)	6 (1.9)
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	6 (5.9)	19 (9.0)	25 (8.0)
Satisfied	55 (53.9)	113 (53.6)	168 (53.7)
Very satisfied	40 (39.2)	71 (33.6)	111 (35.5)
Missing	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.3)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)

For RQ1, the binary logistic regression included three variables: the dependent variable of parental status and the independent variables of insured status and PSS. I repeated the analysis to include self-identification in the model. In the following sections I describe how each variable was handled and present the descriptive summaries and cross-tabulations.

Parental status. Response to the question "Are you a parent (bio, co, step, adoptive, foster, etc.)?" (response 0 = no, 1 = yes) was used as the dependent variable (parental status). Table 14 shows the crosstab assessment of Parent × ART experience. Eighty-six percent of lesbian parents had ART experience, compared with 56.8% of nonlesbian parents, and this difference was statistically significant at the .05 level.

Conversely, only 14% of lesbian parents did not have ART experience compared with 41.3% of nonlesbian parents. Of those who were not parents, nonlesbians had more ART experience, whereas lesbians were less likely to have ART experience. Three nonlesbian women reported that they were a parent but had no plan/desire to be a parent (based on the ART experience question).

Table 14

Parental		Most identif	Most identify with, <i>n</i> (%)				
status	ART experience	Lesbian	Nonlesbian	Total, <i>n</i> (%)			
Yes	I have no plan/desire to be a parent	$0 (0)_{a}$	3 (1.9) _a	3 (1.5)			
	I have no experience with fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction	7 (14.0) _a	64 (41.3) _b	71 (34.6)			
	I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction	43 (86.0) _a	88 (56.8) _b	131 (63.9)			
	Total (parent = yes)	50 (100.0)	155 (100.0)	205 (100.0)			
No	I have no plan/desire to be a parent	$22(42.3)_{a}$	27 (47.4) _a	49 (45.0)			
	I have no experience with fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction	18 (34.6) _a	12 (21.1) _a	30 (27.5)			
	I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction	12 (23.1) _a	18 (31.6) _a	30 (27.5)			
	Total (parent = no) T	52 (100.0)	57 (100.0)	109 (100.0)			
Total	I have no plan/desire to be a parent	$22(21.6)_{a}$	$30(14.2)_{a}$	52 (16.6)			
	I have no experience with fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction	25 (24.5) _a	76 (35.8) _b	101 (32.2)			
	I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction	55 (53.9) _a	106 (50.0) _a	161 (51.3)			
	Total (all)	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)			

Cross-Tabulation for Parental Status, ART Experience, and Most Identify With

Note. Each subscript letter denotes a subset of "For the purposes of this research, please select which of the following you most identify with" categories whose column proportions do not differ significantly from each other at the .05 level.

Health insurance/insured status. Insured status was measured using a 5-point scale. More than half of all participants had insurance but were not aware of the fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage, and this proportion difference was statistically significant at the .05 level. Also notable was that more than twice the percentage of lesbians compared with nonlesbians had insurance with no coverage for fertility/infertility treatment, with all costs being out of pocket; this proportional difference was statistically significant at the .05 level.

Because there were one or more expected cell frequencies less than five, one of the statistical assumptions was violated. I collapsed the insured status into three categories (Table 15) to meet the assumption of expected cell frequencies greater than five. There was a statistically significant association between insured status and most identify with, $\chi^2(2) = 6.063$, p = .048.

Table 15

	Most identif		
Insured status	Lesbian	Nonlesbian	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
No insurance or no fertility coverage	20 (45.5)	24 (54.5)	44 (14.0)
Fertility limits or maxed out	38 (37.3)	69 (32.5)	107 (34.1)
Unknown fertility coverage	44 (43.1)	119 (56.1)	163 (51.9)
Total	102 (100.0)	212 (100.0)	314 (100.0)
p < .05			

Cross-Tabulation for Collapsed Insured Status and Most Identify With

Perceived stress. Also used for RQ1, the PSS total score was a sum of 14 questions with values ranging from 0 to 56 (some items required reverse scoring). Based on the distribution and to facilitate comparison, the scale was divided into three levels. A

0–18 score was considered low stress, 19–37 as moderate stress, and 38–56 as high perceived stress. The majority were in the moderate stress range. There were five nonlesbians and no lesbians with scores in the high-stress category. There were 29 participants with missing PSS scores (10 lesbians and 19 nonlesbians).

Since there were few in the high stress category, the expected cell frequency was less than five and one of the statistical assumptions was violated. I added the high to the moderate group, and this met the assumption for expected cell frequencies. I conducted a chi-square test for association using PSS (low, moderate/high) score and most identify with (Table 16). The association was not statistically significant between level of perceived stress and most identify with, $\chi^2(1) = 1.798$, p = .180.

Table 16

Cross-Tabulation for Perceived Stress Score and Most Identify With

	Total, <i>n</i> (%)		
Low	38 (41.3)	64 (33.2)	102 (35.8)
Moderate/high	54 (58.7)	129 (66.8)	183 (64.2)
Total	92 (100.0)	193 (100.0)	285 (100.0)
p > .05			

Table 17 provides a crosstab summary of most identify with, insured status, and perceived stress with parental status and the respective chi-square for each association. There was a statistically significant association between parental status and most identify with, $\chi^2(1) = 17.640$, p < .001, insured status, $\chi^2(2) = 8.475$, p < .014, and perceived stress $\chi^2(1) = 6.166$, p < .013.

Cross-Tabulation for Parental Status, Most Identify With, Insured Status, and Perceived Stress

	Parental St		
Total	No, 109 (100.0)	Yes, 205 (100.0)	Total, <i>n</i> (%)
Most identify with $(p < .001)$			314 (100.0)
Lesbian	52 (47.7)	50 (24.4)	102 (32.5)
Nonlesbian	57 (52.3)	155 (75.6)	212 (67.5)
Insured status ($p = .014$)			314 (100.0)
No insurance or no fertility coverage	20 (18.3)	24 (11.7)	44 (14.0)
Fertility limits or maxed out	26 (23.9)	81 (39.5)	107 (34.1)
Unknown fertility coverage	63 (57.8)	100 (48.8)	163 (51.9)
Perceived stress $(p = .013)$			285 (100.0)
Low	45 (45.5)	57 (30.6)	102 (35.8)
Medium/high	54 (54.5)	129 (69.4)	183 (64.2)

Research Question 1: Insured Status, Perceived Stress, and Parenting Choice

RQ1: What is the predictive relationship between insured status, level of perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians?

For RQ1, logistic regression was the method used to assess the predictive relationship between insured status (independent variable), perceived stress level (independent variable), and parental status (dependent variable). Since the dependent variable was dichotomous, I used binary logistic regression. If the analysis used ART experience as the dependent variable (with three response levels), I would have used multinomial logistic regression.

The percentage who were "not parents, had low stress, and had insurance limits on fertility coverage" was more than seven times higher for lesbians than nonlesbians. The percentage who were parents, had moderate stress, and did not know their insurance limits for fertility was nearly double for nonlesbians versus lesbians. Nonlesbian parents were less aware of their insurance status (54.2% vs. 34%), suggesting that lesbians may be slightly more informed about fertility coverage. Regardless of parental status or PSS level, lesbians were more than twice as likely as nonlesbians (18.5% vs. 8.3%, respectively) to lack fertility/infertility treatment coverage (all costs are out of pocket). Overall, nonlesbian women were less aware of their insurance coverage for fertility/infertility than lesbians (56.1% vs. 43.1%, respectively), regardless of parental status and perceived stress.

A binomial logistic regression was performed to ascertain the association between insured status, perceived stress, and most identify with on the likelihood that participants were parents. The logistic regression model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(4) = 26.64$, p < .001. The model explained 12.3% (Nagelkerke R²) of the variance in parental status and correctly classified 67.7% of cases. Sensitivity was 86.6%, specificity was 32.3%, positive predictive value was 70.6% and negative predictive value was 56.1%. Table 18 shows the model output. I used three levels of insured status and two levels of perceived stress for the RQ1 analysis. In the model, the association between insured status and parental status was statistically significant, p = .010. In this study, the odds that a participant with fertility limits or maxed out coverage is a parent were 2.756 times higher than those with no insurance or no fertility coverage. Perceived stress was a positive and statistically significant predictor of parental status, p = .035. Most identify with was also a positive predictor of parental status and statistically significant when added to the model, p = .001.

Logistic Regression Model: Predictive Relationship Between Insured Status, Perceived Stress, Most Identify With, and Parental Status

		В	S.E.	Wald	df	р	OR	95% CI Lower	for OR Upper
Step	No insurance or no fertility coverage			9.210	2	.010	1.000		
1^{a}	Fertility limits or maxed out	1.014	.414	6.001	1	.014	2.756	1.225	6.203
	Unknown fertility coverage.	.176	.379	.215	1	.643	1.192	.568	2.504
	Perceived stress	.563	.267	4.440	1	.035	1.757	1.040	2.967
	Most identify with	940	.275	11.661	1	.001	.391	.228	.670
	Constant	.196	.398	.243	1	.622	1.217		

Note. N = 285. CI = confidence interval

a. Variables entered on step 1: insured status, perceived stress, and most identify with

I repeated the binomial logistic regression adding region and income along with insured status, perceived stress level, and most identify with. The model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(9) = 35.37$, p < .001. The model explained 16.8% (Nagelkerke R²) of the variance in parental status and correctly classified 69% of cases. In this model, of the five predictor variables, region and income were not statistically significant (Table 19).

95% CI for OR В S.E. Wald *df* p OR Lower Upper Step Insured status 1^a No insurance or no fertility 2 .030 1.000 7.023 coverage Fertility limits or maxed out .805 .432 3.470 .062 2.237 .959 5.219 1 Unknown fertility coverage -.019 .396 .002 1 .961 .981 .451 2.133 .666 5.332 1 .021 1.947 Perceived stress .289 1.106 3.428 Most identify with -.973 .293 11.039 1 .001 .378 .213 .671 Region 7.465 4 .113 1.000 Ex-U. S. 10.550 Northeast 1.050 .666 2.485 .775 1 .115 2.858 Southeast .211 .725 .085 1 .771 1.235 .298 5.116 Midwest .361 .783 .212 1 .645 1.434 .309 6.648 Southwest/West .686 .760 1 .383 1.985 .425 9.280 .787 .519 .075 1.680 Income level .292 3.161 1 .948 2.977 -.803 .742 1.171 1 .279 .448 Constant

Logistic Regression Model: Predictive Relationship Between Insured Status, Perceived Stress, Most Identify With, Region, Income, and Parental Status

Note. N = 314. CI = confidence interval

a. Variables entered on step 1 (ref): insured status, perceived stress, most identify with, region, income

Research Question 2: Fertility Quality of Life

RQ2: For women who have experienced ART, what is the difference in FertiQoL

total, core, and treatment scores between lesbians and nonlesbians?

To assess the hypothesis for RQ2, I conducted an independent samples *t*-test.

Within SPSS, I selected cases based on the ART experience response = 3 ("I have

experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction"). The number

of responses differed for each category. The FertiQoL total score had 61 responses (23

lesbians and 38 nonlesbians), the core score had 85 responses (28 lesbians and 57 nonlesbians), and 63 provided responses for the treatment score (24 lesbians and 39 nonlesbians).

In the current study, lesbians had a higher FertiQoL total score (M = 91.65, SD = 14.88) than nonlesbians (M = 85.92, SD = 20.97), with a mean difference between groups of 5.73 and a 95% CI [-4.277, 15.739] that includes zero (Table 20). Levene's test was not significant, p = .102, so we assume that the population variances are equal. Table 20 displays the equal variances assumed details for the independent samples *t*-test. The test was not significant, t(59) = 1.146, p = .256.

Table 20

	Ind	epend	ent S	amples	Т	Test	for	Mean	Fert	iQol	LΊ	^r otal	Sc	core
--	-----	-------	-------	--------	---	------	-----	------	------	------	----	-------------------	----	------

	Leven	e's test	r equality of	means				
Equal variances	F	Sig.	Т	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean difference	SE difference	95% CI
Assumed	2.754	0.102	1.146	59	0.256	5.731	5.001	[-4.277, 15.739]
Not assumed			1.245	57.378	0.218	5.731	4.605	[-3.489, 14.951]

Among participants, lesbians had a higher FertiQoL core score (M = 64.96, SD = 12.58) than nonlesbians (M = 60.32, SD = 14.37), with a mean difference between groups of 4.65 and a 95% CI [-1.693, 10.990] that includes zero (Table 21). Levene's test was not significant, p = .511, for the FertiQoL core score, so we can assume that the population variances are equal. Table 21 displays the equal variances assumed details for the independent samples *t*-test using the FertiQoL core score. The test was not significant, t(83) = 1.458, p = .149.

	Leven	e's test			<i>t</i> -Test for	equality of	f means	
Equal variances	F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean difference	SE e differenc	95% CI e
Assumed	0.436	0.511	1.458	83	0.149	4.648	3.188	[-1.693, 10.990]
Not assumed			1.526	60.712	0.132	4.648	3.045	[-1.442, 10.739]

Independent Samples T Test for Mean FertiQoL Core Score

Among participants, lesbians had a higher FertiQoL treatment score (M = 27.25, SD = 5.89) than nonlesbians (M = 26.41, SD = 7.39), with a mean difference between groups of .840 and a 95% CI [-2.719, 4.398] that includes zero. Table 22 displays the equal variances assumed details for the independent samples *t*-test using the FertiQoL treatment score. Levene's test was not significant, p = .319, for the FertiQoL treatment score, so we can assume that the population variances are equal. The test was not significant, t(61) = .472, p = .639.

Table 22

Independent Samples T Test for Mean FertiQoL Treatment Score

	Leven	e's test		<i>t</i> -Test for equality of means					
Equal variances	F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean difference	SE e difference	95% CI	
Assumed	1.011	0.319	0.472	61	0.639	0.840	1.780	[-2.719, 4.398]	
Not assumed			0.498	56.866	0.620	0.840	1.686	[-2.536, 4.216]	

The analyses for RQ2 affirmed the null; there was not a statistically significant difference in FertiQoL total, core, or treatment scores among lesbians and nonlesbians. While the FertiQoL mean scores were not significantly different in the current study, the treatment score had the narrowest margin between means (less than one).

Research Question 3: Degree of Outness Among Lesbians

RQ3: What is the difference in the degree of outness as measured by the ALIDA-II between lesbians with and without children?

Seventy-five of the 102 lesbian participants completed the ALIDA-II. Three nonlesbians completed the ALIDA-II, and I excluded these from the analysis. To assess RQ3, I used the compare means, independent samples *t*-test in SPSS and selected cases with ID = 0 (lesbian). Table 23 shows the descriptive statistics for the comparison of the degree of outness measured using the ALIDA-II among lesbians by parental status. In this study subset, there were 33 with and 42 without children.

Table 23

Descriptive Statistics for Mean ALIDA-II Score by Parental Status

Are you a parent (bio, co, step, adoptive, foster, etc.)?	n	Mean	SD	SE mean
Yes	33	79.03	20.995	3.655
No	42	56.52	15.363	2.371

For RQ3, Levene's test was significant, p = .029, for ALIDA-II, so we can assume that the population variances are different. Table 24 displays the equal variances not assumed details for the independent samples *t*-test using the ALIDA-II. The test was significant, t(56.75) = 5.17, p < .001. Lesbian parents had a higher ALIDA-II score (M =79.03, SD = 20.99) than nonparents (M = 56.52, SD = 15.36), indicating a higher degree of outness. The mean difference between groups was 22.51, and the 95% CI [13.783, 31.230] does not include zero, agreeing with the significant *p*-value.

	Levene's test		<i>t</i> -Test for equality of means					
Equal variances	F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean difference	SE difference	95% CI e
Assumed	4.965	0.029	5.360	73	0.000	22.506	4.199	[14.139, 30.874]
Not assumed			5.167	56.749	0.000	22.506	4.356	[13.783, 31.230]

Independent Samples T Test for Mean ALIDA-II Score by Parental Status

I reject the null hypothesis for RQ3 and affirm the alternative. Lesbians with children had a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness (higher score) compared with lesbians without children, as measured by the ALIDA-II.

Summary

The population subsets in the current study had similar demographic profiles based on age, race, and education, with slight distribution differences in employment status and income. Most were White, employed full time, and held a graduate degree; nonlesbian women reported higher household income. Eighty-six percent of lesbian parents had ART experience, compared with 56.8% of nonlesbian parents, and this difference was statistically significant at the .05 level.

There were three research questions to be assessed based on responses from the 314 participants and the appropriate study subsets. Each involved describing the sample and testing the significance of the associations. RQ1 included all participants with data. RQ2 was a subset based on ART experience (cases selected based on the response "I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction"). RQ3 used the subset of participants who self-identified as lesbians. To test the association

between parental status, insured status, and perceived stress (RQ1), I used binary logistic regression. For RQ2 and RQ3, I used the comparison of means to assess the independent samples *t*-test. For RQ1, the model was sensitive to insured status and perceived stress; most identify with was also a statistically significant predictor of parental status but region and income were not statistically significant. There were no statistically significant differences in ART experience based on the FertiQoL (total, core, and treatment) scores between groups for RQ2. However, there was a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness measured by ALIDA-II between lesbians with and without children (RQ3).

In Chapter 5, I interpret the findings in the context of the theoretical framework and available literature. I discuss the study limitations, recommendations for future research, and suggestions for improvements in policy and practice as a matter of public health. Lastly, I describe the potential positive social change impact. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

Women who identify as lesbian may experience stigma and stress, which can have an adverse impact on health (Alencar Albuquerque et al., 2016; Denton et al., 2014; Eliason, 2014; Meyer, 2015). With restrictions like the Defense of Marriage Act, women in same-sex relationships often lack access to equal benefits such as health care insurance (Perone, 2015). Barriers like lack of insurance coverage can contribute to differences in health care access including reproductive options (Flenar et al., 2017; Müller, 2017), which leads to minority stress.

I collected socioeconomic and sociocultural information from lesbian and nonlesbian women regarding their parental status, experience with fertility/infertility, health care insurance, and perceived stress. In this final chapter, I review the study purpose, the statistical process for assessing the relationship between the selected variables, and the interpretation of the research findings. I conclude with a discussion of the public health importance and potential social change impact of this research and include recommendations for future research.

Summary of the Findings

I recruited half as many women who self-identified as lesbian (102) compared to women who self-identified as nonlesbian (212). The population subsets in the current study had similar demographic profiles based on age, race, and education, with slight distribution differences in employment status and income. Most participants were White, employed full time, and held a graduate degree; nonlesbian women reported higher household income. Eighty-six percent of lesbian parents had ART experience compared to 56.8% of nonlesbian parents, and this difference was statistically significant at the .05 level.

Insured Status, Perceived Stress, and Parenting Choice

The first research question addressed the predictive relationship between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians. Among lesbians, the split was nearly even between parents (49%) and nonparents (51%), whereas most nonlesbian participants were parents (73.1%). The results of the logistic regression analyses indicated that insured status (p = .010) and perceived stress (p = .035), had statistically significant associations with parenting status indicating a positive and predictive relationship with parental status. The odds that a participant with fertility limits or maxed out coverage is a parent were 2.756 times higher than those with no insurance or no fertility coverage. The addition of most identify with was also statistically significant as a predictor in the model (p = .001).

Nonlesbians were less aware of their insurance coverage for fertility compared to lesbians, suggesting they had less of a need to know. Like findings reported by Buchmueller and Carpenter (2010), in the current study, there was a disparity in insured status between lesbians and nonlesbians. Lesbians were more likely to lack any health insurance or had a lack of fertility/infertility coverage (19.6%) compared with nonlesbians (11.3%). Among parents, a higher percentage of lesbians had ART experience (86%) than nonlesbians (56.8%); conversely, 14% of lesbians compared with 41.3% of nonlesbians did not have ART experience. More lesbians indicated no desire to

be a parent (21.6%) compared to nonlesbians (14.2%). The most notable difference in the perceived stress scores was that there were no lesbians in the high PSS range; overall, the majority fell into the moderate stress range.

Fertility Quality of Life

The second research question addressed whether the FertiQoL scores differed between lesbians and nonlesbians who reported experience with fertility, infertility, or some form of assisted reproduction (ART experience). The between-group (lesbian and nonlesbian) differences in FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores were not statistically significantly different, p > .05. Lesbians scored higher than nonlesbians with a mean difference of 5.73 in total score and 4.65 in core score, and the treatment score had the narrowest margin of 0.840. These findings appear to reflect an association between fertility intentions and fertility behaviors, as previously described by Schoen et al. (1999).

Degree of Outness Among Lesbians

The final research question addressed whether the degree of outness differed between lesbians with and without children. The mean score was statistically significantly different, p < .001 between the groups, so I rejected the null hypothesis and affirmed the alternative hypothesis. The degree of outness based on the ALIDA-II score was statistically significantly higher among lesbians with children.

Interpretation of the Findings

There were several similarities in the demographic characteristics between the population subsets, but I also noted some unanticipated differences in the study sample. For example, 50% or more of the respondents within each subgroup had some ART

experience (53.9% lesbian, 50% nonlesbian). This may be what drew individuals to participate in this study. Findings indicated a lack of awareness concerning health insurance status in terms of fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage, with 51.9% of all participants unaware of their policy terms. These findings align with work previously published by Daniluk et al. (2012) and Daniluk and Koert (2013), who noted that a gap exists in knowledge about fertility and ART among adult men and women who are childless. But awareness of the fertility lifespan and the costs and limitations of ART treatment is essential to making informed childbearing decisions (Daniluk & Koert, 2013; Daniluk et al., 2012; S. K. Mishra, 2014; A. Wu et al., 2013). Thus, this study contributes to this needed understanding, which addresses a barrier to seeking health care that may contribute to disparities attributable to social stigma and discrimination (Schwartz & Baral, 2015).

Further, based on the current study sample of 314 participants, there was a statistically significant association between health insured status and parental status. Perceived stress also had a statistically significant association with parental status in the model. Although this observation is important, there are additional aspects to explore, as the PSS-14 did not discern the source of stress. Identity (i.e., lesbian/nonlesbian) was the most statistically significant variable when added to the model. This finding supports the work of Denton et al. (2014), who noted that experiences of perceived discrimination may be linked to expectations of rejection, a potential risk for lesbians in the health care setting. As a matter of public health, positive changes that provide an infrastructure supportive of lesbian parents would reduce the negative effects of minority stress

(Cherguit et al., 2013). This evidence supports minority stress as a potential factor for lesbians considering parenthood (see Schwartz & Baral, 2015). Other factors likely influence parent choice beyond those considered in the current study. For example, experiences of lesbians specific to ART health care professionals could be a topic for future research, especially considering that lesbian experiences with health professionals can either be positive and affirming or insulting and homophobic (O'Neill et al., 2013).

Another important finding was that for participants with ART experience, there was not a statistically significant difference based on the FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores between the population subgroups; however, the narrowest margin between group means was in the treatment score (less than 1). A small difference in the treatment score could reflect a difference in the experience of lesbians who seek ART, as Marques et al. (2015) found regarding general encounters of lesbians with health services. Overall, lesbian scores were higher than nonlesbian scores in the current study. These findings align with work by Borneskog, Lampic, Sydsjö, Bladh, and Svanberg (2014), who reported higher relationship satisfaction among lesbian couples compared with their heterosexual counterparts regardless of the ART journey or outcome.

Lastly, the ALIDA-II score as a measure of the degree of outness was statistically significantly different between lesbians with and without children, an important factor added to the ALIDA-II by van Dam (2015). The degree of outness is an essential measure in understanding potential health-related issues associated with disclosure of sexual orientation (van Dam, 2014, 2015). Self-disclosure may be related to minority stress, and homonegative experiences may adversely impact willingness to disclose. Discussion of

sexual orientation is likely secondary to traditional care rather than part of the holistic approach (Macapagal et al., 2016; Munson & Cook, 2016). This is an area of health care in need of improvement.

Although insurance coverage often dictates what evidence is required to move to the next level of fertility treatment, some couples, particularly lesbians, may desire and benefit from a more aggressive approach (Dar et al., 2015; Eyler et al., 2014). Less invasive methods are used to manage cost and risk, but one-size guidelines are outdated and were established to treat traditional heterosexual couples (Marvel et al., 2016; S. K. Mishra, 2014). Lesbians may benefit from a more progressive approach, which may require changes in fertility policies and practice (Carpinello et al., 2016; Charlton et al., 2011; Greenfeld & Seli, 2016). Policy updates, such as changes to fertility options based on the individual rather than blanketed factors that enhance options for all, may reflect positive social change with public health impact for lesbians seeking ART.

Study Findings and Minority Stress Theory

Health risks and health outcomes are affected by sexual minority health experience, including access to health care (N. Hsieh & Ruther, 2016). Studies have shown that members of the LGBT community lack access to health care and that disclosure of sexual orientation can adversely impact the health care experience (Farrow, 2015; Germanos et al., 2015; Homma et al., 2016; Law et al., 2015; Macapagal et al., 2016). In the current study, findings indicate a lack of awareness of fertility coverage, yet at least half of the participants had some type of ART experience. For lesbians, fear of disclosure can lead to derogatory encounters or refusal of care from providers, contributing to minority stress (Quinn et al., 2015; van Dam, 2014). But the results from the ALIDA-II in the current study showed that lesbian parents had a higher degree of outness than lesbian nonparents, contributing evidence that differences exist between lesbians with and without children. Lesbians are made virtually invisible or at least marginalized by current societal institutions (Meyer, 2015), and such conditions or events create minority stress. Lesbians may benefit from positive social change that supports self-disclosure, reducing stigmatized stress.

Limitations of the Study

Because this was the first study of its kind to quantitatively explore the association between insured status, perceived stress, and parental status among lesbians and nonlesbians, it was not possible to compare findings with those from previous studies. There were also some anticipated limitations with the current study, including recruitment and the phrasing of several research questions. Other limitations include the fact that more than 90% of participants were White and nearly half (49.3%) were from two New England states (Connecticut and Massachusetts).

Additionally, the total number of participants met the estimated number required, and the distribution between lesbians and nonlesbians was better than expected, yet there were missing responses that could have affected the results. For example, the FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores each had a different number of responses. Of 55 lesbians and 106 nonlesbians with ART experience, the average number of lesbian responses for the FertiQoL was 25, and nonlesbian responses averaged 45. Similarly, not all lesbians completed the ALIDA-II. Incomplete responses are a risk with anonymous, online, quantitative surveys. I monitored survey responses for the key variables (insured status, perceived stress, parental status). The impact of missing data, if any, could not be fully assessed until all variables were coded, scores were calculated, and data were analyzed. I powered the study based on RQ1, and there were minimal missing data among those variables.

Missing or partial responses, lack of regional distribution, race, and education clusters could limit the generalizability of the findings. Wording of questions narrowed the response options (i.e., choice of lesbian or nonlesbian, insured status categories, and ART experience), which impacted the results. The choice to use published tools (PSS-14, FertiQoL, and ALIDA-II) was limiting, where others may have been more suitable. Future researchers could consider developing novel instruments.

Recruitment Limitations

I relied on recruitment through social media, e-mail, and snowballing. The study sample was random but may have been somewhat narrow, given the reliance on personal interactions and sharing via networking. I did recruit the projected 300 participants and exceeded the initial estimate of 80 needed for a lesbian-only study. But the number of Black or African American and Asian participants was low, so the generalizability of findings is limited based on a predominantly White study sample. A future study could focus on subpopulations based on race to explore differences. Further, most respondents were from New England states which limits generalizability of the study results. I employed professional networking to widen the recruitment, but this still had limitations. Future researchers could attempt broader sampling or focus on a region or community to delve into detail (Barefoot et al., 2017).

Limitations Related to the Survey Questions

Colleagues provided feedback about the first survey question, which limited the self-identification to two categories: lesbian and nonlesbian. The risk of participants disliking the limited choices was anticipated and accepted. While there is no way to know definitively, some nonheterosexual women may have selected nonlesbian because they do not identify with the "lesbian" label. Even within the LGBT community, there is a wide range of self-identification and some who dislike binary choices (Durso & Meyer, 2013). The wording could have had an impact on the results and the generalizability of findings (see Herman, 2014). Given the quantitative nature of the study, response options were deliberately limited to facilitate summarization.

The decision to use "Are you a parent?" as the dependent variable in the analysis for RQ1 had limitations. Alternatively, I could have used the question "Thinking about parenthood, fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction, which category best describes you/your experience?" The limitation with the latter was that wanting to be a parent and trying alternative methods does not guarantee becoming a parent. Schwartz and Baral (2015) described how most studies of marginalized women have focused on the child, while preconception and ART effectiveness have been understudied. For future research, I would suggest crafting an alternative question to better distinguish parental desire or intent from status. Within the current study, three participants indicated no desire to be a parent, yet their parental status response was yes. Some of the study questions were intentionally restrictive which affected the results. For example, the response categories used for health insured status and ART experience made it challenging to address the aspirational level of inquiry. I did not intend for perceived stress to reflect minority stress directly; it is highly unlikely that any single factor could (see Puckett et al., 2017). When designing this novel study, I did not anticipate these nuances. Learnings from the current study offer a foundation for future research.

Limitations Based on Timing and Social Climate

I based the research questions on the assumption that factors associated with parenting choice differ between lesbian and nonlesbian women. For example, under the Defense of Marriage Act, same-sex couples lacked access to insurance as a couple or family (Perone, 2015). If I had conducted this study before the Defense of Marriage Act was overturned in 2015, the results may have been different. In fact, only one lesbian reported no health insurance, while 18.6% of lesbians lacked fertility coverage. I did not include factors like human resource or insurance policies, health care practices, or political climate in the current study; these considerations are also important to understand. The 2020 U.S. Census demonstrates how tenuous favorable changes might be with the removal of questions to count LGBT Americans (Moreau, 2018). Additional studies are recommended to assess the sociocultural factors that were out of scope for the current research.
Recommendations

There is a lack of quantitative studies that have examined factors associated with lesbian parenting choice. Individuals who are marginalized are often subjected to discrimination, which creates minority stress, a topic that has not been well studied in public health (Meyer, 2015). In the current study, lesbians were more likely to be un- or underinsured when it came to fertility coverage compared to nonlesbians. Insured status was positively and statistically significantly associated with parental status in the model. This finding aligns with work reported by Buchmueller and Carpenter (2010), who also noted that lesbians had a gap in utilization of coverage. The participants in the current study were predominantly White, well educated, and employed. A future study could explore regional variations to better understand generalizability.

Perceived stress was another variable explored in the current study, and it was also associated with parental status in the model. No lesbians were in the high-stress category. I am unable to conclude, however, which aspect of parenting (if any) the stress may be associated with. Future research should more directly target aspects of parenthood from attempts at conception and beyond (e.g., insurance, health care access, treatment experience, home-related stressors) as they relate to outcomes (Pandey et al., 2014).

Results from the ALIDA-II demonstrate that not all lesbians are fully disclosed, although lesbians with children are more out. As Carrotte et al. (2016) found, much improvement is needed to improve information collection methods. The current study used a convenience sample and was highly reliant on networking, so the pool may have had some level of bias. Lesbians were not asked about their partners/families or if there were other reasons that contributed to nondisclosure. Family care needs is a potential topic for exploration in future research.

There is a lack of quantitative research on preconception care, access, experiences, and outcomes of lesbians who attempt ART. In the current study, approximately half of each group (lesbians and nonlesbians) had some experience with fertility, infertility, or ART. Fertility treatment is expensive and invasive and can continue for many months or years, and the levels of associated stress can have an impact on outcomes (Stevenson & Sloane, 2017). While in the current study, the FertiQoL scores were similar for lesbians and nonlesbians, efforts are still needed to destigmatize assisted reproduction and remove the barriers to care (Gato, Leal, & Tasker, 2019). Local organizations like RESOLVE New England (n.d.) are leading the way in "building a caring community within New England to support, inform, and advocate for all those struggling with fertility and family building." National or global efforts will likely be slow to follow. Unfortunately, the United States is not a leader in this regard (Faccio, Iudici, & Cipolletta, 2019). A future study should specifically examine the ART-related experiences of lesbians to better assess the impact of provider behaviors and attitudes in this setting (Hayman, Wilkes, Halcomb et al., 2013).

Continued research is needed, especially as the social and political climates shift and affect specific subsets of the general population (Moreau, 2018). In the current study, the focus was on lesbians, parental status, insured status (related to ART coverage), and perceived stress. Researchers should strive to continue to understand the barriers this marginalized population faces in all aspects of health care (policies, coverage, access, attitudes, etc.) and continue to add evidence for needed social change. Expansion of existing data collection resources to specifically include lesbians and their families would signify positive social change (Carrotte et al., 2016; Wolff et al., 2017).

Implications for Positive Social Change

In the field of social epidemiology, researchers often use the survey method to analyze the social determinants of health based on a population-representative sample (Chandola et al., 2014). As a matter of public health, we should better understand the health-related barriers facing lesbians and address them. The current study was the first of its kind to quantitatively explore factors associated with parenting of lesbians and their ART experience. The fact that more than 50% of all participants were unaware of their health insurance policy terms for fertility, infertility, or assisted reproduction highlights an opportunity for positive social change and public health impact. There are gaps beyond provision of insurance, and any change in strategy should address the unmet medical needs and reduce disparities for lesbians. In this study perceived stress was statistically significant in the model of association with parental status. We know that marginalized groups experience discrimination, and perceived stress was only one of many potential indicators of minority stress. These aspects have not been fully developed within public health (Meyer, 2015).

An individual's reproductive choice should not be assumed or limited based on sexual orientation, yet lesbian couples still face challenges when seeking ART or alternative paths to parenting (De Wert et al., 2014; Eyler et al., 2014; Rozental &

Malmquist, 2015). Assisted reproduction is often considered a matter of ethics when defining family (Mathieu, 2013; S. K. Mishra, 2014). All women should have equal and unlimited access to reproductive choice and care, yet the financial burden is a factor in this decision, along with time and emotional expense (Pennings, 2015; Pratesi, 2012; A. K. Wu et al., 2014). While many insurance carriers have provisions for treating infertility, the benefits vary greatly, as was seen for lesbians in the current study (Hamilton & McManus, 2012; Jouannet & Spira, 2014; Murphy, 2015).

There is a lack of research exploring the lesbian reproductive (ART) experience (Schwartz & Baral, 2015). Most previously reported studies were qualitative or longitudinal (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al., 2014; Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim et al., 2013). Within this small study sample, lesbians had higher mean scores overall than nonlesbians in the FertiQoL. This observation may reflect an association between fertility intentions and attitudes, since lesbians may have few alternatives to becoming parents. It is imperative to understand the factors influencing the decisions of lesbian and same-sex couples to pursue parenthood (Morin et al., 2014; Webb et al., 2016). This knowledge has implications essential for educating policy makers on how to reduce or eliminate disparities as a matter of public health (Alessi, 2014; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Lemoine & Ravitsky, 2013). Shifting social constructs to improve social inclusivity would minimize minority stress and enhance the ART experience of this unique population subset of women (Wolff et al., 2017). Ensuring health care access and favorable social conditions would promote positive change for lesbians considering parenthood (Patterson, 2017; Pratesi, 2012; Stone & Weinberg, 2015; Verbiest et al., 2016).

This quantitative study, which explored the association among parental status, insured status, and perceived stress, was novel. In the literature, no studies are available for comparison that quantitatively examined variables in the experience of lesbians considering parenthood or seeking ART (Power et al., 2010). Overall, the findings from this study suggest that lesbians may face fertility-related insurance challenges but generally have higher fertility QoL than nonlesbians and that lesbians with children have a greater degree of disclosure.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to sample lesbian and nonlesbian women to learn about factors associated with parental status. These data contribute to the epidemiologic evidence needed to understand parenting choice and reproductive experiences of lesbians compared with nonlesbians. Factors that contribute to fertility-related health disparities for lesbians as a minority population qualify under the tenets of public health. The study findings have implications for positive social change by reducing minority stress and improving lesbian reproductive opportunities and experiences.

The hypothesis was that health insured status and perceived stress would be factors of importance. As a sexual minority, lesbians may experience minority stress when facing barriers, particularly those related to health. The assumption was that identifying factors that create obstacles could influence policy as a matter of public health. Such improvements would reflect a positive social change. Where disparities exist in terms of health care access, they should be reduced or eliminated, and no group should be disproportionately affected. This study affirmed a difference in fertility-related insurance coverage for lesbians compared with nonlesbians within the sample. Policy updates expanding reproductive options would reflect positive social change with public health impact for lesbians seeking ART.

Using primary data collection, 314 participants responded to the survey online. The women self-identified as a lesbian (102) or nonlesbian (212) and provided their state of residence and demographic details for age, education level, employment status, household income, and race/ethnicity. I chose to use the response to the question of parental status for the outcome of parenting choice rather than ART experience due to complexities that may not have addressed the question. I evaluated the predictive relationship between health insurance status and perceived stress with parental status. Logistic regression showed that insured status and perceived stress were statistically significant, as was most identify with; region and income were not statistically significant when added to the model. In the current study, the FertiQoL total, core, and treatment scores were not statistically significantly different between lesbian and nonlesbian women with ART experience. It is unclear if this indicates that the experience is the same for all women. The population subset was very small, which limits generalizability. Among lesbians, there was a statistically significant difference in the degree of outness, with higher scores among those who were parents.

This study had limitations but it was a success in achieving several objectives. Recruitment was adequate and with a desirable distribution between lesbians and nonlesbians. Self-identity, insured status, and perceived stress all had a statistically significant association with parental status. Of the two independent variables in the main research question, perceived stress was predictive of parenting status, but insured status was not statistically significant in the model. Lesbians were twice as likely as nonlesbians to be uninsured or to lack fertility coverage. No lesbians in the current study had highstress scores and most participants were in the moderate stress category.

Findings from this study add to the evidence of factors that contribute to minority stress of lesbians in the context of parenting and seeking ART. I identified gaps in my research and suggested areas for improvement with future studies. This type of data is needed to bring about social change and support public health. It is vital to continue to explore and identify health disparities among marginalized population subsets. One example is to improve policies and practice with enhanced data collection that is fully inclusive of lesbians and their families. Providing a more flexible path of fertility options for lesbians who choose to pursue parenting would have meaningful public health impact and reflect positive social change.

References

- Abdessamad, H. M., Yudin, M. H., Tarasoff, L. A., Radford, K. D., & Ross, L. E. (2013). Attitudes and knowledge among obstetrician-gynecologists regarding lesbian patients and their health. *Journal of Women's Health*, 22(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2012.3718
- Adrien, A., Beaulieu, M., Leaune, V., Perron, M., & Dassa, C. (2013). Trends in attitudes toward people living with HIV, homophobia, and HIV transmission knowledge in Quebec, Canada (1996, 2002, and 2010). *AIDS Care*, 25(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2012.674195
- Ajzen, I., & Klobas, J. (2013). Fertility intentions: An approach based on the theory of planned behavior. *Demographic Research*, 29, 203. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2013.29.8
- Alencar Albuquerque, G., de Lima Garcia, C., da Silva Quirino, G., Alves, M. J., Belém, J. M., dos Santos Figueiredo, F. W., . . . Adami, F. (2016). Access to health services by lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender persons: Systematic literature review. *BMC International Health and Human Rights, 16*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-015-0072-9
- Alessi, E. J. (2014). A framework for incorporating minority stress theory into treatment with sexual minority clients. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 18(1), 47–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/19359705.2013.789811
- Averitt Taylor, J. (2014). Reproductive health policy affecting low-income women: Historical precedents and current need for social work action. *Social Work in*

Public Health, 29(2), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2013.775872

Baams, L., Grossman, A. H., & Russell, S. T. (2015). Minority stress and mechanisms of risk for depression and suicidal ideation among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Developmental Psychology*, 51(5), 688. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038994

Bachrach, C. A., & Morgan, S. P. (2013). A cognitive–social model of fertility intentions. *Population and Development Review*, 39(3), 459–485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2013.00612.x

- Baetens, P., Camus, M., & Devroey, P. (2003). Counselling lesbian couples: Requests for donor insemination on social grounds. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 6(1), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1472-6483(10)62059-7
- Baiocco, R., & Laghi, F. (2013). Sexual orientation and the desires and intentions to become parents. *Journal of Family Studies*, 19(1), 90–98.
 https://doi.org/10.5172/jfs.2013.19.1.90
- Balsam, K. F., Beadnell, B., & Molina, Y. (2013). The Daily Heterosexist Experiences
 Questionnaire: Measuring minority stress among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and
 transgender adults. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*,
 46(1), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0748175612449743
- Barefoot, K., Warren, J., & Smalley, K. (2017). Women's health care: The experiences and behaviors of rural and urban lesbians in the USA. *Rural and Remote Health*, *17*(3875). https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH3875
- Barua, A. (2013). Methods for decision-making in survey questionnaires based on Likert scale. *Journal of Asian Scientific Research*, *3*(1), 35. Retrieved from

http://www.aessweb.com/pdf-files/35-38.pdf

- Bergstrom-Lynch, C. (2015). Lesbians, gays, and bisexuals becoming parents or remaining childfree: Confronting social inequalities. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Biblarz, T. J., & Savci, E. (2010). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72(3), 480–497. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00714.x
- Black, B. P., & Fields, W. S. (2014). Contexts of reproductive loss in lesbian couples. *American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing*, 39(3), 157–162. https://doi.org/10.1097/nmc.00000000000032
- Blanchfield, B. V., & Patterson, C. J. (2015). Racial and sexual minority women's receipt of medical assistance to become pregnant. *Health Psychology*, 34(6), 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000124
- Blondeel, K., Say, L., Chou, D., Toskin, I., Khosla, R., Scolaro, E., & Temmerman, M. (2016). Evidence and knowledge gaps on the disease burden in sexual and gender minorities: A review of systematic reviews. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 15, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0304-1
- Bogart, L. M., Revenson, T. A., Whitfield, K. E., & France, C. R. (2014). Introduction to the special section on lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) health disparities: Where we are and where we're going. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 47(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-013-9574-7

Bogenschneider, K. (2014). Family policy matters: How policymaking affects families

and what professionals can do. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203753200

- Boivin, J., Takefman, J., & Braverman, A. (2011). The Fertility Quality of Life (FertiQoL) tool: Development and general psychometric properties. *Fertility and Sterility*, 96(2), 409–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.02.046
- Bolderston, A., & Ralph, S. (2016). Improving the health care experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender patients. *Radiography*, 22(3), e207–e211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2016.04.011
- Borneskog, C., Lampic, C., Sydsjö, G., Bladh, M., & Skoog Svanberg, A. (2014). How do lesbian couples compare with heterosexual in vitro fertilization and spontaneously pregnant couples when it comes to parenting stress? *Acta Paediatrica*, 103(5), 537–545. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.12568
- Borneskog, C., Lampic, C., Sydsjö, G., Bladh, M., & Svanberg, A. S. (2014).
 Relationship satisfaction in lesbian and heterosexual couples before and after assisted reproduction: A longitudinal follow-up study. *BMC Women's Health*, 14, 154. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-014-0154-1
- Borneskog, C., Skoog Svanberg, A., Lampic, C., & Sydsjö, G. (2012). Relationship quality in lesbian and heterosexual couples undergoing treatment with assisted reproduction. *Human Reproduction*, 27(3), 779–786. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/der472
- Borneskog, C., Sydsjö, G., Lampic, C., Bladh, M., & Svanberg, A. S. (2013). Symptoms of anxiety and depression in lesbian couples treated with donated sperm: A descriptive study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and*

Gynaecology, 120(7), 839-846. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12214

- Bos, H. (2013). Lesbian-mother families formed through donor insemination. In A. E.
 Goldberg & K. R. Allen (Eds.), *LGBT-parent families: Innovations in research* and implications for practice (pp. 21–37). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4556-2 2
- Bos, H. M. W., van Balen, F., van den Boom, D. C., & Sandfort, T. G. M. (2004).
 Minority stress, experience of parenthood and child adjustment in lesbian families. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 22, 291–304.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02646830412331298350
- Bos, H., van Gelderen, L., & Gartrell, N. (2015). Lesbian and heterosexual two-parent families: Adolescent–parent relationship quality and adolescent well-being. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(4), 1031–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-014-9913-8
- Bradt, L., Vandenbroeck, M., Lammertyn, J., & Bouverne-De Bie, M. (2015). Parental expectations of maternal and child health services. *Social Work in Public Health*, 30(2), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2014.992586
- Bränström, R., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Pachankis, J. E., & Link, B. G. (2016). Sexual orientation disparities in preventable disease: A fundamental cause perspective. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(6), 1109–1115.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2016.303051
- Brewster, K. L., Tillman, K. H., & Jokinen-Gordon, H. (2014). Demographic characteristics of lesbian parents in the United States. *Population Research and*

Policy Review, 33(4), 503–526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-013-9296-3

Brodzinsky, D. M., & Goldberg, A. E. (2016). Contact with birth family in adoptive families headed by lesbian, gay male, and heterosexual parents. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 62, 9–17.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.01.014

Brown, A. (2014). Re G; Re Z (Children: Sperm donors: Leave to apply for children act orders): Essential biological fathers and invisible legal parents. *Child & Family Law Quarterly*, 26, 237. Retrieved from

https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/chilflq26&div=23 &id=&page=

- Buchmueller, T., & Carpenter, C. S. (2010). Disparities in health insurance coverage, access, and outcomes for individuals in same-sex versus different-sex relationships, 2000–2007. *American Journal of Public Health, 100*(3), 489–495. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.160804
- Buffie, W. C. (2011). Public health implications of same-sex marriage. *American Journal* of *Public Health*, 101(6), 986–990. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2010.300112
- Butterfield, J., & Padavic, I. (2014). The impact of legal inequality on relational power in planned lesbian families. *Gender & Society*, 28(5), 752–774. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243214540794
- Campbell, S. (2013). Sexual health needs and the LGBT community. *Nursing Standard*, 27(32), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2013.04.27.32.35.e7250

Cannold, L., & Gillam, L. (2002). Regulation, consultation and divergent community

views: The case of access to ART by lesbian and single women. *Journal of Law* and Medicine, 9(4), 498–510. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Lynn_Gillam/publication/11194705_Regulat ion_consultation_and_divergent_community_views_the_case_of_access_to_ART _by_lesbian_and_single_women/links/5770b79808ae6219474880dd.pdf

- Cantineau, A., Janssen, M. J., Cohlen, B. J., & Allersma, T. (2014). Synchronised approach for intrauterine insemination in subfertile couples. *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews, 12. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006942.pub3
- Carpinello, O. J., Jacob, M. C., Nulsen, J., & Benadiva, C. (2016). Utilization of fertility treatment and reproductive choices by lesbian couples. *Fertility and Sterility*, *106*(7), 1709–1713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.08.050
- Carroll, N., & Palmer, J. R. (2001). A comparison of intrauterine versus intracervical insemination in fertile single women. *Fertility and Sterility*, 75(4), 656–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(00)01782-9
- Carrotte, E. R., Vella, A. M., Bowring, A. L., Douglass, C., Hellard, M. E., & Lim, M. S. (2016). "I am yet to encounter any survey that actually reflects my life": A qualitative study of inclusivity in sexual health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*, 86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0193-4
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *National public health action plan for the detection, prevention, and management of infertility.* Atlanta, GA: Author.
- Chandola, T., Kumari, M., & Marmot, M. (2014). Social epidemiology. In *Handbook of epidemiology* (pp. 1551–1576). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-09834-0_23

- Chandra, A., Copen, C. E., & Stephen, E. H. (2013). Infertility and impaired fecundity in the United States, 1982–2010: Data from the National Survey of Family Growth. *National Health Statistics Report*, 67(67), 1–19. Retrieved from https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=0odm-jfiy0MC&rdid=book-0odmjfiy0MC&rdot=1
- Chapman, R., Wardrop, J., Zappia, T., Watkins, R., & Shields, L. (2012). The experiences of Australian lesbian couples becoming parents: Deciding, searching and birthing. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 21(13/14), 1878–1885. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.04007.x
- Charlton, B. M., Corliss, H. L., Missmer, S. A., Frazier, A. L., Rosario, M., Kahn, J. A., & Austin, S. B. (2011). Reproductive health screening disparities and sexual orientation in a cohort study of U.S. adolescent and young adult females. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 49(5), 505–510.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.03.013

- Chavkin, D. E., Molinaro, T. A., Roe, A. H., Sammel, M. D., & Dokras, A. (2012).
 Donor sperm insemination cycles: Are two inseminations better than one? *Journal of Andrology*, *33*(3), 375–380. https://doi.org/10.2164/jandrol.111.013276
- Cherguit, J., Burns, J., Pettle, S., & Tasker, F. (2013). Lesbian co-mothers' experiences of maternity healthcare services. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(6), 1269–1278. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06115.x
- Chetcuti, N., Beltzer, N., Methy, N., Laborde, C., Velter, A., Bajos, N., & Group, C. (2013). Preventive care's forgotten women: Life course, sexuality, and sexual

health among homosexually and bisexually active women in France. *Journal of Sex Research*, *50*(6), 587–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2012.657264

- Chicago Women's Health Center. (2017). *Alternative insemination*. Retrieved from http://www.chicagowomenshealthcenter.org/services-page/alternative-insemination
- Cochran, S. D., & Mays, V. M. (2016). A strategic approach to eliminating sexual orientation–related health disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(9), e4. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303271
- Coffman, K. B., Coffman, L. C., & Ericson, K. M. M. (2016). The size of the LGBT population and the magnitude of antigay sentiment are substantially underestimated. *Management Science*, 63, 3147–3529. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2016.2503
- Cohen, S., & Janicki-Deverts, D. (2012). Who's stressed? Distributions of psychological stress in the United States in probability samples from 1983, 2006, and 2009. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *42*(6), 1320–1334. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2012.00900.x
- Cohen, S., Janicki-Deverts, D., & Miller, G. E. (2007). Psychological stress and disease. *JAMA*, 298(14), 1685–1687. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.298.14.1685
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24, 385–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

Cohen, S., Williamson, G., Spacapan, S., Oskamp, S., Williamson, G., Spacapam, S., . . .

& Williamson, G. M. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In S. Spacapan & S. Oskamp (Eds.), *The social psychology of health: Claremont Symposium on Applied Social Psychology* (pp. 31–67). Newbury Park, CA: Sage. Retrieved from https://psycnet.apa.org

- Collins, A. M. (2017). Assisted conception for lesbian women. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners, 13*(1), 102–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.10.007
- Colpitts, E., & Gahagan, J. (2016). The utility of resilience as a conceptual framework for understanding and measuring LGBTQ health. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 15, 60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0349-1
- Corbett, S. L., Frecker, H. M., Shapiro, H. M., & Yudin, M. H. (2013). Access to fertility services for lesbian women in Canada. *Fertility and Sterility*, 100(4), 1077–1080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.05.048
- Costa, P. A., & Bidell, M. (2016). Modern families: Parenting desire, intention, and experience among Portuguese lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. *Journal of Family Issues*, 38(4), 500–521. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513x16683985
- Craig, B. M., Donovan, K. A., Fraenkel, L., Watson, V., Hawley, S., & Quinn, G. P. (2014). A generation of childless women: Lessons from the United States. *Women's Health Issues*, 24(1), e21–e27.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2013.09.005

Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Croghan, C. F., Moone, R. P., & Olson, A. M. (2015). Working with LGBT baby

boomers and older adults: Factors that signal a welcoming service environment. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *58*(6), 637–651. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2015.1072759

- Crouch, S. R., McNair, R., Waters, E. B., & Power, J. (2013). What makes a same-sex parented family. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 199(2), 94–96. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja12.11234
- Crouch, S., Waters, E., McNair, R., Power, J., Davis, E., & van Mourik, L. (2014).
 Triumphs and challenges in recruiting same-sex parent families. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 38(1), 87–88.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12141
- Dahl, B., Fylkesnes, A. M., Sørlie, V., & Malterud, K. (2013). Lesbian women's experiences with healthcare providers in the birthing context: A meta-ethnography. *Midwifery*, 29(6), 674–681.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2012.06.008
- Daniluk, J. C., & Koert, E. (2013). The other side of the fertility coin: A comparison of childless men's and women's knowledge of fertility and assisted reproductive technology. *Fertility and Sterility*, 99(3), 839–846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.10.033
- Daniluk, J. C., Koert, E., & Cheung, A. (2012). Childless women's knowledge of fertility and assisted human reproduction: Identifying the gaps. *Fertility and Sterility*, 97(2), 420–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.11.046
- Dar, S., Lazer, T., Swanson, S., Silverman, J., Wasser, C., & Moskovtsev, S. I. (2015).

Assisted reproduction involving gestational surrogacy: An analysis of the medical, psychosocial and legal issues: Experience from a large surrogacy program. *Human Reproduction, 30*, 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu333

 Davies, M., Rumbold, A., & Moore, V. (2017). Assisted reproductive technologies: A hierarchy of risks for conception, pregnancy outcomes and treatment decisions. *Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease*, 8(4), 443–447. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2040174417000526

- Dean, M. A., Victor, E., & Guidry-Grimes, L. (2016). Inhospitable healthcare spaces:
 Why diversity training on LGBTQIA issues is not enough. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, *13*, 557–570. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11673-016-9738-9
- De Brucker, M., Camus, M., Haentjens, P., Francotte, J., Verheyen, G., & Tournaye, H. (2014). Cumulative delivery rates after ICSI with donor spermatozoa in different age groups. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 28(5), 599–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.01.010
- Dembinska, A. (2012). Bioethical dilemmas of assisted reproduction in the opinions of Polish women in infertility treatment: A research report. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 38(12), 731–734. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2011-100421

Denton, F. N., Rostosky, S. S., & Danner, F. (2014). Stigma-related stressors, coping self-efficacy, and physical health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals.
 Journal of Counseling Psychology, 61(3), 383. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036707

De Wert, G., Dondorp, W., Shenfield, F., Barri, P., Devroey, P., Diedrich, K., ...

Pennings, G. (2014). ESHRE Task Force on Ethics and Law 23: Medically assisted reproduction in singles, lesbian and gay couples, and transsexual people. *Human Reproduction*, 29(9), 1859–1865. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu183

Durso, L. E., & Meyer, I. H. (2013). Patterns and predictors of disclosure of sexual orientation to healthcare providers among lesbians, gay men, and bisexuals.
 Sexuality Research and Social Policy, 10(1), 35–42.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-012-0105-2

- Eggert, N., Engeli, I., Patternote, D., & Tremblay, M. (2015). Rainbow families and the state: How policies shape reproductive choices. In *The Ashgate research companion to lesbian and gay activism* (p. 323). Burlington, VT: Ashgate Publishing Company.
- Eliason, M. J. (2014). Chronic physical health problems in sexual minority women: Review of the literature. *LGBT Health*, *1*(4), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0026
- Eriksson, I., Undén, A.-L., & Elofsson, S. (2001). Self-rated health: Comparisons
 between three different measures—Results from a population study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 30(2), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.2.326

Estrich, C. G., Gratzer, B., & Hotton, A. L. (2014). Differences in sexual health, risk behaviors, and substance use among women by sexual identity: Chicago, 2009–2011. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, *41*(3), 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1097/olq.0000000000000091

Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. (2013a). Access

to fertility treatment by gays, lesbians, and unmarried persons: A committee opinion. *Fertility and Sterility*, *100*(6), 1524–1527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.08.042

Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. (2013b). Crossborder reproductive care: A committee opinion. *Fertility and Sterility*, 100(3), 645–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.02.051

- Eyler, A. E., Pang, S. C., & Clark, A. (2014). LGBT assisted reproduction: Current practice and future possibilities. *LGBT Health*, 1(3), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0045
- Ezzati, A., Jiang, J., Katz, M. J., Sliwinski, M. J., Zimmerman, M. E., & Lipton, R. B.
 (2014). Validation of the Perceived Stress Scale in a community sample of older adults. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29(6), 645–652. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4049
- Faccio, E., Iudici, A., & Cipolletta, S. (2019). To tell or not to tell? Parents' reluctance to talking about conceiving their children using medically assisted reproduction. *Sexuality and Culture*, 23(2), 525–543. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-019-09586-7
- Farrow, A. (2015). Lactation support and the LGBTQI community. *Journal of Human Lactation*, *31*(1), 26–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334414554928
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/brm.41.4.1149

- Fedewa, A. L., Black, W. W., & Ahn, S. (2015). Children and adolescents with samegender parents: A meta-analytic approach in assessing outcomes. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 11(1), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2013.869486
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics*. Thousand, Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fish, J., & Williamson, I. (2016). Exploring lesbian, gay and bisexual patients' accounts of their experiences of cancer care in the UK. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 27, e12501. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12501
- Flenar, D. J., Tucker, C. M., & Williams, J. L. (2017). Sexual minority stress, coping, and physical health indicators. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 24(3), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10880-017-9504-0
- Foglia, M. B., & Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I. (2014). Health disparities among LGBT older adults and the role of nonconscious bias. *Hastings Center Report*, 44(s4). https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.369
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). Research designs: Cross-sectional and quasi-experimental designs. In *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed., pp. 184–216). New York, NY: Worth.
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Emlet, C. A., Kim, H.-J., Muraco, A., Erosheva, E. A., Goldsen, J., & Hoy-Ellis, C. P. (2013). The physical and mental health of lesbian, gay male, and bisexual (LGB) older adults: The role of key health indicators and risk and protective factors. *The Gerontologist*, *53*(4), 664–675.

https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns123

- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Hoy-Ellis, C. P., Goldsen, J., Emlet, C. A., & Hooyman, N. R. (2014). Creating a vision for the future: Key competencies and strategies for culturally competent practice with lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) older adults in the health and human services. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *57*, 80–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2014.890690
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Kim, H. J., Barkan, S. E., Balsam, K. F., & Mincer, S. L. (2010). Disparities in health-related quality of life: A comparison of lesbians and bisexual women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(11), 2255–2261. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2009.177329
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Kim, H. J., Barkan, S. E., Muraco, A., & Hoy-Ellis, C. P. (2013). Health disparities among lesbian, gay, and bisexual older adults: Results from a population-based study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(10), 1802–1809. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2012.301110
- French, S. D., Green, S. E., O'Connor, D. A., McKenzie, J. E., Francis, J. J., Michie, S., ... Grimshaw, J. M. (2012). Developing theory-informed behaviour change interventions to implement evidence into practice: A systematic approach using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, 7(1), 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-7-38
- Friedman, M. R., Dodge, B., Schick, V., Herbenick, D., Hubach, R. D., Bowling, J., . . .
 Reece, M. (2014). From bias to bisexual health disparities: Attitudes toward bisexual men and women in the United States. *LGBT Health*, 1(4), 309–318.

https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0005

Gates, G. J. (2015). Marriage and family: LGBT individuals and same-sex couples. *Future of Children*, 25(2), 67–87. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2015.0013

Gato, J., Leal, D., & Tasker, F. (2019). Parenting desires, parenting intentions, and anticipation of stigma upon parenthood among lesbian, bisexual, and heterosexual women in Portugal. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 23(4), 451–463. https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2019.1621733

- Germanos, R., Deacon, R., & Mooney-Somers, J. (2015). The social and cultural significance of women's sexual identities should guide health promotion. *LGBT Health*, 2(2), 162–168. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0118
- Gobbi, P. E. (2013). A model of voluntary childlessness. *Journal of Population Economics*, 26(3), 963–982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-012-0457-1
- Goldbach, J. T., Tanner-Smith, E. E., Bagwell, M., & Dunlap, S. (2014). Minority stress and substance use in sexual minority adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Prevention Science*, 15(3), 350–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-013-0393-7
- Goldberg, A., & Allen, K. (2012). *LGBT-parent families: Innovations in research and implications for practice*. Retrieved from

https://dl.uswr.ac.ir/bitstream/Hannan/141136/1/9781461445555.pdf

Goldberg, A. E., Moyer, A. M., Black, K., & Henry, A. (2015). Lesbian and heterosexual adoptive mothers' experiences of relationship dissolution. *Sex Roles*, 73(3), 141– 156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-014-0432-2

Goldberg, A. E., & Scheib, J. E. (2015). Why donor insemination and not adoption?

Narratives of female-partnered and single mothers. *Family Relations*, 64(5), 726–742. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12162

- Goldberg, A. E., & Smith, J. Z. (2014). Predictors of parenting stress in lesbian, gay, and heterosexual adoptive parents during early parenthood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(2), 125. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036007
- Goldberg, S. B. (2015). Multidimensional advocacy as applied: Marriage equality and reproductive rights (Vol. 29, pp. 1–40). Columbia Journal of Gender and Law.
 Retrieved from https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/coljgl29&div=6& id=&page=
- Gordon, A. R., Krieger, N., Okechukwu, C. A., Haneuse, S., Samnaliev, M., Charlton,
 ... Austin, S. B. (2017). Decrements in health-related quality of life associated
 with gender nonconformity among US adolescents and young adults. *Quality of Life Research*, 26, 2129–2138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-017-1545-1
- Grafsky, E. L., & Steelman, S. M. (2015). LGBT-parent families: Innovations in research and implications for practice. *Journal of Family Theory and Review*, 7(2), 184– 186. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12074
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2010). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Greenfeld, D. A., & Seli, E. (2016). Same-sex reproduction: Medical treatment options and psychosocial considerations. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 28(3), 202–205. https://doi.org/10.1097/gco.00000000000266

- Gutiérrez, E., & Suárez Becerra, P. (2012). The relationship between civil unions and fertility in France: Preliminary evidence. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 10(1), 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-010-9111-4
- Hamilton, B. H., & McManus, B. (2012). The effects of insurance mandates on choices and outcomes in infertility treatment markets. *Health Economics*, 21(8), 994– 1016. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.1776
- Harper, G. W., Wade, R. M., Onyango, D. P., Abuor, P. A., Bauermeister, J. A., Odero, W. W., & Bailey, R. C. (2015). Resilience among gay/bisexual young men in Western Kenya: Psychosocial and sexual health outcomes. *AIDS*, 29(Suppl. 3), S261–269. https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000000000905
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Phelan, J. C., & Link, B. G. (2013). Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(5), 813–821. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069
- Hayman, B., Wilkes, L., Halcomb, E., & Jackson, D. (2013). Marginalised mothers:
 Lesbian women negotiating heteronormative healthcare services. *Contemporary Nurse*, 44(1), 120–127. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2013.44.1.120
- Hayman, B., Wilkes, L., Halcomb, E., & Jackson, D. (2015). Lesbian women choosing motherhood: The journey to conception. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *11*(4), 395–409. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2014.921801
- Hayman, B., Wilkes, L., Jackson, D., & Halcomb, E. (2013). De novo lesbian families:
 Legitimizing the other mother. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 9(3), 273–287.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2013.781909

Head, K. J., & Noar, S. M. (2014). Facilitating progress in health behaviour theory development and modification: The reasoned action approach as a case study. *Health Psychology Review*, 8(1), 34–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2013.778165

Henehan, D., Rothblum, E. D., Solomon, S. E., & Balsam, K. F. (2007). Social and demographic characteristics of gay, lesbian, and heterosexual adults with and without children. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 3(2–3), 35–79. https://doi.org/10.1300/J461v03n02_03

- Henry, V. L. (1993). A tale of three women: A survey of the rights and responsibilities of unmarried women who conceive by alternative insemination and a model for legislative reform. *American Journal of Medicine*, 19, 285. Retrieved from https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/amlmed19&div=1 8&id=&page=
- Herman, J. (2014). Best practices for asking questions to identify transgender and other gender minority respondents on population-based surveys. Los Angeles, CA:
 GeniUSS Group. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3qk7s1g6
- Heyes, C., Dean, M., & Goldberg, L. (2016). Queer phenomenology, sexual orientation, and health care spaces: Learning from the narratives of queer women and nurses in primary health care. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 63(2), 141–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2015.1083775
- Heyes, C. J., & Thachuk, A. (2015). Queering know-how: Clinical skill acquisition as ethical practice. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, *12*(2), 331–341.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11673-014-9566-8

- Hodson, K., Meads, C., & Bewley, S. (2017). Lesbian and bisexual women's likelihood of becoming pregnant: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *124*(3), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14449
- Homma, Y., Saewyc, E., & Zumbo, B. D. (2016). Is it getting better? An analytical method to test trends in health disparities, with tobacco use among sexual minority vs. heterosexual youth as an example. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 15, 79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0371-3
- Honjo, K. (2004). Social epidemiology: Definition, history, and research examples. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, 9(5), 193–199.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02898100
- Hosmer, D. W., & Lemeshow, S. (2005). Multiple logistic regression. In Applied logistic regression (pp. 31–46). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471722146.ch2
- Hsieh, F. (1989). Sample size tables for logistic regression. *Statistics in Medicine*, 8(7), 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4780080704

Hsieh, N., & Ruther, M. (2016). Sexual minority health and health risk factors:
Intersection effects of gender, race, and sexual identity. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 50(6), 746–755.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.11.016

Hull, K. E. (2016). Legal consciousness in marginalized groups: The case of LGBT

people. Law and Social Inquiry, 41(3), 551–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12190

- Huppelschoten, A., Van Dongen, A., Verhaak, C., Smeenk, J., Kremer, J., & Nelen, W.
 (2013). Differences in quality of life and emotional status between infertile women and their partners. *Human Reproduction*, 28, 2168–2176. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/det239
- Inhorn, M. C., & Patrizio, P. (2015). Infertility around the globe: New thinking on gender, reproductive technologies and global movements in the 21st century. *Human Reproduction Update, 21*, 411–426. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmv016
- It's Conceivable. (2017). *Insemination decision 3 ICI, IUI, or IVF*. Retrieved from http://itsconceivablenow.com/2011/06/02/insemination-decision-3-ici-iui-or-ivf/
- Johnsen, D. (2015, April 3). *State court protection of reproductive rights: The past, the perils, and the promise*. Retrieved from https://www.acslaw.org/wp-content/uploads/old-uploads/originals/documents/Johnsen-State-Court-Protections-of-Reproductive-Rights.pdf
- Johnson, K. M. (2012). Excluding lesbian and single women? An analysis of U.S. fertility clinic websites. Women's Studies International Forum, 35(5), 394–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2012.05.002
- Johnson, S. M. (2012). Lesbian mothers and their children: The third wave. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, *16*(1), 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2011.557642
- Jouannet, P., & Spira, A. (2014). Requests for assisted reproduction formulated by samesex couples consulting physicians in France (in French). *Revue d'Epidemiologie*

et de Sante Publique, 62(4), 268-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respe.2014.05.125

- Kazyak, E., Park, N., McQuillan, J., & Greil, A. L. (2016). Attitudes toward motherhood among sexual minority women in the United States. *Journal of Family Issues*, 37(13), 1771–1796. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X14554396
- Kerr, D. L., Ding, K., & Thompson, A. J. (2013). A comparison of lesbian, bisexual, and heterosexual female college undergraduate students on selected reproductive health screenings and sexual behaviors. *Women's Health Issues*, 23(6), e347–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2013.09.003
- Kim, H. J., & Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I. (2016). Disparities in mental health quality of life between Hispanic and non-Hispanic white LGB midlife and older adults and the influence of lifetime discrimination, social connectedness, socioeconomic status, and perceived stress. *Research on Aging*, *39*(9). https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027516650003
- Kissin, D. M., Boulet, S. L., Jamieson, D. J., & Assisted Reproductive Technology Surveillance Research Team. (2016). Fertility treatments in the United States: Improving access and outcomes. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *128*(2), 387–390. https://doi.org/10.1097/aog.00000000001419
- Knight, R., Shoveller, J. A., Oliffe, J. L., Gilbert, M., & Goldenberg, S. (2013).
 Heteronormativity hurts everyone: Experiences of young men and clinicians with sexually transmitted infection/HIV testing in British Columbia, Canada. *Health* (*London*), 17(5), 441–459. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459312464071

Knofczynski, G. T., & Mundfrom, D. (2008). Sample sizes when using multiple linear

regression for prediction. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 68(3), 431–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164407310131

Kosciw, J. G., Greytak, E. A., Giga, N. M., Villenas, C., & Danischewski, D. J.
(2016). *The 2015 National School Climate Survey: The experiences of lesbian,* gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer youth in our nation's schools. New York, NY: Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED574780)

Kotelchuck, M., Hoang, L., Stern, J. E., Diop, H., Belanoff, C., & Declercq, E. (2014). The MOSART database: Linking the SART CORS clinical database to the population-based Massachusetts PELL reproductive public health data system. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 18(9), 2167–2178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1465-4

Kuvalanka, K. A., Leslie, L. A., & Radina, R. (2014). Coping with sexual stigma. Journal of Adolescent Research, 29(2), 241–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558413484354

- Kuyper, L., Fernee, H., & Keuzenkamp, S. (2016). A comparative analysis of a community and general sample of lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. *Archives* of Sexual Behavior, 45(3), 683–693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0457-1
- Law, M., Mathai, A., Veinot, P., Webster, F., & Mylopoulos, M. (2015). Exploring lesbian, gay, bisexual, and queer (LGBQ) people's experiences with disclosure of sexual identity to primary care physicians: A qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice, 16*, 175. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-015-0389-4

- Lawrence, R. E., Rasinski, K. A., Yoon, J. D., & Curlin, F. A. (2010). Obstetriciangynecologists' beliefs about assisted reproductive technologies. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *116*(1), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181e2f27d
- Lee, J. H., Gamarel, K. E., Bryant, K. J., Zaller, N. D., & Operario, D. (2016).
 Discrimination, mental health, and substance use disorders among sexual minority populations. *LGBT Health*, 3(4), 258–265. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0135
- Leiblum, S. R., Palmer, M. G., & Spector, I. P. (1995). Non-traditional mothers: Single heterosexual/lesbian women and lesbian couples electing motherhood via donor insemination. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *16*(1), 11– 20. https://doi.org/10.3109/01674829509025652
- Lemoine, M.-E., & Ravitsky, V. (2013). Toward a public health approach to infertility: The ethical dimensions of infertility prevention. *Public Health Ethics*, *6*(3), 287– 301. https://doi.org/10.1093/phe/pht026
- Levitt, H. M., Puckett, J. A., Ippolito, M. R., & Horne, S. G. (2012). Sexual minority women's gender identity and expression: Challenges and supports. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 16(2), 153–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2011.605009
- Lick, D. J., Durso, L. E., & Johnson, K. L. (2013). Minority stress and physical health among sexual minorities. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(5), 521–548. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691613497965
- Lindley, L. L., Walsemann, K. M., & Carter, J. W. (2013). Invisible and at risk: STDs among young adult sexual minority women in the United States. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 45(2), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1363/4506613

- Lo, I. P., Chan, C. H., & Chan, T. H. (2016). Perceived importance of childbearing and attitudes toward assisted reproductive technology among Chinese lesbians in Hong Kong: Implications for psychological well-being. *Fertility and Sterility, 106*(5), 1221–1229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.06.042
- Logie, C. H., & Rwigema, M. J. (2014). "The normative idea of queer is a white person": Understanding perceptions of White privilege among lesbian, bisexual, and queer women of color in Toronto, Canada. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, *18*(2), 174–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/10894160.2014.849165
- Lundsberg, L. S., Pal, L., Gariepy, A. M., Xu, X., Chu, M. C., & Illuzzi, J. L. (2014).
 Knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding conception and fertility: A population-based survey among reproductive-age United States women. *Fertility and Sterility*, *101*(3), 767–774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.12.006
- Luther, B. A. (2016). *Birthing equality: A qualitative analysis of lesbian mothers*. Retrieved from

https://digitalcommons.winthrop.edu/sewsa/2016/fullschedule/165/

- Macapagal, K., Bhatia, R., & Greene, G. J. (2016). Differences in healthcare access, use, and experiences within a community sample of racially diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning emerging adults. *LGBT Health*, *3*, 434–442. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0124
- Malterud, K., Bjorkman, M., Flatval, M., Ohnstad, A., Thesen, J., & Rortveit, G. (2009). Epidemiological research on marginalized groups implies major validity challenges; lesbian health as an example. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*,

62(7), 703–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.07.017

Marina, S., Marina, D., Marina, F., Fosas, N., Galiana, N., & Jové, I. (2010). Sharing motherhood: Biological lesbian co-mothers, a new IVF indication. *Human Reproduction*, 25(4), 938–941. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deq008

Marques, A. M., Nogueira, C., & de Oliveira, J. M. (2015). Lesbians on medical encounters: Tales of heteronormativity, deception, and expectations. *Health Care* for Women International, 36(9), 988–1006.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2014.888066

- Marvel, S., Tarasoff, L. A., Epstein, R., Green, D. C., Steele, L. S., & Ross, L. (2016).
 Listening to LGBTQ people on assisted human reproduction: Access to reproductive material, services, and facilities. In T. Lemmens (Ed.), *Regulating creation: The law, ethics, and policy of assisted human reproduction* (pp. 325-358). Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.
 https://doi.org/10.3138/9781442666337-014
- Massetti, G. M., Ragan, K. R., Thomas, C. C., & Ryerson, A. B. (2015). Public health opportunities for promoting health equity in cancer prevention and control in LGBT populations. *LGBT Health*, *3*, 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0109
- Mathieu, S. (2013). Being a family today—ethics for assisted reproductive techniques (in French). *Gynecologie, Obstetrique and Fertilite, 41*(9), 532–536.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gyobfe.2013.07.014

Max, W. B., Stark, B., Sung, H.-Y., & Offen, N. (2016). Sexual identity disparities in

smoking and secondhand smoke exposure in California: 2003–2013. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(6), 1136–1142.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303071

- Mayer, K. (2014). Community health centers and translational clinical research: The Fenway health experience. https://doi.org/10.13028/qww4-p715
- McAuliffe, T. L., DiFranceisco, W., & Reed, B. R. (2007). Effects of question format and collection mode on the accuracy of retrospective surveys of health risk behavior:
 A comparison with daily sexual activity diaries. *Health Psychology*, 26(1), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.26.1.60
- McDonald, C., & Anderson, B. (2003). The view from somewhere: Locating lesbian experience in women's health. *Health Care for Women International*, 24(8), 697– 711. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330390227472
- McKelvey, M. M. (2014). The other mother: A narrative analysis of the postpartum experiences of nonbirth lesbian mothers. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *37*(2), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1097/ANS.00000000000022
- McManus, A. J., Hunter, L. P., & Renn, H. (2006). Lesbian experiences and needs during childbirth: Guidance for health care providers. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing*, 35(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2006.00008.x
- McNair, R. P. (2003). Lesbian health inequalities: A cultural minority issue for health professionals. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 178(12), 643–645. https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2003.tb05394.x

- McParland, J., & Camic, P. M. (2016). Psychosocial factors and ageing in older lesbian, gay and bisexual people: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23–24), 3415–3437. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13251
- McPhail, D., & Bombak, A. E. (2015). Fat, queer and sick? A critical analysis of "lesbian obesity" in public health discourse. *Critical Public Health*, 25(5), 539–553. https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2014.992391
- Mencarini, L., Vignoli, D., & Gottard, A. (2015). Fertility intentions and outcomes:
 Implementing the theory of planned behavior with graphical models. *Advances in Life Course Research*, 23, 14–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2014.12.004
- Meyer, I. H. (2015). Resilience in the study of minority stress and health of sexual and gender minorities. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2(3), 209. https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000132
- Mezey, N. J. (2013). How lesbians and gay men decide to become parents or remain childfree. In *LGBT-parent families* (pp. 59–70). New York, NY: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4556-2_4
- Mishra, D., Akman, I., & Mishra, A. (2014). Theory of reasoned action application for green information technology acceptance. *Computers in Human Behavior, 36*, 29–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.03.030

Mishra, S. K. (2014). An insight into access to fertility treatment by gays, lesbians, and unmarried persons: Changing nature of reproduction and family. *International Journal of Reproduction, Fertility, and Sexual Health, 1*(3), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.19070/2377-1887-140003
- Montano, D. E., & Kasprzyk, D. (2015). *Theory of reasoned action, theory of planned behavior, and the integrated behavioral model*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288927435
 Moorhead, S. A., Hazlett, D. E., Harrison, L., Carroll, J. K., Irwin, A., & Hoving, C. (2013). A new dimension of health care: Systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 15*(4), e85. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1933
- Moreau, J. (2018). Trump in transnational perspective: Insights from global LGBT politics. *Politics and Gender*, 14(4), 619–648. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X18000752
- Morin, S., Keefe, D., & Naftolin, F. (2014). The separation of sexual activity and reproduction in human social evolution. In L. Zhang & C. A. Ducsay (Eds.), *Advances in fetal and neonatal physiology: Proceedings of the Center for Perinatal Biology 40th Anniversary Symposium* (pp. 159–167). New York, NY: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1031-1_14
- Morrison, M. A., & Morrison, T. G. (2003). Development and validation of a scale measuring modern prejudice toward gay men and lesbian women. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 43(2), 15–37. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v43n02_02
- Müller, A. (2017). Sexual and gender minority individuals in health care: Strategies to include sexual orientation and gender identity in health professions education. In
 M. J. Legato (Ed.), *Principles of gender-specific medicine* (3rd ed., pp. 107–119).
 San Diego, CA: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803506-

Munshi, J. (2014). A method for constructing Likert scales. Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2419366

Munson, S., & Cook, C. (2016). Lesbian and bisexual women's sexual healthcare experiences. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23–24), 3497–3510. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13364

- Murphy, T. F. (2015). Against withdrawing government and insurance subsidies for ARTs from fertile people, with special reference to lesbian and gay individuals. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *41*(5), 388–390. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2014-102507
- Nayak, P., Salazar, L. F., Kota, K. K., & Pechacek, T. F. (2017). Prevalence of use and perceptions of risk of novel and other alternative tobacco products among sexual minority adults: Results from an online national survey, 2014–2015. *Preventive Medicine*, 104, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.05.024
- Nielsen, M. G., Ørnbøl, E., Vestergaard, M., Bech, P., Larsen, F. B., Lasgaard, M., & Christensen, K. S. (2016). The construct validity of the Perceived Stress Scale. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 84, 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.03.009
- Nordqvist, P. (2011). Choreographies of sperm donations: Dilemmas of intimacy in lesbian couple donor conception. *Social Science and Medicine*, 73(11), 1661– 1668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.09.033

Nordqvist, S., Sydsjö, G., Lampic, C., Åkerud, H., Elenis, E., & Skoog Svanberg, A.

(2014). Sexual orientation of women does not affect outcome of fertility treatment with donated sperm. *Human Reproduction*, *29*, 704–711. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/det445

- Nordstrand, S. J., Nordstrand, M. A., Nortvedt, P., & Magelssen, M. (2014). Medical students' attitudes towards conscientious objection: a survey. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 40(9), 609–612. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2013-101482
- Ombelet, W. (2014). Is global access to infertility care realistic? The Walking Egg Project. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 28(3), 267–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.11.013
- O'Neill, K. R., Hamer, H. P., & Dixon, R. (2012). "A lesbian family in a straight world": The impact of the transition to parenthood on couple relationships in planned lesbian families. *Women's Studies Journal*, 26(2), 39. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/2292/9989
- O'Neill, K. R., Hamer, H. P., & Dixon, R. (2013). Perspectives from lesbian women: Their experiences with healthcare professionals when transitioning to planned parenthood. *Diversity and Equality in Health and Care, 10*, 213–222. Retrieved from

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=ovfto&NEWS= N&AN=01212971-201310040-00002.

Pandey, S., McLernon, D. J., Scotland, G., Mollison, J., Wordsworth, S., & Bhattacharya,
S. (2014). Cost of fertility treatment and live birth outcome in women of different ages and BMI. *Human Reproduction*, 29(10), 2199–2211.

https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu184

- Parameshwaran, V., Cockbain, B. C., Hillyard, M., & Price, J. R. (2016). Is the lack of specific lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer/questioning (LGBTQ) health care education in medical school a cause for concern? Evidence from a survey of knowledge and practice among UK medical students. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 64, 367–381. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2016.1190218
- Park, N. K., Kazyak, E., & Slauson-Blevins, K. (2016). How law shapes experiences of parenthood for same-sex couples. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 12(2), 115– 137. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2015.1011818
- Patterson, C. J. (2017). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender family issues in the context of changing legal and social policy environments. In K. A. DeBord, A. R. Fischer, K. J. Bieschke, R. M. Perez, K. A. DeBord, A. R. Fischer, ... R. M. Perez (Eds.), *Handbook of sexual orientation and gender diversity in counseling and psychotherapy* (pp. 313–331). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/15959-013
- Peel, E. (2010). Pregnancy loss in lesbian and bisexual women: An online survey of experiences. *Human Reproduction*, 25(3), 721–727. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dep441
- Pennings, G. (2015). Having a child together in lesbian families: Combining gestation and genetics. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 42(4). https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2015-103007

Perone, A. K. (2015). Health implications of the Supreme Court's Obergefell vs. Hodges

marriage equality decision. *LGBT Health*, 2(3), 196–199. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0083

- Perrin, E. C., Siegel, B. S., & Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child Family Health of the American Academy of Pediatrics. (2013). Promoting the well-being of children whose parents are gay or lesbian. *Pediatrics*, 131(4), e1374–1383. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-0377
- Petersen, K. (2002). Access to artificial insemination by donor—women in lesbian relationship. Morgan v GK. [2001] QADT 10. *Journal of Law and Medicine*, 9(4), 392–395. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/article/MED/12194469
- Pivetti, M., & Melotti, G. (2013). Prenatal genetic testing: An investigation of determining factors affecting the decision-making process. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, 22(1), 76–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-012-9498-6
- Polis, C. B., & Zabin, L. S. (2012). Missed conceptions or misconceptions: Perceived infertility among unmarried young adults in the United States. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 44(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1363/4403012
- Power, J. J., Perlesz, A., Schofield, M. J., Pitts, M. K., Brown, R., McNair, R., . . .
 Bickerdike, A. (2010). Understanding resilience in same-sex parented families: The work, love, play study. *BMC Public Health*, *10*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-115
- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. (2013).
 Definitions of infertility and recurrent pregnancy loss: A committee opinion. *Fertility and Sterility*, 99(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.09.023

Pratesi, A. (2012). A respectable scandal: Same-sex parenthood, emotional dynamics, and social change. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 8(4), 305–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2012.705617

Puckett, J. A., Horne, S. G., Herbitter, C., Maroney, M. R., & Levitt, H. M. (2017).
Differences across contexts: Minority stress and interpersonal relationships for lesbian, gay, and bisexual women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 41(1), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316655964

- Quah, A. M. Y., & Röhm, U. (2013). User awareness and policy compliance of data privacy in cloud computing. Paper presented at the proceedings of the First Australasian Web Conference, Adelaide, Australia. Retrieved from https://crpit.scem.westernsydney.edu.au/confpapers/CRPITV144Quah.pdf
- Quinn, G. P., Sutton, S. K., Winfield, B., Breen, S., Canales, J., Shetty, G., . . . Schabath,
 M. B. (2015). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning (LGBTQ)
 perceptions and health care experiences. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Social Services*, 27(2), 246–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538720.2015.1022273
- Ravelingien, A., Provoost, V., Wyverkens, E., Buysse, A., De Sutter, P., & Pennings, G. (2015). Lesbian couples' views about and experiences of not being able to choose their sperm donor. *Culture, Health, and Sexuality, 17*(5), 592–606. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.979883
- Reed, S. J., Miller, R. L., Valenti, M. T., & Timm, T. M. (2011). Good gay females and babies' daddies: Black lesbian community norms and the acceptability of pregnancy. *Culture, Health, and Sexuality, 13*(7), 751–765.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2011.571291

RESOLVE New England. (n.d.). *Home page*. Retrieved from https://www.resolvenewengland.org/

Richards, M. A., Rothblum, E. D., Beauchaine, T. P., & Balsam, K. F. (2016). Adult children of same-sex and heterosexual couples: Demographic "thriving." *Journal of GLBT Family Studies, 13*, 1–15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2016.1164648

- Riskind, R. G., Patterson, C. J., & Nosek, B. A. (2013). Childless lesbian and gay adults' self-efficacy about achieving parenthood. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, 2(3), 222. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032011
- Robinson, K., Galloway, K. Y., Bewley, S., & Meads, C. (2017). Lesbian and bisexual women's gynaecological conditions: A systematic review and exploratory metaanalysis. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 124(3), 381–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14414
- Röndahl, G., Bruhner, E., & Lindhe, J. (2009). Heteronormative communication with lesbian families in antenatal care, childbirth and postnatal care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(11), 2337–2344. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05092.x
- Ross, L. E., Tarasoff, L. A., Anderson, S., Green, D., Epstein, R., Marvel, S., & Steele,
 L. S. (2014). Sexual and gender minority peoples' recommendations for assisted
 human reproduction services. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*,
 36(2), 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(15)30661-7

- Rostosky, S. S., Otis, M. D., Riggle, E. D. B., Kelly, S., & Brodnicki, C. (2008). An exploratory study of religiosity and same-sex couple relationships. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 4(1), 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504280802084407
- Rostosky, S. S., Riggle, E. D. B., Rothblum, E. D., & Balsam, K. F. (2016). Same-sex couples' decisions and experiences of marriage in the context of minority stress:
 Interviews from a population-based longitudinal study. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 63(8), 1019–1040. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2016.1191232
- Rozental, A., & Malmquist, A. (2015). Vulnerability and acceptance: Lesbian women's family-making through assisted reproduction in Swedish public health care. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 11(2), 127–150.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2014.891088
- Schneider, M.-J., & Schneider, H. S. (2016). *Introduction to public health*. Retrieved from

https://books.google.com/books?id=OEDhCwAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover&so urce=gbs_ge_summary_r&cad=0#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Schobel, J., Schickler, M., Pryss, R., Maier, F., & Reichert, M. (2014). Towards processdriven mobile data collection applications: Requirements, challenges, lessons learned. Paper presented at the Conference on Web Information Systems and Technologies (WEBIST), Barcelona, Spain. Retrieved from https://www.scitepress.org/papers/2014/49702/49702.pdf
- Schoen, R., Astone, N. M., Kim, Y. J., Nathanson, C. A., & Fields, J. M. (1999). Do fertility intentions affect fertility behavior? *Journal of Marriage and Family*,

- Schwartz, S. R., & Baral, S. (2015). Fertility-related research needs among women at the margins. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 23(45), 30–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhm.2015.06.006
- Seifer, D. B., Sharara, F. I., & Jain, T. (2013). Toward a better understanding of racial disparities in utilization and outcomes of IVF treatment in the USA. In *Ethnic differences in fertility and assisted reproduction* (pp. 239–244). New York, NY: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7548-4_19
- Sejbaek, C., Hageman, I., Pinborg, A., Hougaard, C., & Schmidt, L. (2013). Incidence of depression and influence of depression on the number of treatment cycles and births in a national cohort of 42 880 women treated with ART. *Human Reproduction*, 28(4), 1100–1109. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des442
- Shalev, S. (2016). Assisted reproduction. In *The Wiley Blackwell encyclopedia of gender* and sexuality studies (pp. 1-5). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118663219.wbegss436
- Shavers, V. L. (2007). Measurement of socioeconomic status in health disparities research. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *99*(9), 1013–1023.

Shields, L., Zappia, T., Blackwood, D., Watkins, R., Wardrop, J., & Chapman, R. (2012). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender parents seeking health care for their children: A systematic review of the literature. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 9(4), 200–209. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6787.2012.00251.x

Shindel, A. W., Rowen, T. S., Lin, T. C., Li, C. S., Robertson, P. A., & Breyer, B. N.

(2012). An Internet survey of demographic and health factors associated with risk of sexual dysfunction in women who have sex with women. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *9*(5), 1261–1271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2012.02659.x

- Simoni, J. M., Smith, L., Oost, K. M., Lehavot, K., & Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. (2017).
 Disparities in physical health conditions among lesbian and bisexual women: A systematic review of population-based studies. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 64(1), 32–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2016.1174021
- Smith, H. A., Markovic, N., Matthews, A. K., Danielson, M. E., Kalro, B. N., Youk,
 A. O., & Talbott, E. O. (2011). A comparison of polycystic ovary syndrome and related factors between lesbian and heterosexual women. *Women's Health Issues*, 21(3), 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2010.11.001
- Smith, L. (2013). Tangling the web of legal parenthood: Legal responses to the use of known donors in lesbian parenting arrangements. *Legal Studies*, 33(3), 355–381. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-121X.2012.00248.x
- Somers, S., Van Parys, H., Provoost, V., Buysse, A., Pennings, G., & De Sutter, P. (2017). How to create a family? Decision making in lesbian couples using donor sperm. *Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare*, *11*, 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2016.08.005
- Sowe, B. J., Brown, J., & Taylor, A. J. (2014). Sex and the sinner: Comparing religious and nonreligious same-sex attracted adults on internalized homonegativity and distress. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 84(5), 530–544. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000021

- Stall, R., Matthews, D. D., Friedman, M. R., Kinsky, S., Egan, J. E., Coulter, R. W. S.,
 ... Markovic, N. (2016). The continuing development of health disparities
 research on lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender individuals. *American Journal*of Public Health, 106(5), 787–789. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303183
- Statistics How To. (2018, May 11). *Regression analysis: Step by step articles, videos, simple definitions*. Retrieved from http://www.statisticshowto.com/probability-and-statistics/regression-analysis/
- Statistics Solutions. (2018, May 3). *Conduct and interpret a multinomial logistic regression*. Retrieved from http://www.statisticssolutions.com/mlr/
- Steele, L. S., Daley, A., Curling, D., Gibson, M. F., Green, D. C., Williams, C. C., & Ross, L. E. (2017). LGBT identity, untreated depression, and unmet need for mental health services by sexual minority women and trans-identified people. *Journal of Women's Health*, 26(2), 116–127.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5677

Stevenson, E. L., & Sloane, R. (2017). Certain less invasive infertility treatments associated with different levels of pregnancy-related anxiety in pregnancies conceived via in vitro fertilization. *Journal of Reproduction and Infertility, 18*(1), 190–196. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5359857/

Stone, A. L., & Weinberg, J. D. (2015). Sexualities and social movements: Three decades of sex and social change. In *Handbook of the sociology of sexualities* (pp. 453–465). New York, NY: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17341-2_25

- Stott, D. B. (2013). The training needs of general practitioners in the exploration of sexual health matters and providing sexual healthcare to lesbian, gay and bisexual patients. *Medical Teacher*, 35(9), 752–759. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159x.2013.801943
- Sunderam, S., Kissin, D. M., Crawford, S. B., Anderson, J. E., Folger, S. G., Jamieson,
 D. J., & Barfield, W. D. (2013). Assisted reproductive technology surveillance—
 United States, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance Summaries*, 62(9), 1–24. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Sunderam, S., Kissin, D. M., Crawford, S. B., Folger, S. G., Jamieson, D. J., Warner, L., & Barfield, W. D. (2015). Assisted reproductive technology surveillance—United States, 2013. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance Summaries, 64(11), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6411a1
- Suter, E. A., Kellas, J. K., Webb, S. K., & Allen, J. A. (2016). A tale of two mommies: (Re)storying family of origin narratives. *Journal of Family Communication*, 16(4), 303–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/15267431.2016.1184150
- Sutter, P., Dutré, T., Vanden Meerschaut, F., Stuyver, I., Maele, G., & Dhont, M. (2008). PCOS in lesbian and heterosexual women treated with artificial donor insemination. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1472-6483(10)60224-6
- Szymanski, D. M., & Chung, Y. B. (2001). The lesbian internalized homophobia scale: A rational/theoretical approach. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 41(2), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v41n02_03

- Tarasoff, L. A., Epstein, R., Green, D. C., Anderson, S., & Ross, L. E. (2014). Using interactive theatre to help fertility providers better understand sexual and gender minority patients. *Journal of Medical Humanities*, 40(2), 135–141. https://doi.org/10.1136/medhum-2014-010516
- Tarín, J. J., García-Pérez, M. A., & Cano, A. (2015). Deficiencies in reporting results of lesbians and gays after donor intrauterine insemination and assisted reproductive technology treatments: A review of the first emerging studies. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, *13*(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12958-015-0053-9
- Tasker, F., & Patterson, C. J. (2007). Research on gay and lesbian parenting. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *3*(2–3), 9–34. https://doi.org/10.1300/J461v03n02_02
- Thomas, S. B., Quinn, S. C., Butler, J., Fryer, C. S., & Garza, M. A. (2011). Toward a fourth generation of disparities research to achieve health equity. *Annual Review* of Public Health, 32, 399. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101136
- Tjon-Kon-Fat, R., Bensdorp, A., Bossuyt, P., Koks, C., Oosterhuis, G., Hoek, A., . . . De Bruin, J. (2015). Is IVF—served two different ways—more cost-effective than IUI with controlled ovarian hyperstimulation? *Human Reproduction*, *30*(10), 2331–2339. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev193
- Tornello, S. L., Johnson, S. M., & O'Connor, E. (2013). Relationship quality among lesbian mothers in planned families. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 9(4), 346– 363. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2013.801008

- Tracy, J. K., Lydecker, A. D., & Ireland, L. (2010). Barriers to cervical cancer screening among lesbians. *Journal of Women's Health*, 19(2), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2009.1393
- Tracy, J. K., Schluterman, N. H., & Greenberg, D. R. (2013). Understanding cervical cancer screening among lesbians: A national survey. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 442. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-442
- Utamsingh, P. D., Richman, L. S., Martin, J. L., Lattanner, M. R., & Chaikind, J. R.
 (2016). Heteronormativity and practitioner–patient interaction. *Health Communication*, *31*(5), 566–574. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2014.979975
- van Dam, M. A. (2008). A lesbian identity disclosure assessment: ALIDA instrument. Journal of Homosexuality, 55(1), 166–182.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00918360802129451

- van Dam, M. A. (2014). Associations among lesbian disclosure, social support, depression and demographic variables. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Mental Health*, 18(4), 375–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/19359705.2014.883584
- van Dam, M. A. (2015). ALIDA-II: An improved disclosure scale. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(10), 1313–1328.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2015.1060052

Vanfraussen, K., Ponjaert-Kristoffersen, I., & Brewaeys, A. (2003). Family functioning in lesbian families created by donor insemination. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 73(1), 78–90. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.73.1.78

Verbiest, S., Malin, C. K., Drummonds, M., & Kotelchuck, M. (2016). Catalyzing a

reproductive health and social justice movement. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 20(4), 741–748. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-015-1917-5

- von dem Knesebeck, O. (2015). Concepts of social epidemiology in health services research. BMC Health Services Research, 15, 357. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1020-z
- Vonk, M. (2004). One, two or three parents? Lesbian co-mothers and a known donor with "family life" under Dutch law. *International Journal of Law, Policy, and the Family, 18*(1), 103–117. https://doi.org/10.1093/lawfam/18.1.103
- Wall, M. (2011). Hearing the voices of lesbian women having children. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 7(1/2), 93–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2011.537231
- Wall, M. L. (2013). Lesbians' perceived readiness to parent. *Affilia*, 28(4), 391–400. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109913504723
- Warner, L., Jamieson, D. J., & Barfield, W. D. (2015). CDC releases a National Public Health Action Plan for the detection, prevention, and management of infertility. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(7), 548–549.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5355

- Webb, S. N., Chonody, J. M., & Kavanagh, P. S. (2016). Attitudes toward same-sex parenting: An effect of gender. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 64, 1583–1595. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2016.1247540
- Webster, C. R., & Telingator, C. J. (2016). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender families. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 63(6), 1107–1119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2016.07.010

- Wells, M. B., & Lang, S. N. (2016). Supporting same-sex mothers in the Nordic child health field: A systematic literature review and meta-synthesis of the most gender equal countries. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23–24), 3469–3483. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13340
- White, L. (2015). Exploring the "other" mother: Experiences of the non-biological mothers of lesbian couples throughout the pregnancy process in central Ohio.
 Columbus, OH: Ohio State University. Retrieved from https://kb.osu.edu/bitstream/handle/1811/69039/LindsayWhitethesis.pdf?sequenc e=1
- Winslow, C.-E. (1926). Public health at the crossroads. *American Journal of Public Health*, *16*(11), 1075–1085. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.16.11.1075-a
- Wiser, A., Gonen, O., Ghetler, Y., Shavit, T., Berkovitz, A., & Shulman, A. (2012).
 Monitoring stimulated cycles during in vitro fertilization treatment with ultrasound only: Preliminary results. *Gynecological Endocrinology*, 28(6), 429–431. https://doi.org/10.3109/09513590.2011.633666
- Wojnar, D. (2007). Miscarriage experiences of lesbian couples. *Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health*, 52(5), 479–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmwh.2007.03.015
- Wojnar, D. M., & Katzenmeyer, A. (2014). Experiences of preconception, pregnancy, and new motherhood for lesbian nonbiological mothers. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing, 43*(1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/1552-6909.12270
- Wolff, M., Wells, B., Ventura-DiPersia, C., Renson, A., & Grov, C. (2017). Measuring

sexual orientation: A review and critique of U.S. data collection efforts and implications for health policy. *Journal of Sex Research*, *54*(4–5), 507–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2016.1255872

- Wu, A., Elliott, P., Katz, P., & Smith, J. (2013). Time costs of fertility care: The hidden hardship of building a family. *Fertility and Sterility*, 99(7), 2025–2030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.01.145
- Wu, A. K., Odisho, A. Y., Washington Iii, S. L., Katz, P. P., & Smith, J. F. (2014). Outof-pocket fertility patient expense: Data from a multicenter prospective infertility cohort. *Journal of Urology*, *191*(2), 427–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2013.08.083
- Wu, H. Y., Monseur, B. C., Yin, O., Selter, J. H., Lau, B. D., & Christianson, M. S. (2016). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT) content on reproductive endocrinology and infertility clinic websites. *Fertility and Sterility*, *106*(3, Suppl.), e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.07.1041
- Wykes, K. A. (2012). Fertility services for same-sex couples: Policy and practice. British Journal of Nursing, 21(14), 871–875.

https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2012.21.14.871

Wyverkens, E., Provoost, V., Ravelingien, A., De Sutter, P., Pennings, G., & Buysse, A. (2014). Beyond sperm cells: A qualitative study on constructed meanings of the sperm donor in lesbian families. *Human Reproduction*, 29(6), 1248–1254. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu060

Yager, C., Brennan, D., Steele, L. S., Epstein, R., & Ross, L. E. (2010). Challenges and

mental health experiences of lesbian and bisexual women who are trying to conceive. *Health and Social Work*, *35*(3), 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/35.3.191

Ybarra, M. L., Mitchell, K. J., Palmer, N. A., & Reisner, S. L. (2015). Online social support as a buffer against online and offline peer and sexual victimization among US LGBT and non-LGBT youth. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *39*, 123–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.08.006

Ybarra, M. L., Rosario, M., Saewyc, E., & Goodenow, C. (2016). Sexual behaviors and partner characteristics by sexual identity among adolescent girls. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 58(3), 310–316.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.11.001

- Yeshua, A., Lee, J. A., Witkin, G., & Copperman, A. B. (2015). Female couples undergoing IVF with partner eggs (co-IVF): Pathways to parenthood. *LGBT Health*, 2(2), 135–139. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0126
- Záchia, S., Knauth, D., Goldim, J. R., Chachamovich, J. R., Chachamovich, E., Paz,
 A. H., . . . Passos, E. P. (2011). Assisted reproduction: What factors interfere in the professional's decisions? Are single women an issue? *BMC Women's Health*, *11*, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6874-11-21
- Zaiontz, C. (2018, May 11). *Real statistics using Excel*. Retrieved from http://www.real-statistics.com
- Zajacova, A., & Todd, M. (2015). *Sex differences in validity of self-rated health: A Bayesian approach.* Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Population

Association of America, Washington, DC. Retrieved from

https://paa.confex.com/paa/2016/mediafile/ExtendedAbstract/Paper7501/SRH-interval and the second s

THRESHOLDS-09-25-15(2).pdf.

Zeiler, K., & Malmquist, A. (2014). Lesbian shared biological motherhood: The ethics of IVF with reception of oocytes from partner. *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy, 17*(3), 347–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-013-9538-5 Appendix A: Demographics, Insured Status, and Parenting Decision

Questions 2 through 8, inclusive, were from the U. S. Demographics – Snapshot Template available for free on Survey Monkey. The survey included new Questions 1 and Questions 9 through 11 added for this study. Those marked with an asterisk (*) required responses to proceed.

***Q1.** For the purposes of this research, please select which of the following you most identify with

- 0 = Lesbian
- 1 = Nonlesbian

Q2. In what state or U.S. territory do you live? (Coded numerically in alphabetical order, blank = ExUS or missing)

(Dropdown list)

*Q3. Which category below includes your age?

1 = 18-20 2 = 21-29 3 = 30-39 4 = 40-49 5 = 50-596 = 60 or older

Q4. What is the highest level of school you have completed or the highest degree you have received?

- 0 = Less than high school degree
- 1 = High school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED)
- 2 = Some college but no degree
- 3 = Associate degree
- 4 = Bachelor degree
- 5 =Graduate degree

Q5. Which of the following categories best describes your employment status?

- 0 = Employed, working 40 or more hours per week
- 1 = Employed, working 1-39 hours per week
- 2 =Not employed, looking for work
- 3 = Not employed, NOT looking for work
- 4 = Retired
- 5 = Disabled, not able to work

Q6. How much total combined money did all members of your HOUSEHOLD earn last year?

- 1 = \$0 to \$9,999
- 2 = \$10,000 to \$24,999
- 3 = \$25,000 to \$49,999
- 4 = \$50,000 to \$74,999
- 5 = \$75,000 to \$99,999
- 6 = \$100,000 to \$124,999
- 7 = \$125,000 to \$149,999
- 8 = \$150,000 to \$174,999
- 9 = \$175,000 to \$199,999
- 10 = \$200,000 and up
- 11 = Prefer not to answer

Q7. Are you White, Black or African-American, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific islander, or some other race?

- 1 = White
- 2 = Black or African-American
- 3 = American Indian or Alaskan Native
- 4 = Asian
- 5 = Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander
- 6 = From multiple races

151

99 = Other (Latina)

Q8. Are you Mexican, Mexican-American, Chicano, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Cuban-American, or some other Spanish, Hispanic, or Latino group?

- 1 = I am not Spanish, Hispanic, or Latino
- 2 = Mexican
- 3 = Mexican-American
- 4 = Chicano
- 5 = Puerto Rican
- 6 = Cuban
- 7 = Cuban-American
- 8 = Some other Spanish, Hispanic, or Latino group
- 9 = From multiple Spanish, Hispanic, or Latino groups

*Q9. Are you a parent (bio, co, step, adoptive, foster, etc.)?

0 = No

1 = Yes

*Q10. Thinking about parenthood, fertility, infertility, or any type of assisted reproduction, which category best describes you/your experience?

1 = I have no plan/desire to be a parent

2 = I have no experience with fertility, infertility or any type of assisted reproduction

3 = I have experience with fertility, infertility, or some type of assisted reproduction

*Q11. Which category best describes your health insurance status, in particular as it relates to coverage for fertility, infertility, and/or some form of assisted reproduction?

1 = I do not have health insurance coverage

2 = I have health insurance but fertility/infertility treatment is not covered (all costs are out of pocket)

3 = I have health insurance, but there are limits for fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage (lifetime dollar limits, procedure restrictions, etc.)

4 = I have health insurance and have maxed out (used up) all of my fertility/infertility coverage

5 = I have health insurance but do not know about fertility/infertility or reproductive coverage

Appendix B: Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-14)

Cohen, Kamarck, and Mermelstein (1983) first described the PSS-14. The PSS is a measure of stress in examining associations with disease, including anxiety, depression, and mental health. Responses: 0 = never, 1 = almost never, 2 = sometimes, 3 = fairly often, 4 = very often. Items 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13 are reverse scored. I emailed the author for permission to use the PSS on June 11, 2018, and received permission the same day.

> From: Sheldon Cohen **Cohen Cohen** > Sent: Monday, June 11, 2018 4:46 PM To: Annette Silvia Subject: RE: Permission to use PSS-14 in doctoral research study

Annette, You are welcome to use the PSS for your dissertation. Best of luck. SC

From: Annette Silvia Sent: Monday, June 11, 2018 4:19 PM To: Sheldon Cohen Subject: Permission to use PSS-14 in doctoral research study

Hello Dr COhen,

I am writing to request permission to use the Perceived Stress Scale in my doctoral research. The proposed title is "Socioeconomic and Sociocultural Factors Associated with Parenting Choice and Fertility Experience Among Lesbians Compared With Non-Lesbian Women". Thank you in advance, and please let me know if you would like any additional information. Best, Annette Silvia Appendix C: Fertility Quality of Life (FertiQoL International) Questionnaire

FertiQoL is free to use on the provision that the sponsors are acknowledged in any publication (Boivin et al., 2011). I received permission to use the FertiQoL on June 20, 2018.

From: Annette Silvia

Sent: Sunday, April 29, 2018 1:15 AM

To:

Cc: Annette Silvia

Subject: Permission request to use FertiQol for my dissertation research

Hello,

I am a doctoral student at Walden University preparing for my oral proposal defense, and just realizing I had not formally requested permission to use this tool in my study. I see online that the authors must be credited and the tool, under terms and conditions, is available for use. Please consider this my formal request.

My proposed research is to determine which if any socioeconomic and sociocultural factors, controlling for sexual orientation, are associated with parenting decision and assisted reproduction experience. I would be happy to provide any additional details if needed.

Many thanks,

Annette Silvia

From: Annette Silvia

Sent: Wednesday, May 2, 2018 12:16 PM

To:

Subject: Re: Requesting permission to use FertiQol for my dissertation research

Hello,

Appreciate confirmation, or if there are additional questions or information required?

Thank you,

Annette Silvia

From: Annette Silvia

Date: Tuesday, 15 May 2018 19:36

To:

Subject: Re: 3rd attempt Requesting permission to use FertiQol for my dissertation

research

Hello,

Per the guidance provided on your web site I am requesting permission for use of the

FertiQoL in my doctoral research study.

Happy to provide additional details if needed.

Thank you,

Annette Silvia

From: Fertiqol Studies

Sent: Wednesday, June 20, 2018 2:10:23 PM

To: Annette Silvia

Subject: Re: 3rd attempt Requesting permission to use FertiQol for my dissertation research

Dear Annette,

Yes please do use the FertiQoL tool according to the terms of reference taking note of the

terms of reference shown here: http://sites.cardiff.ac.uk/fertiqol/download/

Thanks, Jacky

Appendix D: A Lesbian Identity Disclosure Assessment (ALIDA)

The use of the ALIDA-II survey is encouraged, and permission was granted by Dr. Mary Ann van Dam via personal email correspondence (23 June 2017).

From: Mary Ann A Van Dam

Sent: Friday, June 23, 2017 2:03:45 AM

To: Annette Silvia

Cc: Elaine Musselman

Subject: Re: Request for use of the ALIDA-II

Hello Annette,

I am in Nairobi right now and I may lose a connection at anytime so my answer will be brief. Please us it! I want it to be used but could you please tell me about your results and how they worked for you and if it was published. The full instrument is in the publication in the Journal of Homosexuality and it also describes how to come to a score. If you have trouble with it, I will be back in about 3 weeks. Let me know how it works for you. I didn't want to have propriety over it because the phenomenon of disclosure needs to be studied from many angles and I did not want any hindrance to its use. Thanks for asking. Mary Ann

Sent from my iPhone

Dr. M. A. van Dam RN, Ph.D, PNP

On Jun 23, 2017, at 11:16 PM, Annette Silvia wrote:

Thank you so much Dr. van Dam! I would be glad to share my work with you . . . I may reach out again as I progress closer to initiation- I imagine there will be more questions! I hope your trip is enjoyable and wish you safe travels. Nairobi must be an interesting experience.

Best,

Annette